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Characteristics of GEM of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (The “Stock Exchange”)
B G RZHIA R AW ([B22H] ) GEM Wik

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to
accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which a
higher investment risk may be attached than other companies
listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective investors should
be aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies
and should make the decision to invest only after due and
careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small
and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities traded
on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility
than securities traded on the Main Board and no assurance is
given that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded
on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock
Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this report, make
no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly
disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from
or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this
report.

This report, for which the directors (the ‘“Directors”) of RMH Holdings
Limited (the “Company’, together with its subsidiaries, the “Group’)
collectively and individually accept full responsibility, includes
particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”)
for the purpose of giving information with regard to the Company.
The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to
the best of their knowleage and belief, the information contained in
this report is accurate and complete in all material respects and not
misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission
of which would make any statement herein or this report misleading.
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Chairman’s Statement

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of Directors, | would like to present
to you the annual report of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2023.

REVIEW

The Group is mainly engaged in three types of business, 1) providing
dermatology aesthetic and treatment services, 2) providing dental
care and dental implantation services, and 3) trading health and health
products and nutritional supplements. Due to the occurrence of liquidation
and judicial management to the Group’s Singapore subsidiaries during
2022, the nature of the Group’s main business changed significantly
in 2022. The core business of the Group has changed from providing
dermatology aesthetic and treatment services to providing dental care
and dental implant services and trading business.

The Company’s core business operations will shift to dental implant
services. To this end, the Company has developed a two-year business
development plan and operational objectives in 2022. As set out in
the 2023 annual report, the revenue of dental services amounted to
approximately $$2,039,000, representing an increase of approximately
S$1,124,000 or 122.8% as compared to the Group’s revenue of
approximately S$915,000 for the year ended 31 December 2022, which
accounted for approximately 64.1% of total revenue.

OUTLOOK

The Company will continue to adjust its human resources allocation
and improve its corporate governance, including but not limited to, (1)
strengthen the management restructure by supplementing appropriate
personnel into the Board and management to meet the Company’s
requirements for its business transformation and development plan;
(2) review and improve the corporate governance, including further
improvement in internal control systems, more compliance training,
and introduction of compliance checks and supervision measures; and
(8) integrate existing resources to develop dermatology aesthetic and
treatment services in Hong Kong to reactivate the dermatology aesthetic
and treatment services business.
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Chairman’s Statement

The Company will focus its resources on developing its core business
operations, and has identified the mainland China and Hong Kong as its
primary business area, with dental services focused on dental implant
and the dermatology aesthetic and treatment services business as our
core business operations in the future. In line with the development
plans and business objectives formulated for the next two years, the
Company will concentrate its available internal and external resources
on this core business operation. The Company considers that the
experience gained from exploring dental services in the past and the
data derived from the rapidly expanding business outlets indicate the
feasibility and effectiveness of its existing business model. The vast
population base and aging phenomenon in mainland China provide the
Company with tremendous market potential for its development plan. The
Company believes that its business objectives are achievable due to the
correctness of its new strategic transformation, and the pragmatism in its
development plan and blueprint. Meanwhile, the Company will integrate
existing resources, manage the dermatology aesthetic and treatment
services subsidiaries under the Company, and develop the dermatology
aesthetic and treatment services market in Hong Kong. The Company
believes that based on past experience, the Company can better develop
the dermatology aesthetic and treatment services business.

We will proactively and properly address debt issues and other issues
historically left unresolved. As the relevant Singaporean subsidiaries,
which were originally the major business entities of the Company,
gradually entered bankruptcy proceedings and judicial management, the
business and assets of the said subsidiaries should be stripped from
the Company and its financial statements, resulting in their increasingly
noticeable claims for debts against the various related companies retained
by the Group. The Company will remain in a positive position to exercise
caution in our negotiations and consultations with the creditors, to
safeguard the Company'’s rights and interests to the fullest extent, and to
minimize the impact of existing debts on the Company’s current business
operations. In addition, the Company will consider streamlining existing
non-core businesses and assets, so as to reduce the consumption or
erosion by unproductive assets and businesses of our existing resources,
while striving to improve the efficiency of asset utilization and reduce our
operating costs. These efforts aim to create the greatest value for the
Company and its shareholders.
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Chairman’s Statement

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | wish to take this opportunity to express my
sincere gratitude to all of our shareholders, customers and business
partners for their continuous support. | would also like to express my
heartfelt appreciation to our management and professional colleagues for
their cohesive teamwork and valuable contribution to the Group.

Mr. Poon Chun Yin
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 9 April 2024
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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BUSINESS OVERVIEW

The Company is an investment company and the Group is principally
engaged in () healthcare service business in Singapore (discontinued
due to liquidation of the Singapore subsidiaries of the Company and
deconsolidation of the Singapore subsidiaries of the Company in
November 2022); (i) the provision of dental implant and oral healthcare-
related medical services and sales of related products through its
subsidiaries in the People’s Republic of China (the “Dental Business”);
and (i) trading of healthcare and wellness products and nutritional
supplements in Hong Kong (the “Trading Business”).

BUSINESS OUTLOOK

Following the entering into of the Shareholders’ Agreement and the
consolidation of QR Medical (as discussed in the section headed “Events
after the Reporting Period”, the Company will focus its resources on
developing its core business operations, being clinical healthcare and
dermatological services and dental services. The Group has identified the
mainland China and Hong Kong as its primary business area. In line with
the development plans and business objectives formulated for the next
two years, the Company will concentrate its available internal and external
resources on this core business operation. The Company considers that
the experience gained from exploring dental services in the past and
the data derived from the rapidly expanding business outlets indicate
the feasibility and effectiveness of its existing business model. The vast
population base and aging phenomenon in mainland China provide the
Company with tremendous market potential for its development plan. The
Company believes that its business objectives are achievable due to the
correctness of its new strategic transformation, and the pragmatism in its
development plan and blueprint. Meanwhile, the Company will integrate
existing resources, manage the dermatology aesthetic and treatment
services subsidiaries under the Company, and develop the dermatology
aesthetic and treatment services market in Hong Kong. The Company
believes that based on past experience, the Company can better develop
the dermatology aesthetic and treatment services business.

The Company will actively concentrate major resources to support and
promote the continuous development of dental services and expand
into the market of dermatology aesthetic and treatment services in Hong
Kong under practicable conditions, and strive to complete the Company’s
established business development plan and operational objectives.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

As of 31 December 2023, the trading amount of healthcare products,
nutritional supplements, and other related aesthetics products amounted
to approximately S$1,141,000, representing a decrease of approximately
5$2,185,000 or 65.7% as compared to the Group’s revenue of
approximately $$3,326,000 for the year ended 31 December 2022.

The Dental Business also witnessed rapid growth during the year. The
Company commenced this new business at the beginning of 2022 by
registering an operating company (“‘Operating Company”) in Zhongshan,
Guangdong Province, which commenced business operations with
operating income generated in June 2022. For the year ended 31
December 2023, the Operating Company engaged in the new dental
implant business achieved sales of S$2,039,000, representing an
increase of approximately S$1,124,000 or 122.8% as compared to the
Group’s revenue of approximately S$915,000 for the year ended 31
December 2022.

Other operating income

Other operating income for the year ended 31 December 2023
was approximately S$361,000, which represented an increase of
approximately $$43,000 as compared to the other operating income of
approximately S$318,000 for the year ended 31 December 2022. The
increase was mainly attributable to the gain other rental income of the
Group.

Consumables and medical supplies used

Our consumables and medical supplies used for the years ended 31
December 2023 and 2022 amounted to approximately S$1,133,000
and S$3,534,000, representing approximately 36% and 83% of the total
revenue, respectively.

Cost of consumables and medical supplies used decreased by
approximately S$2,401,000 or 68%, from approximately S$3,534,000 for
the year ended 31 December 2022 to approximately S$1,133,000 for the
year ended 31 December 2023. The decrease was primarily attributable
to the decrease of the trading sales during the year ended 31 December
2023.
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Employee benefits expense

A )

,‘ Qf“

BEEMNAX

2023 2022
20234 20224

S$’000 S$'000
T & 03K T THT I T

Director’s remunerations EEaai| 921 1,644
Other staff costs: H 8 TR :

— Salaries, bonus and other benefits — ¥ LA N EMER 1,420 1,419
— Contributions to retirement benefits scheme — IR FIET SR 22 25
— Share-based payment — RT3 - 133
Employee benefits expense EERAMAZ 2,363 3,221

Employee benefits expense relate to Directors’ remuneration, salaries,
bonus and other benefits for other professional staff such as trained
therapists, clinic executives and other administrative staff, contributions
to retirement benefits scheme. The decrease was largely attributable to
decrease in staff headcounts during the year ended 31 December 2023.

Our total staff count for employees (including part time staff), as at the
end of the respective financial years is as follow:

Total staff count ETHH
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DAFe

BMREVBREFEANEES (BERBREL)N
BTHAHMT:

2023 2022
2023%F 20224
32 50

Depreciation of plant and equipment

Depreciation is calculated over the depreciable amount, which is the
cost of an asset, or other amount substituted for cost, less its residual
value. Depreciation is recognised on a straight-line basis over the
estimated useful lives of each part of an item of plant and equipment. Our
depreciation expenses primarily comprised:

(@) professional equipment, mainly our medical equipment;
(o) computer and office equipment at our various premises used for
our operations; and

() leasehold improvements in relation to the leased premises for our
operations.
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Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed, and
adjusted as appropriate at the end of the reporting period. Our medical
equipment and office equipment are generally depreciated over three
to five years, which we considered as reasonable for the useful lives
for assets of such nature. The increase in the depreciation of plant and
equipment of approximately S$11,000 for the year ended 31 December
2023 was mainly attributable to the additional of plant and equipment
during the year.

Depreciation of right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter period of lease term
and useful life of the underlying asset. If a lease transfers ownership of
the underlying asset or the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that
the group expects to exercise a purchase option, the related right-of-
use asset is depreciated over the useful life of the underlying asset. The
depreciation starts at the commencement date of the lease.

Other operating expenses

The Group’s other operating expenses comprised rental and property
upkeep, administrative fees, professional and consulting fees, net foreign
currency exchange (gain)/loss and other expenses.

The other operating expenses for the year ended 31 December 2023
decreased by approximately S$301,000 or 14% from approximately
S$2,170,000 for the year ended 31 December 2022 to approximately
S$$1,869,000 for the year ended 31 December 2023.

Finance costs

Finance costs for the year ended 31 December 2023 was approximately
S$$55,000, which represented a decrease of approximately S$163,000 as
compared to the finance costs of approximately S$218,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2022. The decrease was mainly attributable to the
decrease in interest expenses on short-term loans during the year ended
31 December 2023.

Loss for the year from continuing operations

Loss for the year from continuing operations was approximately
S$$6,853,000 for the year ended 31 December 2023 (for the year ended
31 December 2022: loss of approximately S$13,127,000). The decrease
of loss was mainly due to the decrease in expenses during the year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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Consolidated statement of financial position of the
Company

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had net liabilities of approximately
S$$12,519,000 (31 December 2022: approximately S$6,296,000). The
increase in net liabilities was mainly resulted from the decreased in assets
by the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023.

DIVIDENDS

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2023 (31 December 2022: Nil).

CAPITAL STRUCTURE, LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL
RESOURCES

The capital of the Group only comprises ordinary shares.

As at 31 December 2023, the total deficit of the Group was approximately
S$$12,519,000 (2022: approximately S$6,296,000). The Group generally
financed its operation with internally generated cash flows. The Group
had bank balances and cash of approximately S$306,000 as at 31
December 2023 (2022: approximately S$512,000). As at 31 December
2023, the Group had net current liabilities of approximately S$12,102,000
(2022: approximately S$6,765,000).

As at 31 December 2023, the capital structure of the Group consisted of
deficit attributable to owners of the Company of approximately S$12.4
million.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had no significant investments in
equity securities of companies listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

MAJOR ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL OF
SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT
VENTURES

There were no material acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries,
associates or joint ventures of the Group during the year ended 31
December 2023.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

o PR W i L T

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The Group operate mainly in Singapore, the PRC and Hong Kong with
most of the transactions settled in Singapore dollars, Renminbi and Hong
Kong dollars respectively. Our management considers that the business
is not exposed to any significant foreign exchange risk as there are no
significant financial assets or liabilities of our Group denominated in
currencies other than the respective functional currencies of our operating
entities. We did not hedge against any fluctuation in foreign currency
during the historical record period.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS
AND CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed above, the Group does not have other plans for
material investments and capital assets.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had no capital commitment.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2023, the Group did not have material contingent
liabilities.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2023, our Group had a total of 32 employees
(including part time staff) (2022: 50). Staff costs, including Directors’
remuneration, of our Group were approximately S$2,363,000 for the
year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: approximately S$3,221,000).
Remuneration is determined with reference to factors such as
comparable market salaries and work performance, time commitment
and responsibilities of each individual. Employees are provided with
relevant inhouse and/or external training from time to time. In addition to
a basic salary, year-end discretionary bonuses are offered to employees
who performed outstandingly to attract and retain eligible employees to
contribute to our Group.

CHARGES ON THE GROUP’S ASSETS

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, there were no charges on the
Group’s assets.
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Report of the Directors
HEFHRE

The Directors are pleased to present their report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2023.

CORPORATE INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated and registered as an exempted company
in the Cayman Islands with limited liability under Cayman Companies Law
on 22 March 2017. The shares of the Company (the “Shares”) have been
listed on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) since 13 October 2017.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Particulars
of principal subsidiaries of the Company are set out in note 34 to the
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023. The Group
is mainly engaged in three types of business, 1) providing dermatology
aesthetic and treatment services, 2) providing dental care and dental
implantation services, and 3) trading health and health products and
nutritional supplements. Due to the occurrence of liquidation and judicial
management to the Group’s Singapore subsidiaries during 2022, the
nature of the Group’s main business changed significantly in the fourth
quarter of past year. The core business of the Group has changed from
providing dermatology aesthetic and treatment services to providing
dental care and dental implant services and trading business.

Details of the business review for the year ended 31 December 2023,
including a fair review of the Group’s business, principal risks and
uncertainties faced by the Group and an indication of likely future
developments in the Group’s business are set out in the Chairman’s
statement and Management Discussion and Analysis on pages 4 to 12 of
this report.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Dividend Distribution Policy of the Company establishes the principles
to ascertain amounts that can be distributed to the Shareholders as
dividend by the Company. Subject to the applicable law and its Articles
of Association, the Company’s dividend payout will be determined based
on available financial resources, investment requirements and taking into
account optimal shareholders return.
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Report of the Directors
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While determining the nature and quantum of dividend payout, the Board
would take into account the following factors, inter alia:

° Cash flow position of the Company

° Earnings stability

° Long term investments

° Future cash requirements for development
° Economic environment

° Industry outlook for the future years

° Changes in the Government policies, industry specific rulings &
regulatory provisions

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The financial performance of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2023 and the financial position of the Group as at that date are set out in
the consolidated financial statements on pages 101 to 199 of this report.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2023.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group is committed to the long-term sustainability of the environment
and communities in which it engages. The Group strives to improve
the efficient use of the natural resources, including electricity, water and
paper. The Group aims to develop energy saving culture. The Group has
complied with all relevant laws and regulations regarding environmental
protection, health and safety, workplace conditions and employment.

Details regarding to the Group’s environmental, social and governance
report can be found in the Environmental, Social and Governance Report
set out on pages 48 to 96 of this report.
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Report of the Directors
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COMPLIANCE WITH THE LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Group recognises the importance of compliance with regulatory
requirements and the risks of non-compliance with the applicable laws
and regulations. During the year ended 31 December 2023 and up to
the date of this report, the Group has complied in material respects with
the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
business and operation of the Group. There was no material breach or
non-compliance with the applicable laws and regulations by the Group
for the year ended 31 December 2023 and up to the date of this report.

RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES, CLIENTS,
SUPPLIERS AND OTHER STAKEHOLDERS

The Group understands the success of the Group’s business depends
on the support from its key stakeholders, including employees, clients,
suppliers, banks, regulators and the Shareholders. During the year ended
31 December 2023, there were no material and significant disputes
between the Group and its key stakeholders. The Group will continue to
ensure effective communication and maintain good relationship with each
of its key stakeholders.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last four years is set out on page 200 of this report. The
summary does not form part of the audited financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year are set out in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on page 101
to 102 of this report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the share capital of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2023 are set out in note 29 to the consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2023.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2023, in the opinion of the Directors, no reserves
of the Company available for distribution to shareholders under the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands.
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BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

As at 31 December 2023, the Group other borrowings amounting to
approximately S$0.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the articles of
association of the Company (the “Articles of Association”) or the laws of
the Cayman Islands that would oblige the Company to offer new Shares
on a pro rata basis to existing Shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s shares during the year ended 31
December 2023.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year ended 31 December 2023 were rights to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures
of the Company granted to any Directors or their respective spouses
or children under 18 years of age, or were any such rights exercised by
them, or was the Company, its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries
and fellow subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors
to acquire such rights in any other body corporate.
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Report of the Directors
HEFHRE

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year ended 31 December 2023 and up to the
date of this report were as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Poon Chun Yin (Chairman) (appointed on 21 February 2024)

Mr. Yang Zhangxin
(re-designated as Executive Director on 31 January 2023 and
resigned on 28 February 2024)

Mr. Cui Han (appointed on 21 February 2023)

Mr. Loke Wai Ming (appointed on 21 February 2024)

Mr. He Weiqing (resigned on 21 February 2023)

Mr. Lee Chung Shun (Deputy Chairman)

Dr. Loh Teck Hiong (removed on 11 May 2023)

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Yang Zhangxin (re-designated as Executive Director
on 31 January 2023 and resigned on 28 February 2024)
Mr. Loke Wai Ming (removed on 9 October 2023)
Mr. Luo Honghui (resigned on 9 October 2023)
Ms. Li Yin Fai (resigned on 17 November 2023)
Mr. Liu Fei @ppointed on 31 January 2023 and resigned on
4 December 2023)
Mr. Chau Wing Nam (@ppointed on 21 March 2024)
Mr. Young Pok Man Peason (@ppointed on 21 March 2024)
Mr. Cheung Tsu Lun (appointed on 21 March 2024)
Ms. Chong Wai Shan (appointed on 27 March 2024)

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, Mr. Poon Chun Yin, Mr. Lee
Chung Shun, Mr. Loke Wai Ming, Mr. Chau Wing Nam, Mr. Young Pok
Man Peason, Mr. Cheung Tsu Lun and Ms. Chong Wai Shan will retire
and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

Each independent non-executive Director has given the Company an
annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM
Listing Rules. The Company considers that all the independent non-
executive Directors are independent and meet the independent guidelines
of Rules 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.

X

HZE2022F12A3 B L FERBEEARELR
RESZWT

HiTEE
EBERERE (£/F) (R2024%F2H21 HEZT)
BESLE
(R2023F 1 H31 HEFITBHTEF
FER20244F2 F 28 H EFE)

B LA (R2023F2H21 A EZ(T)

B (@ B 455 A4 (202442 521 H EZE L)

A& S (202342 721 H BHE)
EREuE (BIEE)

Loh Teck Hiong%& 4 ( K2023%5 /511 H # FEE )

BUINTESE
BB EEE (R20234F 131 HEFFE A
#1778 F I R20244F2 F 28 BHE)
BEE R A (R2023F10H9H % EEE )
BSR4 (R2023F10H9H BT )
ZINE L+ (2023411517 H BFF)
BIFR S (202341731 AHEZE (T )
2023412 54 H BF(F)
BSER St (202443521 H#EZE(E)
BB (R2024F3H21 HEZ(T)
RIT4R A (R202443 521 HEZE(T)
HEM At (R2024F3H27 HEZE(F)

RBABERAR BERELRE FTRELE
ERALLE BREMELE BRXELE RTW
FEENEEMZ LR BRRBSE RS RE LF
BERKBENEERRBFAGERET-

BIMER

SR IENTES SR IEGEM L TR A 55.09
BN FEBY MRS ARRARBBEE L
EMITEEHABIAL W AGEM TR A
5.0 B 455 -

20234 BEH o PRITHE A PR 2 W] 17



Report of the Directors
HEFHRE

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service agreement
with the Company for an initial term of three (3) years commencing from
the date of the Listing and continuing thereafter until terminated by either
party by giving not less than three months’ notice in writing to the other.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into a letter
of appointment with our Company. Each letter of appointment is for an
initial term of one year unless terminated by either party giving at least
one month’s notice in writing.

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the AGM has a service
contract with the Company which is not determinable within one year
without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Directors’ fees are subject to Shareholders’ approval at general
meetings. Other emoluments are determined by the Board with reference
to Directors’ duties, responsibilities and performance and the results of
the Group.

We have established a remuneration committee of the Company (the
“Remuneration Committee”) in compliance with the GEM Listing Rules.
The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to review and
make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration policy and
other remuneration related matters, including benefits in kind and other
compensation payable to the Directors and senior management, after
consultation with the chairman and/or chief executive officer.

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the five highest paid
individuals of the Group are set out in note 9 to the consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2023.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

There were no transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance to
the business of the Group to which the Company, its holding Company,
or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a director of the
Company or his connected entities had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during
the year ended 31 December 2023.

18 RMH HOLDINGS LIMITED ¢ Annual Report 2023

EERBEL
ERTERCEARRITUREELN B LHH
HEF N RP=QFEREMN IR/
ATNLR=EARAEENABHS 7 -

EBUFNTEZCEARRILZEE - B0
ZEEVNIRB-—FEEEFN—FHTHLED—
EAEEBARERL-

BEHANBERBFASEREENEFTELR
AR AR —FRBAXNEE CEERER
SN EVER T AR LB BRTE & 4 -

ESHHMH
EFHNSARRAAGHESRIME - Lo ]S
AHESEESREFIRG BERRENA
EEEEMETE -

BAPIERIBGEM L1 AR RIBY AR TE PR S AN 2 R #r
MEEe(FHEZEE]) FHEEEMER
BB REFAIRER RITHRBER - w FH M
BERMEMHFH I AN EE (BRERNEERS
RERBNEDRNLREMEN XREES
R

EERAEBARESFTALIOHHFBIHR
H E2023F12A31B L FEE A T REM 7T
90

EERENNES

RE E2023F12A31B L FE AL FREM
NE AARESEEE TR EE R BE
RARAE - HIER AR S AT RIM B AR
HAEBEBKBEANR S THEREHNTHE
B o



Report of the Directors
HEFHRE

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts, other than employment contracts, concerning the
management and administration of the whole and any part of the
Company’s business were entered into or existed during the year ended
31 December 2023.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

Other than payments to the Central Provident Fund in Singapore and
a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme in Hong Kong, the Group has
not operated any other retirement benefit schemes for its employees.
Particulars of the retirement benefit schemes are set out in note 31 to the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

A permitted indemnity provision for the benefit of the Directors is currently
in force and was in force during the year ended 31 December 2023. The
Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover for Directors’
and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against its Directors and
senior management arising out of corporate activities.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY
OR ITS ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2023, the interests and short positions of our
Directors and chief executive of our Company in the Shares, underlying
Shares and debentures of our Company or its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(the “SFQ”)) which, once the Shares are listed on the Stock Exchange,
will have to be notified to our Company and the Stock Exchange under
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short
positions which they are taken or deemed to have under such provisions
of the SFO) or which will be required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO,
to be entered in the register as referred to therein, or pursuant to Rules
5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules relating to securities transactions
by our Directors to be notified to our Company and the Stock Exchange,
were as follows:

Long positions in ordinary shares of the Company

Nature of interest

EEME

Name of Director

EBEHA

LLee Chung Shun Beneficial owner
TR ERBEEA
Note:

1. On 12 January 2023, 6,000,000 shares were allotted and issued to Mr. Lee
Chung Shun pursuant to full exercise of the share options granted to him
under the Share Option Scheme.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, none of the Directors
and chief executive of the Company had any interests or short positions
in any Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the Company or any
of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant
to Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to the required standard of dealings by
directors of listed issuers as referred to in Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM
Listing Rules.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2023, the following persons, not being a Director
or chief executive of our Company, had an interest or short position
in the Shares and underlying Shares of our Company which would fall
to be disclosed to our Company under the provisions of Divisions 2
and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register of
the Company required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO (the
“Substantial Shareholders’ Register”), or, who is interested, directly or
indirectly, in 5% or more of the nominal value of any class of share capital
carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of any
member of our Group:

Long positions in ordinary shares of the Company

Name of Shareholder

Capacity/nature of interest

A
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510 EamitE

Loh Teck Hiong
Loh Teck Hiong

Interest in controlled corporation (Note 1)

REH AR (HaE1)

Beneficial owner

EmEAA

Brisk Success
Brisk Success

Ms. Fung Yuen Yee
Fung Yuen YeeZz =

Interest of spouse (Note 2)
BBz (A772)

Mr. Li Mingcheng
Li Mingcheng5t 4

Interest in controlled corporation (Note 3)
XGRS (H773)
Beneficiary owner (Note 3)

BESHEBA (Hi23)

HK MZ Health Investment
Management Group Limited

EERRERREER
SEEBERRQA

Beneficiary owner (Note 3)

EmEAA (B:73)

Number of Approximate % of

shares interested shareholding
BEEENROEE BAREED L
210,024,000 15.77
210,024,000 15.77
210,024,000 15.77
132,968,000 9.98
696,000 0.05

132,968,000 9.98
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Notes:

M These 210,024,000 shares are held by Brisk Success. Dr. Loh Teck Hiong
holds 70% equity interests in Brisk Success and under the SFO, Dr. Loh
Teck Hiong is deemed to be interested in the 210,024,000 Shares held by
Brisk Success.

2) Ms. Fung Yuen Yee, being the spouse of Dr. Loh, is deemed to be interested
in all the Shares in which Dr. Loh is interested pursuant to the SFO.

) The entire issued shares of HK MZ Health Investment Management Group
Limited is beneficially owned by Mr. Li Mingcheng. Accordingly, Mr. Li
Mingcheng is deemed to be interested in 132,968,000 Shares held by HK
MZ Health Investment Management Group Limited by virtue of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, the Directors were
not aware of any persons who/entities which had any interest or short
position in the Shares or underlying Shares that would fall to be disclosed
to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of
the SFO, or which would be recorded in the Substantial Shareholders’
Register required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO.

COMPETING INTERESTS

During the period under review, none of the Directors or the controlling
Shareholders or their respective associates (as defined in the GEM
Listing Rules) of the Company had any interests in any businesses which
competed with or might compete with the business of the Group.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”) on 22 September 2017 (the “Adoption Date”). The terms of the
Share Option Scheme are in accordance with the provisions of Chapter
17 of the Listing Rules. The following is a summary of the principal terms
of the Share Option Scheme:

(@) Purpose of the share option scheme

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to provide an incentive
or a reward to eligible persons for their contribution to the Group
and/or to enable the Group to recruit and retain high-calibre
employees and attract human resources that are valuable to the
Group or any entity in which the Group holds any equity interest
(“Invested Entity”).
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(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Participants of the share option scheme

The basis of eligibility of any participant to the grant of any option
shall be determined by the Board (or as the case may be, including,
where required under the GEM Listing Rules, employees (full-
time and part-time), directors, consultants, advisers, distributors,
contractors, suppliers, agents, customers, business partners or
service providers of our Group) from time to time on the basis
of the participant’s contribution or potential contribution to the
development and growth of our Group.

Total number of shares available for issue
under the share option scheme

Under the Share Option Scheme, the total number of Shares which
may be allotted and issued upon exercise of all share options to
be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other share
option scheme of the Company must not in aggregate exceed 10%
of all the Shares in issue as at the Listing Date unless the Company
obtains a fresh approval from the Shareholders.

As at the date of this report, the outstanding number of share
options available for grant under the Share Option Scheme is nil.

Maximum entitlement of each participant
under the share option scheme

The maximum number of shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of options granted under the Scheme and any other
share option scheme of the Company to each participant in any
12-month period up to the date of grant shall not exceed 1% of
the total shares of the Company in issue.

The period within which the shares must be
taken up under an option

The period during which an option may be exercised is determined
by the Board at its discretion, save that such period shall not be
longer than 10 years from the date of grant.
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() The minimum period for which an option must
be held before it can be exercised

As determined by the Board upon the grant of an option.

(9) The amount payable on acceptance of an
option and the period within which payments
shall be made

An offer for the grant of options must be accepted within seven
days inclusive of the day on which such offer was made. The
amount payable by the grantee of an option to our Company on
acceptance of the offer for the grant of an option is HK$1.00.

(h) The basis of determining the exercise price

The subscription price of a Share in respect of any particular option
granted under the Share Option Scheme shall be a price solely
determined by the Board and notified to a participant and shall be
at least the higher of: (i) the closing price of the Shares as stated
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of
grant of the option, which must be a business day; (i) the average
closing prices of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheets for the five business days immediately preceding
the date of grant of the option; and (jii) the nominal value of a Share
on the date of grant of the option, provided that in the event of
fractional prices, the subscription price per Share shall be rounded
upwards to the nearest whole cent.

(i) The remaining life of the share option scheme

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the
Share Option Scheme at any time during a period as the Board
may determine which shall not exceed 10 years from the date of
grant subject to the provisions of early termination thereof.

On 29 September 2022, a total of 60,000,000 shares options were
granted to ten Directors of the Company and eligible participants. The
options were granted at a cash consideration of HK$1.00 per grantee
and entitled the grantees to subscribe for ordinary shares at an exercise
price of HK$0.109 per share. The options are exercisable during the
period from 29 September 2022 to 28 September 2032.
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Details of share options granted under the scheme are as follows:

REBF SR ONBREFBLT

Number of Share Options

BREHE
Exercise Vesting  Exercisable As at As at
Name of grantee  Grant Date Price Period Period 31/12/2023 Granted Exercised Lapsed Cancelled  31/12/2023
20235 120236
ARARE BB fTEE BEH § 12A31H B&H 27t BAH B 12A31A
HK$
BT
He Weiging 29.09.2022 0.109 Nil - 29.09.2022 to 6,000,000 - 6,000,000 - - -
28.09.2032
s 202259A29H 0.109 & 2020F9A29BF
2032479 A28H
Lee Chung Shun 29.09.2022 0.109 Nil - 29.09.2022 to 6,000,000 - 6,000,000 - - -
28.09.2032
FRR 20229 H29H 0.109 B 2022F9A29EF
203249 A28H
Employees 29.09.2022 0.109 Nil - 29.09.2022 to 18,000,000 - 6,000,000 - - 12,000,000
28.09.2032
EE 202297290 0.109 & 2022F9R20H%
203249 A28H
Total
@t 30,000,000 - 18,000,000 - - 12,000,000

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CODE OF CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE

A full corporate governance report is set out on pages 32 to 47 of this
report.

COMPLIANCE OF NON-COMPETITION
UNDERTAKING

As disclosed in the Prospectus pursuant to the non-competition
undertakings set out in the deed of non-competition dated 22 September
2017, Brisk Success and Dr. Loh, collectively the then controlling
Shareholders upon Listing, have undertaken to the Company (for itself
and on behalf of its subsidiaries) that, amongst other things, are not or
will not, and will procure each of their close associates not to, directly
or indirectly, carry on, participate in, be engaged, interested directly or
indirectly, either for their own account or in conjunction with or on behalf
of or for any other person in any business in competition with or similar
to or is likely to be in competition with the business of the Group upon
the Listing of the Company. Particulars of which are set out in the section
headed “Relationship with Controlling Shareholders - Independence
from Controlling Shareholders — Non-Competition Undertaking” of the
Prospectus.
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The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the
implementation of the deed of non-competition and are of the view that
Brisk Success and Dr. Loh had complied with their undertakings given
under the deed of non-competition for the year ended 31 December
2028.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The forthcoming annual general mesting of the Company (the “AGM”) will
be held at Portion 2, 12/F., The Center, 99 Queen’s Road Central, Hong
Kong on Monday, 17 June 2024 at 10:00 a.m.. A notice of which shall be
sent to the Shareholders in accordance with the Articles, the GEM Listing
Rules and other applicable laws and regulations.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the forthcoming
AGM, the register of members of the Company will be closed from
Wednesday, 12 June 2024 to Monday, 17 June 2024, both dates
inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares can be registered.
In order to be eligible to attend and vote at the AGM, all transfers
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the
Company’s branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor
Investor Services Limited, at 17/F., Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt
Road, Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, 11
June 2024.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

No equity-linked agreements were entered into during the year ended 31
December 2022 or subsisted as at 31 December 2023.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the Company’s total
issued share capital was held by the public as at the latest practicable
date prior to the issue of this report.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group had no
transactions which need to be disclosed as connected transactions in
accordance with the requirements of the GEM Listing Rules.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Details of events after the reporting period are set out in note 40 to this
report.
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AUDITOR

CL Partners CPA Limited was appointed as the auditor of the Company
on 21 December 2022.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2023 have been audited by CL Partners CPA Limited, who will retire and
being eligible, offer itself for re-appointment at the forthcoming AGM.

On Behalf of the Board

RMH Holdings Limited
Mr. Poon Chun Yin
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong
9 April 2024
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Poon Chun Yin (&£ Z) (“Mr. Poon”), aged 43, obtained a
bachelor’s degree in business administration from the University of
London. He has extensive experience in medical and education fields. He
founded an education centre, a medical clinic and a Chinese medicine
clinic in Hong Kong. He is currently serving as a director of Universe
Optical Company Limited and several primary and secondary schools
in Hong Kong. Mr. Poon is also committed to community work. He is
the president of Tsuen Wan Lions Club and the vice chairman of Yan Oi
Tong Limited. He was awarded the chief executive’s community service
certificate in 2023. He has been the executive director of China e-Wallet
Payment Group Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 802) since 31 January 2024.

Mr. Cui Han (£8) (“Mr. Cui”), aged 42, graduated from South China
University of Technology of China* (# BIZEEg3E T K& ) with Bachelor
Degree of Electronic Technology and Application* ( & F 13 fii7 £2 fi& Ff 22
L+ E7)in July 2004. He has extensive experience in pharmaceutical
manufacturing, pharmaceutical commercial distribution and retail, and
centralized procurement of government pharmaceuticals. He also has
extensive experience in equity investment, asset restructuring, and
intelligent manufacturing. From June 2017 to December 2022, Mr. Cui
Han served as an executive of Hydoo international Holdings Limited
(currently known as Guangdong-Hong Kong Greater Bay Area Holdings
Limited) (stock code: 1396). From June 2010 to October 2016, he served
as assistant to the president and deputy general manager of Shenzhen
Neptunus Group Limited. He is currently the vice president of Hong Kong
Federation of Jiangxi Associations.

Mr. Lee Chung Shun (Z R %) (“Mr. Lee”), aged 47, obtained a
Bachelor Degree of Science with Honours in Accounting from The
University of Hull in September 2014. Mr. Lee has extensive experience
in corporate, financial and assets management. He held senior position
in a number of public and holding companies in Hong Kong. He is
currently the chief financial officer of the Company, mainly responsible
for accounting and financial management of the Company. He was
appointed as an executive director and Chief Executive Officer of Amars
Asia Limited from March 2000 to January 2003. He was appointed
as Chief Financial Officer of King of Catering (Holdings) Limited from
February 2007 to November 2010. He was appointed as Chief Executive
Officer of Hong Kong Pacific Network Limited from May 2013 to January
2016. He was appointed as an Executive Director of 1 Creation Limited
from May 2015 to August 2017. He was appointed as Chief Executive
Officer of 1 Creation Limited from March 2014 to December 2021. He
held senior management positions at Bar Pacific Group Holdings Limited
(Stock Code: 8432) from February 2016 to June 2018. He was appointed
as Chief Financial Officer of K Wealth Hong Kong Limited from January
2022 to April 2022.
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Mr. Loke Wai Ming (f£{Z85) (“Mr. Loke”), aged 51, obtained a
bachelor’s degree in Accountancy from Nanyang Technological University
in 1996 and obtained a master’s degree of Business Administration
from Goizueta Business School, Emory University in 2002. Mr. Loke has
over 2 decades of experience in commercial banking, capital markets
and investment banking, institutional broking and direct investment
businesses. He is currently an accountant, a registered license holder,
licensed to carry out Type 6 (advising on corporate finance) regulated
activities under the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the
Laws of Hong Kong) and a managing director of Titan Financial Services
Limited since January 2020.

Mr. Loke served as an investment banking professional at multiple
international investment banks in Hong Kong, including an assistant vice
president in corporate banking of Overseas Union Bank from June 1996
to February 2000, an associate in finance institutions department of J.P.
Morgan Securities Hong Kong Limited from August 2002 to January
2004, a vice president of Merrill Lynch (Asia Pacific) Limited from March
2004 to April 2007, a senior vice president in Macquarie Securities
Limited from July 2007 to February 2009, an executive director of Daiwa
Capital Markets Hong Kong Limited from July 2009 to November 2011,
a managing director in investment banking divisions of Chief Securities
Limited and a chief executive officer and managing director of Chief
(Cambodia) Specialized Bank from November 2012 to April 2014, a
general manager and board director of Anbang Asset Management (Hong
Kong) Co. Limited from April 2014 to March 2015, a managing director of
Ceneric Asia Limited, which is a subsidiary of Ceneric Holdings Limited,
a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code:
542) from April 2015 to March 2017, a managing director in corporate
finance department of China Everbright Securities International Limited
from March 2017 to October 2017 and a chief executive officer of RHB
Hong Kong Limited from November 2017 to March 2019. He served
as an independent non-executive Director from May 2021 to November
2023.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chau Wing Nam (/@5E#) ("Mr. Chau”), aged 36, has 5 years
of experience in handling initial public offering projects including both
the main board and GEM. In addition, he had more than 6 years of
experience in providing auditing, assurance and business advisory
services. Additionally, he is familiar with Hong Kong accounting standards,
taxation, financial reporting, cash flow forecast and budgeting and listing
rules and compliance regulations.

Mr. Chau has also been directors of several Hong Kong listed companies.
He has been an independent non-executive director of K Group Holdings
Limited (Stock Code: 8475) since 6 June 2022. He has been an
independent non-executive director of Mobile Internet (China) Holdings
Company (Stock Code: 1439) since 10 February 2023. He has been
an independent non-executive director of China Bozza Development
Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 1069) since 14 August 2023.

Mr. Chau obtained a bachelor degree in accounting & accounting
technologies from Curtin University of Technology in 2010. He was
admitted as a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accounts in 2017. He is also a member of The Association of Hong Kong
Accountants.

Mr. Yeung Pok Man Peason (#1832) (“Mr. Yeung”), aged 47,
has over 20 years of experience in financial planning and investment
consulting. From July 2001 to December 2002, Mr. Yeung has served as
the vice president in Fuji Hong Kong Commodities Co. Ltd. From January
2003 to May 2005, Mr. Yeung has served as a financial planning manager
in DHTEEB AR AR (Lexton Limited®). From July 2005 to June
2007, he has served as a sales director in Centaline Wealth Management
Limited. From June 2007 to September 2009, he has served as a
principal consultant in Cinda Investment Consultant Limited, Hong Kong.
From as well as a marketing director in Cinda Wealth Management
Advisor Limited, Hong Kong at the same time. Since September
2009, he has been working as a general manager in Centaline Wealth
Management Limited (Beijing). He is also one of the founders of Global K
Infuse Limited.

Mr. Yeung obtained double bachelor degrees in business administration
and information system management from University of Washington,
Seattle, WA in June 2001. He has also obtained a master's degree in
business administration from Royal Roads University Canada in 2017.
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Biographies of the Directors and Senior Management

HEREHEHAN B JE R

Mr. Cheung Tsu Lun ((R{F#) (“Mr. Cheung”), aged 42, has over
15 years of experience in finance. From July 2007 to October 2009,
He has served as a financial consultant in Convoy Financial Services
Limited. From November 2009 to June 2012, he has served as a financial
planning manager in Bank of China. From September 2012 to July 2017,
he has served as a financial plan manager in Ftlife Insurance Company
Limited. From June 2016 to July 2017, he has served as a director in
Panamax AG. From July 2017 to January 2020, he has served as an
executive director in Global Strategic Group Limited.

Mr. Cheung obtained a bachelor of accounting and finance from Deakin
University in 2007.

Ms. Chong Wai Shan (#ZEH) (“Ms. Chong”), aged 37, holds a
bachelor’s degree in business administration with a focus on accountancy
from the City University of Hong Kong and is a member (Practising) of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

Ms. Chong has a wealth of experience and knowledge in
financial markets, corporate and management accounting,
mergers and acquisitions, investments, internal control, corporate
governance, regulatory compliance, and auditing. Prior to joining
the Group, she worked in the audit and assurance department of
PricewaterhouseCoopers Hong Kong and Ernst & Young, providing
professional accounting, auditing, advisory, and consulting services to
listed companies, multinational corporations, as well as international asset
management, securities firms, and investment banks. Ms. Chong also
held positions as an investment manager in a Hong Kong listed company
and as the managing director and chief executive officer of a Fintech
startup in Hong Kong. Most recently, she served as the representative
and license holder of a moneylending company in Hong Kong. She has
also been appointed as the CFO, company secretary and authorised
representatives (under both the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the Stock Exchange and under Part 16 of the Companies Ordinance
(Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong)) of Jiyi Holdings Limited (Stock
Code: 1495) from 29 December 2023.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Man Yun Wah (3B %) (“Mr. Man”), aged 41, was appointed as
the company secretary of the Company on 11 March 2024. He holds
a bachelor’s degree in business administration and management and a
master's degree in corporate governance. He is currently an associate
member of both The Chartered Governance Institute and The Hong
Kong Chartered Governance Institute. Mr. Man has extensive working
experience in the company secretarial profession.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board recognises the importance of achieving the highest standard
of corporate governance consistent with the needs and requirements
of its businesses and the best interest of all of its stakeholders and is
fully committed to doing so. The board believes that high standards of
corporate governance provide a framework and solid foundation for the
Group to manage business risks, enhance transparency, achieve high
standard of accountability and protect stakeholders’ interests. Therefore,
the Board has reviewed and will continue to review and improve the
Company’s corporate governance practices from time to time.

The Company has adopted the principles and the code provisions set
out in the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in
Appendix C1 to the GEM Listing Rules as its own code of corporate
governance. Save as disclosed below, the Company had complied with
all the applicable code provisions of the CG Code during year ended 31
December 2023. Despite the first quarterly results announcement and first
quarterly report of the Company for the three months ended 31 March
2023 and the third quarterly results announcement and third quarterly
report of the Company for the nine months ended 30 September 2023
(collectively, the “Respective Financial Periods”) indicated that the
Company had complied with all the applicable code provisions of the
CG Code during the Respective Financial Periods, the disclosure of
deviations below-mentioned applied to the Respective Financial Periods (if
applicable).

According to code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of chairman
and chief executive officer should be separated and should not be
performed by the same individual. During the period from 7 September
2022 to 31 January 2023, Mr. He Weiging was acting as the chairman,
executive Director and chief executive officer of the Company. During that
time, the Board considers that this structure will not impair the balance
of power and authority between the Board and the management of the
Company as independent non-executive directors form the majority of
the Board, with four out of seven of the Directors being independent
non-executive Directors. The Board believes that the appointment of Mr.
He to the post of chairman is beneficial to the Company as vesting the
roles of both chairman and chief executive officer in the same person
can facilitate execution of the Company’s business strategies and boost
effectiveness of its operation. On 31 January 2023, Mr. Yang Zhangxin
was re-designated from an independent non-executive Director to an
executive Director and has been appointed as the chairman of the Board.
Since then, the roles of chairman and chief executive officer of the Group
have been separated in accordance with code provision C.2.1 of the CG
Code.

In respect of code provision A.1.1 and A.1.2, the Board has not formally
defined, established relevant policy nor practice aligning a corporate
culture with the Company’s purpose, values and strategy.
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In respect of code provision C.3.1 and C.3.2, the Company has not
effectively formal schedule of matters specifically reserved for board
approval and has not established mechanism to require management to
report back certain important delegated duties and results to the Board.

In respect of code provision C.5.5, for a material time in 2023, the
Company has not established an effective mechanism to ensure draft and
final versions of minutes are sent to all directors for their comment and
records respectively, within a reasonable time after the board meeting is
held.

In respect of code provision C.5.8 and C.5.10, for a material time in 2023,
the Company has not established an effective mechanism to ensure
agenda, accompanying board papers and related materials in sufficient
quality of regular board meeting are sent, in full, to all directors and at
least 3 days before the intended date of a board or board committee
meeting.

In respect of code provision D.1.1 and D.1.2, the Management of the
Company has not prepared and provided all members of the board with
monthly updates giving a balanced and understandable assessment of
the issuer’s performance, position and prospects in sufficient detail.

In respect of code provision D.2.6 and D.2.7, the Company has not
established a formal anti-corruption policy and whistle blower system
during 2023.

The Board is of the view that the non-compliance is mainly due
to the diverse view among Directors that in turn lead to ineffective
implementation of necessary risk management and internal control
system, including those relating to corporate governance codes and ESG
risks.

The Board has designed and implemented new and revised measures
in early 2024 in relation to the above, and ensure the Company is in
compliance with the CG code. Such result will be disclosed in the
upcoming interim report.

COMPLIANCE OF CODE OF CONDUCT FOR
DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by directors on terms no less exacting than the required
standard of dealings set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing
Rules. Having made specific enquiry of all the Directors, all Directors
confirmed that they have complied with the required standard of dealings
and the code of conduct regarding securities transactions by directors
adopted by the Company throughout the year ended 31 December 2023.

BT AMEXCI1MC32M s AR RREAX
WA HEFRBLESSHIENFIHM ERE
ME R AEVHNEREEERESSER
RUESEMNEEBRENER-

BLSFAIEXC.5.5MM T @ E2023F K — R E B 55
M ARAR BRI BRI BREES
CEEZAMEMNAERMNAN BeRLHNER
MEBERRA D BB R GFTAES  HaPIFm A
FoE% e

Bt SF AKX C.5.8MC.5.101M 5 * £20234 H) —
BEZREN ARENEERM A BAES - A
BRTHESSIINERE BEHNESS U
MEBAMENEER AR TEESSREEE
EgeRMET AR ZL3RBRETIAES -

BT REXDAAMDALT T AR FEEER
EEBUYRNESSHEKERESANEHE
BT AMEE IR AT RIED RAFA
B S 18 A0 AT IR AR ) 5T A o

5T AME X D.2.6F1D.2.71 & * AN A Al E20234F
RBREBRVYEANREREBRMBRRE -

ExeRR TAaRNIZRAREEZMER
AN T R B2 Y [ TR AN N BRI B
BAERIANER BREMEEIATRIFESG
[E\B A R R At o

BRSO B R R2024F ¥ R At N E i #
I FMERT M FE IE - AR R AR R BT EE AT
Bl- B RBREBEMGOPHRERNEE-

BIESETEFXBZTRERN

ARBIERNEBERETESFRHZTAS
B B N GEM E TR B 54816 E 5
S67TIEFTHRER LA ER KREEESE
HEBEHE 2REFHER BEREZE2023
F12AEFEEERBAMEETRERZED
MAERRRMNEHEETETESFRINT AT
Aye

20234 BEH o PRITHE A PR 2 W] 33



Corporate Governance Report
e SRR

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Board Composition

As at the date of this report, the Board comprised five Directors, of which
two are executive Directors and three are independent non-executive
Directors. The composition of the Board during the year ended 31
December 2023 and up to the date of this report was:

Executive Directors

Mr. Poon Chun Yin (Chairman) (appointed on 21 February 2024)

Mr. Yang Zhangxin
(re-designated as Executive Director on 31 January 2023 and
resigned on 28 February 2024)

Mr. Cui Han (appointed on 21 February 2023)

Mr. Loke Wai Ming (appointed on 21 February 2024)

Mr. He Weiqing (resigned on 21 February 2023)

Mr. Lee Chung Shun (Deputy Chairman)

Dr. Loh Teck Hiong (removed on 11 May 2023)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Yang Zhangxin (re-designated as Executive Director
on 31 January 2023)

Mr. Loke Wai Ming (removed on 9 October 2023)

Mr. Luo Honghui (resigned on 9 October 2023)

Ms. Li Yin Fai (resigned on 17 November 2023)

Mr. Liu Fei @ppointed on 31 January 2023 and resigned on
4 December 2023)

Mr. Chau Wing Nam (appointed on 21 March 2024)

Mr. Young Pok Man Peason (appointed on 21 March 2024)

Mr. Cheung Tsu Lun (appointed on 21 March 2024)

Ms. Chong Wai Shan (appointed on 27 March 2024)

During the year ended 31 December 2023, save as disclosed under the
section headed “Corporate Governance Practices” above, the Board had
complied with the requirements of the GEM Listing Rules to have at least
three independent non-executive Directors who represent more than one-
third of the Board and with at least one of whom possesses appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial management
expertise pursuant to Rule 5.05 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE BOARD

The Board is responsible for the overall management of the Group by
providing leadership and managing control of the resource allocation
and is collectively responsible for promoting the success of the Group
by directing and supervising the Group’s affairs. The Board focuses on
formulating the Group’s overall strategies, authorising the development
plan and budget; monitoring financial and operating performance;
reviewing the effectiveness of the internal control system; supervising
and managing management’s performance of the Group; and setting the
Group’s values and standards.

The management team is delegated with the authority and responsibility
by the Board for the daily management of the Group. The delegated
functions and work tasks are periodically reviewed. Major corporate
matters that are specifically delegated by the Board to the management
include (1) the preparation of quarterly, interim and annual reports
and announcements for the Board’s approval before publishing; (2)
implementation of adequate systems of internal controls and risk
management procedures; and (3) compliance with relevant statutory and
regulatory requirements and rules and regulations.

The independent non-executive Directors bring a wide range of business
and financial expertise, experience and independent judgement to
the Board, on issues of strategic direction, policies, development,
performance and risk management. Through active participation in
Board meetings, taking the lead in managing issues involving potential
conflict of interests and serving on Board committees, they scrutinise the
Company’s performance in achieving corporate goals and objectives and
monitor performance reporting. By doing so, they are able to contribute
positively to the Company’s strategy and policies through independent,
constructive and informed comments at Board and committee meetings.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance coverage for Directors’
liabilities in respect of legal actions against them for corporate activities.

BOARD/BOARD COMMITTEE MEETINGS

The Board regularly meets in person or through other electronic means
of communication to discuss amongst other matters, the direction and
strategy of the Group, financial and operating performance and to review
and approve the Group’s quarterly, interim and annual results.
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In respect of regular board meetings, and so far as practicable in all other
cases, an agenda and accompanying board papers are sent in full to all
Directors at least 3 days before the intended date of a board or board
committee meeting to enable the Directors to make informed decisions.
The Board and each Director have separate and independent access to
the senior management whenever necessary. Upon reasonable request,
the Directors are allowed to seek independent professional advice in
appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expense, to assist the
Director to discharge his/her duties to the Company.

The company secretary of the Company (the “Company Secretary”) takes
detailed minutes of the meetings and keeps records of matters discussed
and decisions resolved at the meetings, including any concerns raised
or dissenting views expressed by Directors, and the voting results of
Board meetings fairly reflect Board consensus. Both draft and final
versions of the minutes are sent to all Directors for their comments and
records respectively, within a reasonable time after each meeting, and
such minutes are open for inspection with reasonable advance notice by
any Director. Directors are entitled to have access to board papers and
related materials, and any queries will be responded to fully.

Directors must abstain from voting and not be counted in the quorum
at meetings for approving transactions in which such Directors or any of
their associates have a material interest.

Executive Directors yiTEE

Mr. Yang Zhangxin BEBNE (Ro005%1H31H5IEA
(re-designated as executive diector on 31 January 2023) HITEE)

M. Cul Han (aopointed on 21 February 2023) ERLE (Ro023F2/521HEZ )

Mr. Lee Chung Shun FRREE

M. Loh Teck Hiong (ceased on 11 May 2023) Loh Teck Hong%t £ (7202345 511H

wER)

M. He Weiding (resigned on 21 February 2023) WEBRE (Ro00sE2521AEHE)

Independent Non-Executive Directors BUFHTES

M. Liu Fei (agpointed on 31 January 2023 and BIMEE (RO023F1 531 AEZMLR
resigned on 4 December 2023) F023%12F4A81)

THEBLL (KR003511 F17AFE)
BRI (FO0035 11 FIARER)
BUGEE (RO003EI0FIRESE)

Ms. Li Yin Fai fresigned on 17 November 2023)
Mr. Loke Wai Ming (ceased on 9 November 2023)
Mr. Luo Honghui resigned on 9 October 2023)
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APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

Newly appointed Director will be arranged a comprehensive, formal and
tailored induction which includes provision of key guidelines, documents
and publications relevant to their roles, responsibilities and ongoing
obligations; a briefing on the Company’s structure, businesses, risk
management and other governance practices and meeting with other
fellow Directors so as to help the newly appointed Directors familiarize
with the management, business and governance policies and practices of
the Company, and ensure that they have a proper understanding of the
operations and businesses of the Company.

The executive Directors have entered into service contracts with the
Company for an initial term of three (3) years commencing from the date
of Listing and continuing thereafter until terminated by either party with a
not less than three months’ notice in writing.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into a
letter of appointment with the Company. Each appointment is for the
term of one to three year(s) subject to subject to termination in certain
circumstances as stipulated in the relevant letters of appointment.

Pursuant to the Articles of Association of the Company, at each annual
general meeting one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their
number is not three or a multiple of three, then the number nearest to but
not less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided that
every Director shall be subject to retirement at an annual general meeting
at least once every three years. A retiring Director shall be eligible for re-
election.

DIRECTORS’ CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

Directors are aware of code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code regarding
continuing professional development programme for Directors. The
Company would arrange and/or introduce suitable training and
information for the Directors to ensure they are fully aware of their
responsibilities under statute and common law, the GEM Listing Rules
and other applicable legal and regulatory requirements. During the year
ended 31 December 2023, the Company had arranged a seminar on
the GEM Listing Rules, the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Chapter
622 of the Laws of Hong Kong, the “Companies Ordinance”) and the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) for the Directors. All Directors attended the seminar.
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The training record of each Director as at 31 December 2023 is set out
as below.

BITES

Executive Directors
Mr. Yang Zhangxin (re-designated as executive director

R2023F 128310 KEEMFIIESOT -

Attending seminar or
briefings/perusal of
materials in relation

to business or

Directors’ duties
HEBBHELR
EERENHETER
EHN g S

BEHELA (R2023F1H31H

on 31 January 2023) TR TEE) Yes 52
Mr. Cui Han BERELE Yes 2
Mr. Lee Chung Shun TRIEFRE Yes 72
Independent non-executive Directors BYkHTES
Mr. Yang Zhangxin (re-designated as executive director 15 E & e 4 (202341 H31H

on 31 January 2023) TR TEE) Yes 52
Mr. Loke Wai Ming @R A Yes /&
Mr. Luo Honghui BAOEEE Yes 2
Ms. Li Yin Fai B L Yes &
Mr. Liu Fei ZIR &S Yes &
Directors’ and Officers’ Liabilities EEREABENER

The Company has in place appropriate insurance coverage on Directors’
and officers’ liabilities in respect of any legal actions taken against
Directors and senior management arising out of corporate activities. The
insurance coverage is reviewed on an annual basis by the Company.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The board is supported by three Board committees to oversee specific
aspects of the Company’s affairs. The audit committee of the Company
(the “Audit Committee”), the Remuneration Committee and the
nomination committee of the Company (the “Nomination Committee”)
each has its defined scope of duties and terms of reference. The Board
committees are provided sufficient resources and are empowered
to make decisions/recommendations within their respective terms of
reference to the Board.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Group established the Audit Committee on 22 September 2017
with written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 5.28 of the GEM
Listing Rules and code provision C.3 of the CG Code. As at the date
of this report, the Audit Committee consists of three independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Chau Wing Nam, Mr. Yeung Pok Man
Peason and Mr. Cheung Tsu Lun, our independent non-executive Director
with the appropriate professional qualifications, serves as the chairlady of
the Audit Committee.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review and supervise
the financial reporting process and internal control system of the
Company, make recommendations to the Board on the appointment,
reappointment and removal of the external auditor, and review the
Company’s financial information.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Audit Committee held 4
meetings and the attendance of meetings is set out under the section
headed “Board/Board Committees Mestings” on page 36 in this report.

The Audit Committee performed the following work during the year ended
31 December 2023:

a. reviewed the Group’s audited consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2023, the unaudited condensed
consolidated first quarterly financial results for the three months
ended 31 March 2023, the unaudited condensed consolidated
interim financial results for the six months ended 30 June 2023
and the unaudited condensed consolidated third quarterly financial
results for the nine months ended 30 September 2023 including
the accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group;

b. reviewed the changes in accounting standards and assessed their
potential impacts on the Group’s financial statements;

C. reviewed the Group’s internal control system and related matters;
and

d. considered and made recommendations on the re-appointment
of the independent auditor of the Group, and the terms of
engagement.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Our Company established a Remuneration Committee on 22 September
2017 with written terms of reference in compliance with code provision
E.1.2 of the CG Code. The primary duties of the Remuneration
Committee are to make recommendation to the Board on the overall
remuneration policy and structure relating to all Directors and senior
management of our Group; review performance based remuneration;
and ensure none of our Directors determine their own remuneration. As
at the date of this report, the Remuneration Committee consists of three
members, namely Mr. Yeung Pok Man Peason, Mr. Chau Wing Nam and
Mr. Cheung Tsu Lun. Mr. Yeung Pok Man Peason is the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee. During the year ended 31 December 2023,
the Remuneration Committee convened 1 committee meetings.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the remuneration of Directors
was determined by their experience, responsibility, workload and the
time devoted to the Group. Executive Directors and employees also
participate in bonus arrangements determined in accordance with the
performance of the Group and the individual’s performance. Details of the
Directors’ remuneration are set out in note 8 to the consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2023. The attendance of
Remuneration Committee meeting is set out under the section headed
“Board/Board Committees Meetings” on page 36 of this report.

DIRECTORS REMUNERATION POLICY

The Company has adopted a Director Remuneration Policy, it sets out the
general principles which guide the Group to deal with the remuneration
matters. This remuneration policy aims to provide a fair market level
of remuneration to retain and motivate high quality directors, senior
management of the Group and attract experienced people of high calibre
to oversee the business and development of the Group.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Our Company established a Nomination Committee on 22 September
2017 with written terms of reference in compliance with code provision
B.3.1 of the CG Code. The primary duties of the Nomination Committee
are to review the structure, size and composition (including the skills,
knowledge and experience) of the Board on regular basis; identify
individuals suitably qualified to become Board members; access the
independence of independent non-executive Directors; and make
recommendations to the Board on relevant matters relating to the
appointment or reappointment of Director. As at the date of this report,
the Nomination Committee consists of three members, namely Mr. Poon
Chun Yin, Mr. Chau Wing Nam and Mr. Cheung Tsu Lun. Mr. Poon Chun
Yin is the chairman of the Nomination Committee. During the year ended
31 December 2023, the Nomination Committee convened 1 committee
meeting. It had assessed the independence of independent non-
executive Directors, considered the re-appointment of retired Directors
and discussed matters relating to procedure of nomination of director
candidate by Shareholders, Directors’ evaluation and succession plan
etc. The attendance of Nomination Committee meeting is set out under
the section headed “Board/Board Committees Meetings” on page 36 of
this report.

The Company is aware of the benefits of having a diverse Board as
an essential element to improving governance and performance,
and to creating a competitive advantage. In structuring of the Board
composition, by taking into account the Group’s board diversity policy
board diversity has been considered from a number of aspects, including
but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of
service. All Board appointments will ultimately be based on merit and the
contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the Board which
the Board as a whole requires to be effective.

As of 31 December 2023, the Group had a total number of 30 (2022:
50) employees, all of whom are full-time employees (2022: 40 full-
time employees and 10 part-time employees). The gender ratio in
our workforce (including senior management) is female 63.3% and
male 36.7%. The Group shall continue to take into account diversity
perspectives including gender diversity in its hiring of employees from
time to time.
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BOARD NOMINATION POLICY

The Company adopted a nomination policy, which establishes written
guidelines to the Nomination Committee to identify individuals suitably
qualified to become Board members and make recommendations to the
Board on the selection of individuals nominated for directorships with
reference to the formulated criteria. The Board is ultimately responsible
for selection and appointment of new Directors.

The Board, through the delegation of its authority to the Nomination
Committee, has used its best efforts to ensure that Directors appointed to
the Board possess the relevant background, experience and knowledge
in business, finance and management skills critical to the Group’s
business to enable the Board to make sound and well considered
decisions. Collectively, they have competencies in areas which are
relevant and valuable to the Group.

NOMINATION PROCESS

The Nomination Committee shall assess whether any vacancy on the
Board has been created or is expected on a regular basis or as required.

The Nomination Committee utilizes various methods for identifying
director candidates, including recommendations from Board members,
management, and professional search firms. All director candidates,
including incumbents and candidates nominated by Shareholders
are evaluated by the Nomination Committee based upon the director
qualifications. While director candidates will be evaluated on the same
criteria through review of resume, personal interview and performance of
background checks. The Nomination Committee retains the discretion to
establish the relative weighting of such criteria, which may vary based on
the composition, skill sets, age, gender and experiences of the collective
Board rather than on the individual candidate for the purpose of diversity
perspectives appropriate to the requirement of the Company’s business.

SELECTION CRITERIA

The Nomination Committee will take into account whether a candidate
has the qualifications, skills, experience and gender diversity that add
to and complement the range of skills, experience and background of
existing Directors by considering the highest personal and professional
ethics and integrity of the director candidates, proven achievement and
competence in the nominee’s field and the ability to exercise sound
business judgment, skills that are complementary to those of the existing
Board, the ability to assist and support management and make significant
contributions to the Company’s success and such other factors as it may
deem are in the best interests of the Company and the Shareholders.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The composition of the Board is reviewed on an annual basis by the
Nomination Committee to ensure that the Board has the appropriate mix
of expertise and experience, and collectively possesses the necessary
core competence for informed decision-making and effective functioning.
The Company adopted its own board diversity policy and recognises the
benefits of having diversity in the composition of the Board.

The Company noted that people from different background and with
different professional and life experience are likely to approach problems
in different ways and accordingly, members of the Board with diverse
background will bring different concerns and questions to the table, and
allow the Board to consider a wider range of options and solutions when
deciding on corporate issues and formulating policies for the Group. In
determining the Board’s composition and selection of candidates to the
Board, the Nomination Committee will consider factors including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, industry knowledge and length of service.

All Board appointments will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will
be considered against the selection criteria, having regard for the benefits
of diversity on the Board, the business model and specific needs of the
Group. The ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution that
the selected candidates will bring to the Board.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for overseeing the
preparation of consolidated financial statements of the Group on an
on-going concern basis, with supporting assumptions or qualifications
as necessary, for each financial period with a view to ensure that such
financial statement gives a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the
Group, and of the results and cash flows for the financial year.

The responsibility of the Company’s auditor, CL Partners CPA Limited,
is set out in the section headed “Independent Auditor's Report” of this
report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group and for reviewing their effectiveness. We have
established an Audit Committee to review and supervise the effectiveness
of the financial reporting process and internal control and risk
management system, and overseeing the audit process.
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The risk management and internal control systems of the Company are
designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failures in operational
systems and achievement of the Group’s objectives, and can only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or
loss. Our Board will regularly review the administration and the adequacy
of our internal system and develop and revise our internal control system
to later for our expansion.

The Company does not have an internal audit function. However,
the Company engages an independent internal control consultant
firm (“internal control consultant”) to review the internal control of key
governance and business processes of the Company. The internal
control consultant identified a number of material weaknesses in the risk
management and internal control system of the Company.

The Board reviewed the report issued by the internal control consultant
and collaborated with other key facts and information, such as the
auditors’ opinion and overall performance of the Company. On that basis,
the Board is of the view that the risk management and internal control
system is not considered as effective and adequate. The Management of
the Company is in the process of designing and implementing new and
revised measures as to mitigate the weaknesses.

UNCERTAINTIES OVER GOING CONCERN

Pursuant to code provision D.1.3 of the CG code, the Board draws the
attentions of shareholders and other stakeholders of the Company to a
situation where the directors are aware of certain material uncertainties
may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a
going concern.

Shareholders and stakeholders of the Company are advised to refer to
the Auditors’ report for the details of going concerns issues.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

CL Partners CPA Limited was appointed by the Board as the auditor of
the Company. The remuneration paid or payable to CL Partners CPA
Limited for services rendered for the year ended 31 December 2023 were
as follows:

ARAMEREERAMEZEHE S EEE (B
FEEMB)REBRRRY REEREXBER
ZRERE TREREARERARIBLIEHRSE
(BYERE)RE-EFTEHEHRAEMA
MHEMNEE LT REE YRR MAERETH
B NMIERT A EREE S Z -

NELEAFE B - AT RREBBEILA
mEGIEE QR ([ ER]) e AR E
TEEEREBRIEZR R EHES o R B0 e B
BREARREREERAMEZERRNE TE
R

EEgRMTANESHBERNDANSRE LES
TEMABEREENEE  fIMEFANERMA
AIMEERR -EHERL EFERRARE
BEMARMESZRERRBERATTED - ABE
IR JE IE £ AR AT AN B B ¥ HO FNME BT B9 8 B DA B 88
gg % °

RECENTREM
RELEEETAFAUMRIDIS EERRSA
BRADFHMHEARETE EEERE
HBATHELTRYARABREENRNE
EEAGEE -

AR R BCR B M 21 48 B B 7% 5F £ BB LA BRED
BENTRSELLEENFE-

ZEEN B £
EHeHMTERATEEESRTALRRR
BT - B £22023F 12 A31H EFE gtk e
FTEM 1T A PR A B AT IR 4 AR 755 1) H S A Bk e A Y
FHEN T

$$°000
T 37 3K T

Audit services in relation to annual results EBEFEEENZERS 228
Review of interim results EHPHEIRE 111

There was no other non-audit service provided by CL Partners CPA
Limited to the Company during the year ended 31 December 2023.
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ANTI-CORRUPTION AND WHISTLEBLOWING
POLICY

The Group contained anti-corruption provisions, including but not limited
to bribery, extortion, fraud, and money laundering, into the Group’s Staff
Handbook. Bribery, extortion, fraud, money laundering, or other unlawful
offers are all prohibited. The Group strictly complies with all applicable
laws including but not limited to the Prevention of Corruption Act in
Singapore, the Laws of Hong Kong on Prevention of Bribery Ordinance
and the Criminal Law of the PRC.

Soliciting, accepting, or offering any benefits, including but not limited
to gifts, coupons, and tips, from or to our clients, suppliers, or anyone
with a business relationship with the Group is strictly banned, as stated
in the Staff Handbook. Staff are also barred from advising or dealing
in any transaction that could result in potential conflicts of interest,
and any potential conflicts of interest must be reported to the Group’s
Human Resources Department. Any breach of behavior will result in the
termination of the employment contract or consultancy agreement (as the
case may be), as well as legal implications for the subject.

In addition, the Group has provided training regularly to all levels of staff,
including directors, superiors and general staff, in order to equip them
with an understanding of the latest regulations and best practices relating
to anti-corruption, self-discipline, and integrity etc.

The Group established own internal whistleblowing policy (the
“Whistleblowing Policy”) to support the detection of fraud and corruption
risks. The Whistleblowing Policy is implemented by the Human Resources
Department, and monitored the funds paid and received by the Group by
the Finance Department. The Whistleblowing Policy is a critical tool for
uncovering corrupt, unlawful, or otherwise unacceptable behavior. The
policy is intended to allow employees to voice their concerns internally
and to reveal evidence that they believe demonstrates malpractice or
impropriety related to bribery, extortion, fraud, or money laundering.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Ho Yuk Ming Hugo (“Mr. Ho”) was appointed as Company
Secretary from 7 September 2022 to 11 March 2024. Following the
resignation of Mr. Ho, Mr. Man Yun Wah (“Mr. Man”) has been appointed
as the Company Secretary since 11 March 2024.

Mr. Man has confirmed that he had received no less than 15 hours of
relevant professional training for the year ended 31 December 2023, in
compliance with Rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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The primary duties of the Company Secretary include, but are not limited
to, the following: (a) to ensure the Board procedures are followed and
that the activities of the Board are carried out efficiently and effectively;
(b) to assist the chairman to prepare agendas and Board papers for
meetings and disseminate such documents to the Directors and Board
committees in a timely manner; (c) to timely disseminate announcements
and information relating to the Group; and (d) to maintain formal minutes
of the Board meetings and other Board committee meetings. He reports
to the Board and the chief financial officer directly.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company communicates with the Shareholders and potential
investors of the Company via the following:

(i) the timely public announcements and publications of quarterly, half
yearly and annual reports and/or circulars as required under the
GEM Listing rules and/or press releases of the Company providing
updated information on the Group; and

(ii) the holding of annual general meetings and general meetings of
the Company, if any, which may convened for specific purpose and
provide an avenue for the Shareholders to engage actively with the
Board.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Right to convene an extraordinary general meeting

Pursuant to the Company’s articles of association, the Board may
whenever it thinks fit call an extraordinary general meeting (the “EGM”).
Any one or more members holding at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall
at all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the
secretary of the Company, to require an EGM to be called by the Board
for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition; and
such meeting shall be held within two (2) months after the deposit of
such requisition. If within twenty-one (21) days of such deposit the Board
fails to proceed to convene such meeting the requisitionist(s) himself
(themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses
incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall
be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.
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Right to put forward proposals at general meetings

There are no provisions allowing the Shareholders to propose new
resolutions at the general meetings under the Cayman Islands Companies
Law, Chapter 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised). However,
the Shareholders may follow the procedure set out in the section headed
“Rights to convene an EGM” above for including a resolution at an EGM.
The requirements and procedures are set out above.

Right to Put Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns, in written form, to
the Board by addressing them to the Company Secretary at Room 2501,
25/F., Harbourside HQ, 8 Lam Chak Street, Kowloon Bay, Kowloon, Hong
Kong. Shareholders may also make enquiries to the Board at the general
meeting of the Company. In addition, shareholders can contact Tricor
Investor Services Limited, the branch share registrar of the Company
in Hong Kong, if they have any enquiries about their shareholdings and
entitlements to dividend.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company believes that maintaining effective communication with
the investment industry is crucial to having a deeper understanding of
the Company’s business and its development among investors. The
Company has established a range of communication channels between
itself and its Shareholders, investors and other stakeholders. These
include the annual general meeting, the annual, interim and quarterly
reports, notices, announcements and circulars and the Company’s
website at https://rmhholdings.com.sg. The Company has reviewed the
implementation and effectiveness of the shareholder communication
policy during the year ended 31 December 2023 and concluded as
effective.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the period from the Listing Date to 31 December 2023, there had
been no change in the Company’s constitutional documents.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
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ABOUT THIS REPORT

This report is the sixth Environmental, Social and Governance Report
(“ESG Report”) of RMH Holdings Limited (“RMH”, “the Company” or
“We”). We are committed to deliver the highest quality of Dermatological,
Medical and Aesthetic standards to take care of our customers’ skin.
This report intends to disclose the performance of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively as “the Group”) in terms of environmental, social,
and governance issues in a transparent and open manner over the last
year, in response to all stakeholders’ concerns and expectations for the
Group’s long-term viability. In the long run, the Group will strengthen the
data collection and reporting system for environmental management,
social responsibility, and governance performance, gradually expanding
the disclosure scope and improving the quality and comprehensiveness
of the ESG Report. Additional information in relation to the Group’s
corporate governance and financial performance can be referred to our
annual report for the year ended 31 December 2023.

REPORTING SCOPE

The Group’s directors are responsible for determining the reporting
scope. This report examines all data and activities for the period from 1
January 2023 to 31 December 2023 (“Reporting Period”), unless stated
otherwise. This report aims to provide an overview of environmental,
social and governance (‘ESG”) performance of RMH’s operations in the
Reporting Period. It highlights relevant strategies and business initiatives
and demonstrates how RMH is a sustainable and responsible business
with a positive impact on our stakeholders. Additional information in
relation to the Group’s corporate governance and financial performance
can be referred to our annual report for the year ended 31 December
2023.

The Group is principally engaged in the business of providing medical,
dermatological and aesthetic services and products as well as dental
clinic services in Singapore, Hong Kong and the People’s Republic of
China (“PRC”) during the Reporting Period.

As mentioned in our annual report, the joint and several interim judicial
managers were appointed to certain subsidiaries operated in Singapore
during the Reporting Period, and that the judicial managers are
empowered and authorized to exercise all powers and entitlements of
directors of those Singapore’s subsidiaries. Consequently, the Group
had deconsolidated the aforesaid Singapore’s subsidiaries from the
consolidated financial statements with effect from 28 November 2022
(“Deconsolidated Date”) and considered that the Group’s control
over those subsidiaries operated in Singapore had been lost from the
Deconsolidated Date.
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As a result, the quantitative information required for the key performance
indicators (‘KPI”) disclosure in the ESG Report were collected from the
operating entities in Hong Kong and the PRC. To be specific, it includes
RMH, DS Regenerative Medicine Limited, Zhongshan Des Enterprise
Management Company Limited and ZhongShan DS Oral Clinic Limited.
In case the scope and boundaries of the specific contents vary, they will
be noted in the relevant section of this ESG Report. We are improving our
internal data collection procedures and gradually expanding our scope of
disclosure.

REPORTING STANDARDS

This ESG Report has been prepared with reference to the Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide (the “ESG Reporting Guide”) set
out in Appendix 20 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
GEM by The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and has complied
with the “comply or explain” provisions set out in the ESG Reporting
Guide during the Reporting Period.

REPORTING PRINCIPLES

This Report is prepared based on the following basic principles:

At RE - HEREARS T RERRERE
R ((ERERER]MFENELCERRRER
RHENGLEREE AREEEN BHS
ABRBARDR FIUEHECRERERERARAR
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REAREES (RS LB REABER
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The Group has made an objective and systematic materiality assessment that prioritizes the issues
affecting the operation, and the policies, measures and performance of the Group in terms of
environmental and social aspects. Details and results are presented in the section headed “Materiality

AEBCFEEFRLASGENEZHN G BEREBERRMEENEXERNEELE BX it
ERRBENEE -FBERERENARE HEREARG [E2MNE] —827-

The Group has disclosed KPI with comparative data, mainly on the environmental and social aspects,
and has provided relevant standards, methodologies, assumptions, calculation tools and sources of

AEEDHET R YRR MM @7 EARRANIEIRER AT B LR BIE - WAERRRHARRRE -

The ESG Report provides an unbiased picture on the ESG performance to as to avoid selections,

omission, or presentation formats that may inappropriately influence a decision or judgement by the

AR -HEREABRER TR TIEMERERE LS REORR U RIS E MR AR

The ESG Report incorporated consistent reporting techniques and calculation methodologies so that the
ESG Report readers can rely on the preciseness of data. Any changes to the reporting techniques and

Materiality

Assessment” in this ESG Report.
HEM
Quantitative

conversion factors when applicable.
=3/

FEBR FEIAREBREENER-
Balance

Report readers.
FiE

HEEERRNAEAER BRI EHEA -
Consistency

calculation methodologies will be disclosed.
— Bt

ARE - HERERBREES —BOBERMEFETE MERRE HERERREHEE KA
BB EREE - EA ARSI R EDEZNEB K RE -
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REVIEW AND APPROVAL

The ESG Report for the Reporting Period has been reviewed and
approved by the Board of the Company.

REPORT AVAILABILITY

The ESG Report contained in the annual report is published in
electronic version which is available on the Company’s website
(https://rmhholdings.com.sg) and the HKEXnews website
(http://www.hkexnews.hk).

CONTACT AND FEEDBACK

The ESG Report shall be published both in English and Chinese, should
there be any discrepancy between the English and the Chinese versions,
the English version shall prevail. The Group welcomes stakeholders to
provide their opinions and suggestions on our sustainability initiatives.
You can provide valuable advice in respect of this ESG Report or
the Group’s performances in sustainable development by email to
rmhhelpline@dermclinic.com.sg.

SUSTAINABLE GOVERNANCE

We established a top-down ESG organizational structure to apply the
Group’s sustainable development concept. The Board is responsible
for developing ESG strategies, assessing and identifying the Group’s
ESG risks, and guaranteeing risk management and internal control
effectiveness. ESG work and report evaluation are carried out by
employees from several areas within the Group.

The Group is dedicated to achieving several aspects of corporate social
responsibility, including energy conservation, greenhouse gas reduction,
employee training and development, environmental compliance, and
providing a safe and healthy work environment.

THE BOARD

The Board strives to integrate sustainable development into the Group’s
business development and has taken on the following responsibilities:

° Assessing and determining the Group’s ESG-related risks and
opportunities;

° Ensuring that the Group has an appropriate and effective risk
management and internal control system;

° Developing the Group’s management policies, plans, priorities, and
goals;
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° Monitoring ESG’s work progress and performance on a regular
basis; and

° Approving the disclosed information in the Group’s ESG Report.

The Board assesses, identifies, and manages sustainable development
risks on a regular basis, and tries to create long-term value for
stakeholders by identifying possibilities while adhering to regulatory
standards and industry best practices. Furthermore, the Board examines
and adjusts the implementation of various ESG objectives on a regular
basis to ensure that the impact of business development on the
environment and society can be minimized.

ESG WORKING COMMITTEE

The Group has established an ESG Working Committee, consisting
of four members, (currently as an Executive Directors, and serval
management from Human Resources, Finance and Operations Function/
Departments), to assist the Board in managing the Group’s ESG affairs.
The ESG Working Committee is a management-level group that is
responsible for driving our ESG initiatives, collecting and calculating ESG
KPIs, overseeing and reporting ESG related matters across our major
businesses and operations.

The ESG Working Committee is empowered by the Board through a
ESG Working Committee Terms of Reference under which it shall directly
be instructed and reporting to the Board. It organizes meetings on a
regular basis to identify, assess, and monitor the Group’s ESG risk, as
well as to examine the Group’s internal control system’s implementation
and effectiveness. It also assesses and evaluates the Group’s ESG
performance in relation to ESG goals and targets.

ESG Working
Board of Directors Committee
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

We recognize that stakeholders play a strategic role in maintaining RMH’s
long-term growth, as well as responsible business development in ESG
aspects. Understanding and responding to stakeholder concerns and
expectations is critical to our long-term success. Our business activities
involve a diverse range of stakeholders, but we select our stakeholders
based on influence, representation, responsibility, dependency, and
proximity. We make sure that numerous communication channels are
in place so that key stakeholders’ views and input may be addressed
efficiently and promptly within RMH. We strive to improve our stakeholder
engagement by continuously improving our communication channels and
embedding valuable stakeholder input into our strategy.

Multiple engagement channels were established throughout the Reporting
Period to enable constant and dynamic interaction with the Group’s
internal and external stakeholders.

Stakeholders Communication Channels

ERERALS3H

BPERERABATEASERINRAER
NEERE HERERTENAEEEBER
THEEEBRIIE TR MO EERERAL
NI M I ZHHMNRERNEREE - 1M
MEBEE YR Z EHKHERERAL HER
MERTZEN KRR BE KBIE RSN
mkEEEAEA L - RIERRBEZEBBR
BAEIERSEBALHNBREIERTER
AR A ROt S BB IR - IR B B A
ERMOBARELBRSHBALNEEER
SMARMRE RERMANESHEALS
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REERSHE ~AEEERYZE2ERE
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BRBENER-

BSEERAL

BERE

Internal: ° General meeting
NEB RERE
o Directors Trainings
BF 75| 3R A2
° Employees Meetings
BE e
External: Interviews
HNED - BIE
° Shareholders and investors Announcements and Circulars
MR R E = NERIEHK
° Customers Websites of the Group
B A5 B Ak
o Suppliers Telephone, Emails, and Letters
HpEn B BHREX
° Business partners Suggestion box
EBRH =SR]
° Regulatory bodies Seminars
EEERE B
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

Materiality assessment of ESG issues has become a corporate
imperative. The concept of materiality encompasses all those issues that
the Group needs to take into account, and it provides a blueprint for
our sustainable development strategy. The Group reviews the materiality
of ESG-related topics based on stakeholder engagement activities on
an annual basis that truly reflect the environmental and social issues to
stakeholders.

The Group has evaluated the materiality and importance in ESG aspects
through the following steps:

Step 1: Identification
F1  BE

o Review ESG disclosure of peers for
an indication of potentially relevant

Step 2: Prioritization
F2%  HEF

* Consolidate the results from
step 1 and develop a
prioritized list of potential
material ESG issues

/B,

Invite stakeholders to complete an
online survey to prioritize the
importance of ESG issues to them
and to the Group.

AR
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Step 3: Validation
H3IL  BRFE

The Group's management
finalize the list of material
issues and their KPIs for
disclosure.
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The result of the materiality assessment of ESG issues is displayed inthe B - e@REAHENEEU T HERERE
following materiality matrix. INTEZEMERES -
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10.

11.

The following five topics have been deemed as the most important ESG

Greenhouse gas emissions

BE RSB

Waste management

FEEYER

Energy consumption

BEIRERE

Water consumption

FKE

Paper consumption

=

Management risk related to environment & natural
resources

HIRIE I B A B IRAE B B B IR R B
Equal opportunities

FERE

Employee’s benefits

BTN

Occupational health and safety
BERRLRLZE

Employee development and training
B TR RS

Prevention of child labor & forced labour
By b E T K88 & &)

issues:

The Group has strictly complied with the statutory requirements in
respect of the identified material aspects. The Group aims to keep close
communication with its stakeholders and continue to improve its ESG

Protection of intellectual property rights and customer data;

Anti-corruption and related trainings, and whistle-blowing policies;

Concluded legal cases

Prevention of child labor and forced labor; and

Occupational health and safety

performance.

12.

13.

14.

15.

16.

17.

18.

19.

20.

21.

Supplier selection and assessment
R JRE 7 52 4 R AT A

Green procurement

FERE

Product quality control

EmE S

Product recall

EmAE

Customer satisfaction

BEEmEE

Protection of intellectual property rights & customer
data

MBEERE P ERRE
Anti-corruption & whistle-blowing policies
RE T R HBIBUR

Concluded legal cases
HEREVEERM

Anti-corruption trainings
REFE

Community engagement
e

NTHELTERRASEREENRE HELE

AR -

. M EERE S AR
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ENVIRONMENTAL

Due to the Group’s service-based business nature, we do not
cause significant impacts on the environment. In spite of this, the
Group is committed to upholding high environmental standards and
mitigating our environmental impacts.

1. Emissions

We recognize the importance of sustainability in our business
operation. We put emphasis on complying with the relevant
environmental law and regulations in Singapore, Hong Kong
and the PRC, including but not limited to the followings:

° Environmental Protection and Management Act (EPMA)
of Singapore;

° Environmental Public Health Act (EPHA) of Singapore;

° Hazardous Waste (Control of Export, Import and
Transit) Act (HWA) of Singapore;

° Air Pollution Control Ordinance of Hong Kong;
o Waste Disposal Ordinance of Hong Kong;

° Environmental Protection Law of the PRC; and

° Prevention and Control of Environmental Pollution by
Solid Wastes Law of the PRC.

During the Reporting Period, there was no reported case of
material non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations
relating environmental protection.

Air Emissions

Due to the Group’s business nature, it does not involve in any
industrial production nor possess any manufacturing facilities
or motor vehicles during the Reporting Period. Therefore, the
Group did not generate a material amount of exhaust gas
emissions during its operation (2022: Nil).
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Greenhouse Gas Emissions

Human activities and economic development have
aggravated the emission of greenhouse gases (‘GHG”)
atmospheric concentration, leading to accelerating
temperatures around the globe and climate change. Since
no industrial production is involved nor vehicles are owned
by the Group, there was no reported direct emission of
GHG (Scope 1) during the Reporting Period. The Group’s
main sources of GHG emissions are the indirect emission
from electricity consumption (Scope 2) that is utilized to
power facilities and equipment. Electricity consumption to be
reported in this section assessment only included those from
DS Regenerative Medicine Limited as electricity consumption
from other operating entities is considered immaterial or
the data is centrally managed by the property management
companies which is unavailable to us. Compared with 2022,
the electricity consumption of the Group in 2023 increased
as a result of the general increase in market electricity price
and the resumption of the Group’s business operation after
COVID-19 epidemic. The Group considered there was no
other material indirect emission of GHG from sources not
owned or controlled by the Group (Scope 3) during the
Reporting Period. During the Reporting Period, reported
GHG emissions are as follows:
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FY2022 FY2023
Intensity Intensity
GHG Emissions i FY2022 (Per revenue) FY2023 (Per revenue)
202281 F B E 20238 F R E
BER R X 202281 (W AET) 202381 & (BB AE)
Scope 1
#[E—
Direct emission Kg of COe Nil Nil Nil Nil
HEHEW FrR-_GHREE = ES ES ES
Scope 2
#WE=
Indirect emission
MEHEM
— Purchased electricity Kg of COe 103,499.76 24,407.02 145,294.67 45,690.15
—SMNEE Fr= %ftﬁ B8
Scope 3
HE=
Indirect emission
AR
— Others Kg of COe Nil Nil Nil Nil
—HAh Fr_atiREs = = ES ES
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Notes

* GHG emissions data is presented in terms of carbon dioxide
equivalent and are with reference to but not limited to, “The
Greenhouse Gas Protocol: A Corporate Accounting and
Reporting Standards” issued by the World Resources Institute
and the World Business Council for Sustainable Development,
and “How to prepare an ESG Report — Appendix 2: Reporting
Guidance on Environmental KPIs” issued by the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange.

For FY2023, Intensity is calculated by dividing the emission by
the Group’s revenue in 2023 (approximately S$3.18 million)

Hazardous Waste

We adopt a responsible management for our medical waste
and consider complying with all relevant regulations in the
countries that we operate. To dispose medical waste in
a safe and reliable manner, we have entered into service
agreements with local government-licensed toxic industrial
waste collector. The licensed service provider collects the
medical waste from our main clinic, and, to our knowledge,
they would dispose the waste in authorized incineration
plant approved under relevant laws where we operate.
As for our other clinic, the hazardous waste is handled
by an independent party engaged by the hospital. As any
hazardous waste has been collected and handled directly by
the specialized contractors, it is not feasible for us to provide
relevant usage data. Despite of it, in order to continuously
reduce the adverse impact associated with the production
of hazardous waste, the Group will continue to monitor the
amount of clinical waste generated during its operations.

Non-hazardous Waste

Our non-hazardous wastes are mainly referred to paper and
plastic waste during our daily operations. The overall amount
of non-hazardous wastes is considered minimal as we have
adopted a reasonable level of digitalization in our operation,
and the Group has not been accounting for domestic waste
generated by its facilities, which has been collected and
disposed of directly by local government services. However,
we understand the disposal of non-hazardous waste is also
an important task in consideration that certain types of non-
hazardous waste can be recycled.

To minimize the environmental impacts of both hazardous
and non-hazardous waste generated from the Group’s
business operations, we target to achieve 5% reduction in
both hazardous and non-hazardous waste by 2032, using
FY2021 as the base year.
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For the hazardous waste, we aim to achieve the target by
continuously adopting the waste management policy as
mentioned in the above section of “Hazardous Waste”. For
the non-hazardous waste, we have adopted the following
environmentally friendly initiatives:

o Place a single-sided paper collection box and a
wastepaper recycling box near the photocopiers;

o Paper and plastics waste are collected for delivery to
recycling companies;

° Encourage our employees to use both sides of paper,
set duplex printing as the default mode for our network
printers, use recycled paper to minimize the wastage of
paper, and bring their own mug instead of disposable
paper cups;

° Install hand dryers in our clinics’ toilets to reduce paper
towel consumption; and

° Encourage customers to bring reusable bags.

We aim to implement a tracking system in future so as
to better track the total amount of non-hazardous waste
generated in RMH. This will enable us to reflect a more
accurate figure of the non-hazardous waste generated in
RMH in future reporting.

Our Targets and Initiatives

The principal GHG emissions of the Group are generated
from purchased electricity. We target to achieve 5% reduction
of emission by 2032, using FY2021 as the base year. The
Group actively adopts electricity conservation and energy
saving measures as well as other measures to achieve this
goal:

o Arranged all our electrical appliances and medical
equipment to be set in energy saving mode;

o Reduce excessive lighting and air-conditioning to
minimize usage of cooling towers during low loading
periods for air-conditioning;
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° Clean dust filters and remove obstructions at air inlets
and outlets of the air-conditioners on a regular basis to
maintain optimum air-conditioning performance;

° All air-conditionings of our clinics and other premises
will be set at 25.5°C as indoor temperature;

° Adopt LED panel lights instead of traditional fluorescent
lamps for higher energy efficiency;

o Activate “sleep” mode in some of office equipment
during office hours, including photocopiers and
printers;

° Encourage our senior employees to schedule regular
meeting with conference calls or use of other electronic
media to reduce travelling for business meetings when
applicable; and

o Placing “Green Message” reminders on office
equipment and workplace to further enhance
employees’ environmental awareness.

Use of resources

As our business nature is service focused, the main
resources used in our daily operation are electricity, water
and papers. In line with our Group’s policy, we encourage
our employees to manage the resources used in an effective
and efficient manner.
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Energy Consumption

The Group’s main sources of energy consumption is
electricity which is used to support the equipment and
facilities. As stated above, electricity consumption to be
reported only included those from DS Regenerative Medicine
Limited and the summary of usage is as follow:

Energy Sources Unit

HEIR B

Purchased electricity kWh

HNEE T FLEF

Consumption intensity kWh/revenue

HRTE FREE, WA
Notes

*

For FY2023, Intensity is calculated by dividing the electricity
usage by the Group’s revenue in 2023 (approximately S$3.18
million)

Water Consumption

We recognize water as an important natural resource and
have constantly remind our employees the importance of
water conservation. The water consumption is mainly used
in office and clinics. Water consumption to be reported
in this section assessment only included those from DS
Regenerative Medicine Limited. Water supply from other
operating entities is centrally managed by its respective
property management company and there is no separate
meter for individual office units, thus, it is not feasible for us
to provide relevant water usage data. In 2023, the total water
consumption to be reported accounted to 674.8m® (2022:
36.0m°).

BEROHEE

AEEEREENEZRREAE S
AR 335 R R R i o 47 L prt - T
HEMmAEEEeREiBELEa
BERARMNARE  FHREMENT :

FY2022 FY2023
202281 F 202281+ &
265,384.00 238,148.95
62,582.09 74,889.61
b=

* 20238 F - REMFTE AR A
EEBR AAREBE2023F HRA (4
3A8EEBHMEIT)

FEkE
BMBEXEREENBARAER I
TEIREE THORKMNEZ -
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RE BB KSR BB M EER
HARRE A K BUE - 7A20234F - 2
M 4B K 2 A674.83 5 K (2022
F:36.03 75 K) e
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Paper Consumption

The Group has taken the following measures in several
offices to ensure the efficient use of paper, including:

° Implemented a centralised paper ordering system to
facilitate paper usage monitoring.

° Using E-fax to reduce printing needs

° Implementation of digital communications and
operations for internal and external communications
and processes

° Handling documents electronically except for formal
documents.
° Using recyclable paper and double-sided printing,

excluding formal and confidential documents.

Paper consumption to be reported in this section assessment
only included those from DS Regenerative Medicine Limited.
During the Reporting Period, the total consumption of paper
of the Group was about 0.07 tonnes.

Our Targets and Initiatives

The Group has initiated policies to raise awareness of
electricity conservation and has adopted energy saving
measures throughout our daily operation as elaborated in the
section of “Emissions”. Using FY2021 as the base year, we
target to reduce 5% electricity consumption by 2032.

Due to the geographical location of the Group’s operations,
there is no issue in sourcing water that is fit for purpose.
Nevertheless, we are always conscious of water
conservation. We encourage our employees to monitor the
water usage in our clinics, back office and laboratory on a
monthly basis to identify sudden spikes in consumption as
well as water leaking in the piping system. Any dripping or
leakage of water mains and tap will be repaired promptly. We
also place water conservation posters in prominent places to
encourage our employees to save water. We are considering
to install flow controllers and automatic on or off sensor on
taps for efficiency of water use. By adopting these initiatives,
we target to reduce our water consumption by 5% by 2032,
using FY2021 as the base year.
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Paper and packaging Materials

We are primarily involved with the dermatological and surgical
practice, dental care and the prescription of medication and
skin-care products. These medication and skin-care products
are manufactured, packed, and distributed by our suppliers.
As our business nature is service-focused, there was no
significant amount of packaging material used in our daily
operation. As such, we do not track the packaging materials
used for the products. However, we always encourage our
suppliers to use less packaging material and require our
offices to control the total amount of paper used.

The environment and natural resources

The importance of the environment and natural resources
is well understood by the Group. With the goal of
attaining environmental sustainability, we have integrated
the concept of environmental preservation and natural
resource conservation into its internal management and
daily operations. Based on our business nature, the natural
resources which contributed to our daily operations are
primarily from the usage of electricity, water and paper.
Therefore, the Group is not aware of any significant impacts
of activities on the environment and natural resources during
the Reporting Period. The Group continues to monitor any
possible adverse impacts brought by our business operation
on the natural environment.

In line with our Group’s policies, we strive to minimize the
impact to the environment by encouraging our employees to
monitor and manage the consumption of energy and natural
resources in a more efficient manner as mentioned in the
section of “Emissions” and “Use of resources” in response
to the potential impacts on the environment and natural
resources. The Group also identifies important operational
issues and offers employees with trainings to raise their
knowledge in order to assist all employees in understanding
key environmental variables and associated departments in
controlling potential impacts on the environment and natural
resources.

The Group remains conscious of the potential impact its
operations on the environment and adopts preventive
measures to reduce the relevant environmental damage while
ensuring compliance with relevant laws and regulations.
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4. Climate change

The countries where we have operation, either Singapore,
Hong Kong or the PRC, is a low-lying, densely populated
tropical island city-state, it is vulnerable to the effects of
climate change and variability. The typical effects of climate
include:

Warmer weather

Heavy rainfall
AR

® Top 10 warmest years on

B RS IA R EE 10 F 0

gets warmer

PR REER - A RMER

EHHBERERHESE
ETtEE

The Group understands that higher temperatures may
affect human health and healthcare operations. Vector
and pest populations could increase from a result of
higher temperatures and rainfall, increasing the incidence
of diseases such as dengue. However, as the Group is
principally engaged in dermatological and surgical practice
as well as dental care, the Board, as advised by the ESG
Working Committee, considers that those typical climate
change effects have relatively light impacts on the Group.

Considerations of TCFD Recommendations

Nevertheless, RMH takes reference to the recommendations
and approach set out by The Task Force of Climate
related Financial Disclosure (“TCFD”) in assessing the
climate changes impacts on the Group. Thus, the Group
has assessed the climate-related impacts from risks and
opportunities aspects.
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Climate-change-related risks

The Group divides climate-change-related risks into two
major categories: (1) risks related to the transition to a low
carbon economy and (2) risks related to the physical impacts
of climate change.

/

Transition risks <

SR B

KRZREHEBRR

AEEBRIEZ{LCHABRRD /=
M8 £ BRI ()8 P E R Q EE A
EEMRARRQERKEECNER
FERRMER -

* May entail extensive policy, legal, technology, and market changes to address
mitigation and adaptation requirements related to climate change in the course of
transitioning to a lower-carbon economy. There are four sub-risks, namely Policy
and Legal Risks, Technology Risk, Market Risk and Reputation Risk

May have financial implications for the Group, such as direct damage to assets and
indirect impacts from supply chain disruption, which can be driven by acute events
(“Acute Events”) or longer-term chronic shifts (“Chronic Shift”) in climate patterns.

Physical risks i graBE MAENBEETRIERD HON);

CHYNE ( T=MsEH] )
E%mpﬁ : ME= 1

EREEEER ( [121tE
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Climate-change-related opportunities RIFE{LAEBEE

The Group also takes into consideration of climate-change AEETERRIRE(CEBAOKS -
related opportunities and divides them into five major WiEE D AREEZLHER  HER
categories related to resource efficiency and cost savings, the e R AR B4 IR BERRAE R -
adoption of low-emission energy sources, the development ABENERIRE EAFTTERE
of new products and services, access to new markets, and SR EEE IR MR -

building resilience along the supply chain.

The overall-risk rating of climate-change-related risks and AEBERIEECAERR RS
opportunities of the Group is considered low as presented MEERBIRERARE 251
below: ™~
~
e QOverall climate change risk at industry level
e TEEESNEBREZ R R
BEZHE
e Climate-change risk  Sa/Z % (L @&
e Climate-change opportunities 5815 &L #38
Low-to-medium
BEHRE J
e Transitionrisk ~ EEAIE R
e Physical risk EEEER
e Technology risk  BH Bl
J
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Climate Change Impact Assessment

The Board has instructed the ESG Working Committee to
perform an assessment on the climate-change-related risks
and opportunities of the Group. The following table presents
the summary of the Group’s assessment.

Climate-related risks
and opportunities

Fo Ve
.

RARE L &L

EEEEREINERE - HEREART

EZEeHAEBNHRFEL(LIEEHE

B K B EITR A e TREFIA

SEHFEME -

Our measures or approach

Potential financial impacts
when risks are realized

RiIRARERR KA

Transition Risk

BE @

Policy and legal

BERRAE

Technology
BHX

Market
5

Reputation

BE

RAMNERE T A

The Group is of the view that there are
no regulatory or market policies or
technology changes required or on the
trend that would have significant impact
on the Group.

REERR HEEEITHECKLH

BRAER EHRBEHAEERE
2 &

Customers may have higher expectations
of our image and services from an
environmentally friendly perspective.

HERRAREN S BP AR R FIEE
SERBEESNRE-

ERBERRNETHESY

Remote

HE

The risks and impacts are
considered remote

ZERREFERGR/ER-

Possible

AAEE

There is a possible impact on the
reputation of our Company.

HARANBEEARERT
72,
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Climate-related risks Our measures or approach Potential financial impacts
and opportunities when risks are realized
RIZHEEERKEE EMWEES B % B B 3 B VB 1 B S 2
Physical risk Acute Events The Group is of the view that it is not Remote
L Z2EMH subject to physical risks brought alone  E1{&
from climate change. However, the
Chronic Shifts Group will take a monitoring approach  The risks and impacts are
REAER and will continuously monitor the considered remote.
change in physical risks. ZERREFERRAER-

AEERBETERIRBCEET RN
ERREMTE AN AEEKRRE
EhE CTRREEEERARNE

1o
Opportunities Resource efficiency The Group is of the view that there are Remote
e R no regulatory or market policies or BEiE
technology changes required or on the
Energy source trend that would have significant impact
B2 E BR on the Group. The opportunities and benefits are
AEERR HEEEITSEEIH considered remote
Products & services RFER 8D BouAcmEE ARERNERERER-
7= m R AR RE &
Customers may have higher expectations Possible
Market of our image and services from an LI
i environmentally friendly perspective.
RBRAEMS TR AEEHM There is a possible market if we
Resilience BFERRRBEESHBAE - can build an environmental
BEH supply chain.
o MRE SR E IR IR AL s -
SaEFAEEMS
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B. SOCIAL
EMPLOYMENT AND LABOUR PRACTICE

1.

Employment

Employees are our most valued-assets and we are fully
committed to creating a respectful and collaborative work
environment. The Group strictly complies with all applicable
laws and regulations that have significant impact on the
Group relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment
and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal
opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, other benefits and
welfare, including but not limited to the following:

o The Employment Act (Cap. 91) of Singapore;

° The Employment of Foreign Manpower Act of
Singapore;

o The Employees’ Compensation Ordinance of
Singapore;

° Central Provident Fund Act (Cap. 36) of Singapore;

o The Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong;

° The Employees’ Compensation Ordinance of Hong
Kong;

o Mandatory Provident Fund Ordinance of Hong Kong;
. Labor Law of the PRC;

° The Labor Contract Law of the PRC; and

° Law of the PRC on Employment Promotion

During the Reporting Period, there was no reported incident
of non-compliance with laws and regulations relating to
employment practices.

B. #Z€

BERZETER

1.

E&
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BETRMERNATAR
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Workforce and turnover BEORRKAE
As at the end of the Reporting Period, the Group has a total HERESHERA AEEEXBEET
number of 30 (2022: 50) employees, all of whom are full-time 30A (20225 :50A) " A REHE
employees (2022: 40 full-time employees and 10 part-time T (20224 : 2B 8 TA0A B 2
employees). The details are as follow: T10A) o FFIBAT :
Number of Staff Percentage %
BT A BA%
Gender 4 51
Male Sk 11 36.7%
Female pegis 19 63.3%
Age Group F R4 Bl
18-30 185% 2305% 15 50.0%
31-40 315X 2408% 8 26.7%
41-50 4135 25075% 6 20.0%
51 or above 51583 A £ 1 3.3%
Geographical Region I B
Hong Kong aBE 4 13.3%
The PRC i 26 86.7%
Singapore s - -
Employee Category BIEHR
Senior management BREBAE 6 20.0%
Middle management PEEIEAE 4 13.3%
Supervisor FE - -
General staff —BBE 20 66.7%
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The analysis of staff turnover rate by different categories are
as follows:

Gender 4 3l

Male S

Female 2

Age Group F R 4E Bl

18-30 18% 2305%

31-40 315RE405%

41-50 4157 25088

51 or above 51553 A £

Geographical Region i 38 [ 3

Hong Kong BE

The PRC 2]

Singapore Fonig
Notes

*

The turnover rate by category is calculated by dividing the
number of employees in the specified category leaving
employment by the total number of employees in that
specified category.

We emphasize the protection of labor rights, equal
opportunity and non-discrimination in the workplace.
We promote employee diversity and vehemently reject
discrimination, working to remove any discrimination against
candidates and employees based on variables such as
gender, age, color, religion beliefs, and gender orientations.
The Group’s working hour policies for our employees
have been in complete conformity with national laws and
regulations in order to preserve employees’ legitimate rights
and interests. Our employees work standardized hours and
have access to paid leave, maternity leave, sick leave, public
holidays, and specified rest intervals, ensuring that they get
enough rest and maintain a healthy work-life balance. If any
unfair treatment is discovered, the concerned employees
should report the incident to the head of Human Resources
Department directly. Much effort is also given by the Group
to safeguard the legitimate rights and interests of employees
and cater for the developmental needs of employees.
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NERRI 8 TEERE S HTLAT

Number of Staff Percentage %
BETAH AZ L%
21 51.2%
20 48.8%
24 58.5%
13 31.7%
2 4.9%
2 4.9%
5 12.2%
35 85.4%
1 2.4%
B 5t

* BERE D EREENFER X
EREERPRBNE TAR
BAZIEERAFN B A%

BMERRES TR TSRS
THESHERE -HMRERESR
T BORIBRBIER - fE1E R - k-
Be REEM HBRmEZEEH
BOHREHEARERMNESR K
SENEEITERERRT2TA
BZUEARZER UHERBWAE
Rz - AP R B TR E L
TEEHHBRH ER KR AR
BRBERRENARERRE BRESS
B R SR B IR R BT RO TR B
HEEFE - HBERERAIRFFE
HEEEREZRAANERSBETE
BEFH-AKENRNHEREE
e AR mERENERFR

K
%
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Human Resources Policy and Staff Handbook are
established for regulating recruitment, promotion, discipline,
working hours and vacations. Our Human Resources
Department is responsible for such implementation confirms
that our employees have a full understanding of the contents
of both documents. Employees who fail to comply with the
company’s regulations are first given a warning notice and, in
serious cases, are dismissed. We have created a harmonious
working environment as well as a safe and comfortable
workplace to build a business platform for every employee
to grow with the Group. Our employment documents and
practices are formulated in compliance with relevant law and
regulations and reviewed on a regular basis.

We have developed a standardized recruitment process with
the goal of attracting and retaining talent for our teams that
is tailored to their specific job requirements. The Group’s
hiring process considers criteria including their experience,
skills, and expertise needed for our business operations.
Regardless of gender, age, ethnicity, religion, disability, or
gender orientation, applicants who match the requirements
for a position are given equal interview opportunities.
There is also a thorough description of the job, including
responsibilities, benefits, and compensation packages.
Applicants with relatives working in the Group must clarify
personal relationships and ensure that their relatives’ work in
the Group is unaffected.

We are committed to offering competitive remuneration as
well as complete benefits and protections to our employees.
In order to attract, motivate, and retain excellent people, we
assess our compensation and benefits programs on a regular
basis. The remuneration of our employees is determined
by aspects such as their qualifications, contributions, and
years of experience. Employee performance is evaluated
on a regular basis, and those who do well are provided
opportunities for advancement.
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Health and safety

Workplace safety and employees’ health are non-negotiable
and of the Group’s top priority. The Group reviews the
workplace and safety policies regularly to ensure compliance
with applicable laws, including but not limited to the
following:

° Workplace Safety and Health Act (Cap. 354A) of
Singapore;

o Guidelines on Aesthetic Practices for Doctors of
Singapore;

o Radiation Protection Act (Cap. 262) of Singapore;

° Workplace Safety and Health (Incident Reporting)
Regulations of Singapore;

° Private Healthcare Facilities Ordinance (Chapter 633 of
the Laws of Hong Kong;

o Laws of Hong Kong on Employees’ Compensation
Ordinance; and

° Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Control of
Occupational Diseases

The Group is committed to providing employees with a safe
and comfortable work environment. To protect the health of
employees, we have established Business Process Manual
which emphasizes on safety procedures and awareness in
handling medical devices during daily operations. Our in-
house doctors are responsible for the provision of support
and resources required to maintain safe and ideal working
conditions within the clinics. Furthermore, they are also
responsible for the implementation and planning of proper
administrative procedures, including adhering to an agreed
reporting structure and investigation methodology in the
event of an incident occurring within the workplace.
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Occupational Safety Measures

° Provide clear and comprehensive guidelines to all staff
on how to handle bad weathers, injuries and work
related injuries;

° Encourage staff to maintain a good and correct
posture, while maintaining an appropriate eye level with
the computer screen to reduce stress and strain on
their bodies;

° Keep passages clear and the working environment
clean and tidy;

° Place first aid kits and fire extinguishers in workplace;

° Ensure that all staff are familiar with the fire protection
equipment and fire escape routes; and

° Proper disposal of clinical and domestic waste.

In each of the past three years, including the Reporting
Period, the Group was not aware of any work-related
fatalities, lost days due to work injury and did not identify any
material non-compliance with laws and regulations relevant
to the health and safety of employees.

Our Effort On COVID-19 Control

The Group have fulfilled all the lockdown and quarantine
requirement imposed in Singapore. In addition, our ESG
Working Committee has set up and overseen reporting
mechanism to timely report suspected or confirmed inflection
cases of our employees and their associates. We have also
established the following necessary precaution measures.

RMH HOLDINGS LIMITED ¢ Annual Report 2023

BEZ2HEE

o  MEBETRHEBBNMEE
BHRR ZERIEHEH
KEEES

e HEBEIRFRIILMEHNZE
L RARERFRASHEER
MR EKE AR D & BB
HEEBE:

s REBEBEHBEIFRREE
2

J £ TS FT AR B 2 RAE KOs X
2=

. WMRATAE B IAT B &E R
NS EELR &

s ZEREBENMATNR-

EEE=ZFNE—F BEHREH
B AREBARBEREMEIET R
THEXTIEANBR  BARERE
MERTETHERRZE2ABH
EERERIBRMET -

EMEFESRBESEHNTENS
h

RS [E E 8 TR IR B A ) T E B
N R REAE o Lb AN RPIMIRIR
HEhERTHHFRZEEERIKE
BHmEHe ARERERE AR
2 AR RERD RR E 5 - ZAPIT
2 HIE 5 B IEBTE I



Environmental, Social and Governance Report
B b E RAERHGE

COVID-19 Measures

All doctors, employees and patients must scan
the Safety Entry QR Code and take temperature at
entrance before entering the premises;

Hand sanitizers are provided to all staff and patients at
premises;

All clinic premises have already set up temperature
scanners at entrance;

All staff and patients must always wear masks and
keep personnel and premises hygiene;

All staff should regularly disinfect medical equipment
and change protective clothing;

Our clinics’ seats have 1-meter-mark for safe
distancing;

All treatments are on appointment basis;

Centre staff will be responsible for crowd control;

All staff are allocated self-test kits to do self-test
weekly and update in shared spreadsheet. Some staff
may require more frequent self-test if they have close
contact with patients; and

All staff are encouraged to take vaccination or booster,
1 day off is given to employees for taking vaccination
or booster.
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Development and training

The Group deeply values the employees by investing in
their development. The Group believes that our employees
are critical to the operations and function of our business,
and we emphasize heavily on continual trainings so as to
enhance staff performance and upgrade their professional
skillsets.

Ethical and
code of
conduct

BERTE

+/JJ

Our doctors, dentists and staff are encouraged to attend
industry conferences, seminars and workshops as well as
sharing sessions organized by our suppliers to keep abreast
of evolving healthcare industry trends and standards. All
these activities were carried out to ensure that our employees
remain updated with relevant developments and are aware of
the laws and regulations that govern the healthcare industry.

We have also organized internal trainings which cover anti-
corruption, business ethics, ESG reporting, 2023 and
2024 market outlook on the healthcare and life sciences
sector, among others. All in-house training programs are
evaluated and reviewed on a regular basis to ensure that
they are relevant, high-quality, and effective. The following in-
house training programs are provided to further develop our
employees’ competencies:

o Training is provided by medical device suppliers or
senior clinic staff in relation to the use of a new product
or with regard to service-related knowledge and also
safety precautions of medical equipment;

o During on-boarding session for new hires, training
is provided by our in-house doctors and dentists to
familiarize these new hires on daily operations and
equipment handling procedures; and

. On-the-job assessments is also conducted by our in-
house doctors and dentists for all of our professional
staff to maintain the highest quality and standard of
services to be provided to our clients.
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During the Reporting Period, 17% (2022: 16%) of the HEBBR - 17% (20224 : 16%)H)
employees took part in our trainings and the details of BIZ2NTHEMNEIN LEER
breakdown are as follows: P
Percentage of Employees Trained Percentage %
ZREINEIES L BA%
By Gender &R
Male S 100%
Female 4 -
By Employee Category EETEH
Senior management SBHREEANE 100%
Middle management FEEEAE -
Supervisor FE -
General staff —REBE -
During the Reporting Period, the average training hour WMEREAA BT A TKIEIE
completed per employee was 0.7 hours and the details of £0.7/\BF - BRARGN T -

breakdown are as follow:

Average Training Hours Completed Per Employee Number of hour
FEE T TR TG 2 ANEE
By Gender =1 Rl

Male B 18
Female P _
By Employee Category BETHER

Senior management EREEAE 3.3
Middle management FEEEAE -
Supervisor FE -
General staff —REBE -

Notes B 5

* The percentage of trained employees by category is calculated * RENESHNZREIEING
by dividing the number of employees trained for a specific AR BEGHEFEENZB
category by the total number of employees trained. FIME T ABBRUZBEIN

BIMEETHESL-

* The average training hours by category is calculated by * RERNE S TEAEINREER
dividing the number of training hours for a specific category BB TEERNE IOEINE
of employees by the number of employees for the specific BHRUBTEHEINEIAHSES
category. i
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Labour standards

Being fully aware that exploitation of a child and forced labor
violates human rights and international labor conventions,
the Group strictly prohibits the employment of any child
labor and forced labor in any form. Those under 16 years
of age must not be recruited by reviewing the identification
of personnel in the stringent screening process on qualified
candidates. Our Human Resources Department requires
shortlisted candidates to provide valid identity documents
before confirmation of employment so as to ensure they are
lawfully employable. Upon discovery of any child labor and
use of forced labor, the person will be dismissed immediately
and the management and responsible person will be
disciplined accordingly.

The Group strictly complies with the laws and regulations in
relation to the prevention of child and forced labor, including
the Employment of Children and Young Persons Regulations
and the Employment Act of Singapore, the Employment of
Children Regulations of Hong Kong and the Provisions on
Prohibition of Child Labor of the PRC.

During the Reporting Period, no non-compliance with
relevant laws and regulations relating to preventing child and
forced labor had been identified.

OPERATING PRACTICE

5.

Supply chain management

We place a high value on maintaining a strong and
professional relationship with our major suppliers, comprising
medical device manufacturers, pharmaceutical companies
for manufacturing our DS brand skincare products, and
distributors of treatment consumables, skincare products and
medications, to ensure a high quality and safety standards.
During the Reporting Period, the Group has 10 major
suppliers which are all located in the PRC.

We developed a standardized supplier selection procedure.
Prior to establishing any long-term business relationship with
potential suppliers, due diligence is conducted to ensure
suppliers’ compliance to trade laws and regulations as well
as with the requirements within the RMH'’s Purchasing and
Procurement Policy. In the course, we consider important
factors such as history of the supplier’s quality, quantity,
delivery timing, product source, price, the supplier’s industry
reputation, and feedback from our medical specialists. Senior
management approval is required for accepting a supplier
as our recognized supplier. Our senior management reviews
our supplier regularly in light of their overall performance and
quality.
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v All our major medicine suppliers are recognized
suppliers who are qualified to offer FDA approved
medicine;

4 We have centralized our medicine procurement
activities which optimism our purchase ordering and
medicine inventory transfer among our clinics, which
further enhance our effectiveness in cost control and
medicine utilization; and

4 Our procurement activities are carried out in a
transparent, open, and fair manner that all suppliers
are treated fairly and, for major purchase, given an
equal chance to submit a quotation or proposal.

Our management team holds regularly meeting, usually
on weekly basis, for monitoring the Group’s procurement
activities. The management team usually include an Executive
Director, professional doctor, procurement manager, cost
center manager, and finance manager.

As of the issuance of this report, we have developed a
Supplier Code of Conduct which outlines the Group’s
expectations for our suppliers in terms of human rights,
labor, environmental protection, anti-corruption, ethics, and
management system compliance. We will circulate this
code of conduct to our suppliers on a rotation basis in the
future as one of the measures managing the social and
environmental risks in our supply chain.

Product responsibility
Quality Control

Dermatological and surgical specialty services, dental service
and products provided by the Group make a substantial
contribution to people’s well-being. As a result, we are
acutely aware of our obligation to provide high-quality
services and products in order to improve and maintain the
health and well-being of our patients.

We strictly comply with all relevant applicable laws, including
but not limited to the Health Products Act of Singapore,
the Poisons Act of Singapore, the Pharmacy and Poisons
Ordinance of Hong Kong and the Administrative Measures
for Aesthetic Medical Services of the PRC.
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We are dedicated to improving and advancing the quality of
our dermatological and surgical specialty service as well as
dental service on a continuous basis. In our daily operations,
we strictly monitored our operations from patient registration,
diagnosis and treatment to efficiency management. This is
clearly communicated to our staff in the Business Process
Manual, the Group’s Staff Handbook and the internal control
manual, which are reviewed regularly to ensure the policies
are up to-date. Moreover, regular meetings with frontline
staff to discuss industry best practices are scheduled by the
operations managers. The meetings may cover aspects of
administrative practices, industry case studies, and clinical
learning.

We have formulated quality standards and purchasing
guidelines in selecting and sourcing of skincare products. An
approval must be obtained from our in-house doctors prior
to the acceptance of any new over-the-counter skincare
products that our clinics will be distributing. In line with the
RMH'’s Purchasing and Procurement Policy, we have also
implemented the following quality control procedures to our
DS brand skincare products:

1. In-house doctors to perform review on the medical
journals, reports, commentaries as well as the list of
ingredients used for the new type of skincare products
to ensure the products are safe for user.

2. Management to request for few rounds of sample
testing on the new skincare products to observe the
quality consistency and to assess for potential defects.

3. Sales and operation staff to perform inspection upon
delivery of the new skincare products to ensure the
following:

° No physically damaged on the products;
o Products are not passed the expiry date;
° Private labels applied to containers are clear;

o Product specifications are tallied with agreed
format; and

° Quantity of products received are tallied with
purchase order.
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4. Sales and operation staff will perform the following
inventory monitoring procedures:

° Record the delivery and manufacturing date of
products;

° Monitor and maintain the stock level for all the
products in the inventory management system to
ensure products do not exceed the expiry date;
and

° Perform regular check on the products to ensure
products are in good condition.

During the Reporting Period, there were no reported cases
of medical supplies sold by the Group that had to be recalled
due to safety and health reasons.

Customer satisfaction

By actively engaging our clients through ratings and opinions
on Google Reviews, the Group aims to create and nurture
strong connections with them. During the Reporting Period,
we keep maintaining a satisfactory Google Reviews rating.
We have also given staff incentive to promote Google
Reviews. To obtain our clients’ opinions about our services
or skincare products, we have kept emails from Google My
Business showing Google Reviews ratings for our respective
clinics. Overall average ratings for our clinics are over 4 stars
which reflects that most of our clients are satisfied with our
services or skincare products.

We also developed Customer Complaint Policy to obtain
more comments from our clients. Our marketing manager
will be responsible for dealing with customer complaints.
The Marketing Department will investigate each complaint by
identifying potential causes. Detailed responses will be sent
to customers by our marketing manager. If necessary, we
will take corrective actions. All complaints are then properly
documented and filed for future reference and follow-up.
Complaints are examined and discussed for improvement
at the regular meetings in order to better understand how
we can improve the customer experience. Furthermore, we
decide to expand more communication channels with our
clients, including but not limited to emails, posts, suggestion
boxes placed at our clinics.
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During the Reporting Period, the Group did not receive any
significant complaints regarding product or service flaws.

Data Privacy Protection

The Group recognizes the responsibility in protecting
personal information. The Group strictly complies relevant
laws and regulations regarding data privacy, including but
not limited to the Personal Data Protection (Amendment)
Act 2020 of Singapore, Laws of Hong Kong on Personal
Data (Privacy) Ordinance, Consumer Protection Law of
the People’s Republic of China, to ensure that all data are
securely kept in our internal system with access control.

Data privacy protection measures are included in RMH’s
internal control manual. Our sales and operation staff are
responsible for safeguarding the privacy, confidentiality and
security of customer data entrusted to RMH. The Group’s
staff who will be handling personal data must adhere to
the data privacy protection measures. The Operations
Department of the Group will review the measures design
and the management team will monitor the implementation
of the measures on a regular basis. Some relevant measures
as follows:

v Ensure that personal data is not read, copied,
modified, or removed without consent during electronic
transmission, transport, or storage on a data carrier;

4 Ascertain that data acquired for various reasons will be
processed independently;

v When not in use, physical records containing personal
data are securely stored and locked;

4 Prevent unauthorized individuals from accessing data;

4 Ascertain that personal data is secured from
unintended deletion or loss; and

v Ensure that all data-storage devices are appropriately
destroyed and reformatted after each use.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of
any confidential data or information breach.
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Intellectual Property Rights

We respect intellectual property rights, such as trademarks,
patents, and copyrights, among others. The Group primarily
relies on the applicable laws and regulations on trademarks,
trade secrets as well as confidentiality agreements to protect
its intellectual property rights, including but not limited to the
Patent Act of Singapore, the Trade Marks Act of Singapore,
Trade Marks Ordinance of Hong Kong.

The Group kept a complete record of its intellectual property
rights and will seek legal advice and take appropriate action if
any of its intellectual property rights are infringed upon. If our
staff is discovered to be in violation of applicable rules and
regulations, they may not only face disciplinary action, but
they may also be prosecuted and face criminal or civil liability,
as stated in the Group’s Staff Handbook.

During the Reporting Period, we believe that we have taken
all reasonable measures to protect our intellectual property
rights and deter any such infringement. We were unaware of
any infringement (i) by us of any intellectual property rights
owned by third parties; or (i) by any third parties of any
intellectual property rights owned by us.

Advertising and Labelling

The Group recognizes the gravity of misleading health
advertisements. Therefore, the Group takes careful
precautions to prevent its patients from receiving misleading
health-related information or advice via advertisements and
poor labelling, by relying on relevant law and regulations
including but not limited to:

o The Medicines Act (Cap. 176) of Singapore;

o The Sale of Drugs Act of Singapore;

° Private Hospitals and Medical Clinics (Publicity)
Regulations of Singapore;

. The Trade Description Ordinance of Hong Kong; and

° Advertising Law of the People’s Republic of China.
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Anti-corruption

Within RMH, we contained anti-corruption provisions,
including but not limited to bribery, extortion, fraud, and
money laundering, into the Group’s Staff Handbook. Bribery,
extortion, fraud, money laundering, or other unlawful offers
are all prohibited. The Group strictly complies with all
applicable laws including but not limited to the Prevention
of Corruption Act in Singapore, the Laws of Hong Kong on
Prevention of Bribery Ordinance and the Criminal Law of the
PRC.

Soliciting, accepting, or offering any benefits, including but
not limited to gifts, coupons, and tips, from or to our clients,
suppliers, or anyone with a business relationship with the
Group is strictly banned, as stated in the Staff Handbook.
Staff are also barred from advising or dealing in any
transaction that could result in potential conflicts of interest,
and any potential conflicts of interest must be reported to
the Group’s Human Resources Department. Any breach
of behavior will result in the termination of the employment
contract or consultancy agreement (as the case may be), as
well as legal implications for the subject.

In addition, the Group has provided training regularly to all
levels of staff, including directors, superiors and general staff,
in order to equip them with an understanding of the latest
regulations and best practices relating to anti-corruption, self-
discipline, and integrity etc.

Whistle-blowing

We established our own internal Whistleblowing Policy
to support the detection of fraud and corruption risks.
The Whistleblowing Policy is implemented by the Human
Resources Department, and monitored the funds paid and
received by the Group by the Finance Department. The
Whistleblowing Policy is a critical tool for uncovering corrupt,
unlawful, or otherwise unacceptable behavior. The policy is
intended to allow employees to voice their concerns internally
and to reveal evidence that they believe demonstrates
malpractice or impropriety related to bribery, extortion, fraud,
or money laundering.
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To ensure the safety and secrecy of all whistle-blowers, the
policy specifies that if employees detect any suspicious
behavior, they should report it immediately in writing or
verbally to any of the Executive Directors. Following that,
the Executive Director and an investigating officer will handle
the situation quickly, professionally, and attentively. All of our
employees have undergone internal trainings to familiarize
themselves with the RMH’s internal Whistleblowing Policy and
thus are required to comply. This is to prevent employees
from obtaining personal interest from related parties who
have connections with RMH through bribery, extortion, and
fraud.

During the Reporting Period, the Company has engaged an
independent professional party to assist with the investigation
of a suspected misappropriation of funds by a former
executive director of the Company (the “Investigation”). Up to
the date of this ESG Report, the Investigation is still ongoing
and the Company will continue to update its shareholders
and potential investors the investigation findings as and
when appropriate and in accordance with the GEM Listing
Rules. For details of the Investigation, please refer to the
announcements of the Company dated 24 March 2023, 19
April 2023, 28 April 2023, 2 July 2023, 5 October 2023 and
5 January 2024.

Other than those disclosed above, there were no legal cases
regarding fraudulent activities and corruption practices
brought against the Group or its employees during the
Reporting Period.
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COMMUNITY

8.

Community investment

RMH has consistently been committed towards corporate
social responsibility where it aims to promote and achieve
a positive impact toward the community. We actively
participate in medical conferences, seminars and workshops
in Singapore and overseas. We encourage our in-house
doctors and staff to attend these events as guest speakers
or participants, thereby raising awareness of prevention
and treatment of dermatological conditions toward the
community. In addition, our Executive Directors have also
contributed articles to medical journals, which increases
the industry awareness of our RMH and also contributed
invaluably to consumers and professionals across the
industry.

The Group will continue to look for new ways to contribute
to the environment and work to help develop a healthy and
sustainable society.
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Environmental, Social and Governance
B - e AEREGE

ESG REPORTING GUIDE INDEX
(RE dHERERRERS) RS

General Disclosures (“GD”)/Key Description
Performance Indicators (“KPIs”)
—REE(-REE],/ it

BRENER (AREXER])

A. Environmental
A BE

Aspect A1: Emissions

EEAT R

Information on:

(@) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions,
discharges into water and land, and generation of hazardous and
non-hazardous waste.

General Disclosure

—REE BBRRERREREHN HHEKRITHAREEEEREEEEN
0
@ B R
b)) HEFHETABERZEMEREEREMNER.

KPI'A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data.

B AR 1RAL.1 PR KRR BR

KPIA1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas emissions

(in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production
volume, per facility).

B (BE1) RepREE (8E2) RERBHRE (UBHE) R (@
B)EE (WABESEN BEREHE) -

BstENIRIRAL2

KPI'A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate,
intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facilty).
ESEEEENER CAEHE) R (NER)BE (MU BES S

BERGAE)

WREUEIEALS
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Environmental - Emission

RE-H

Environmental - Emission
RIE B

Environmental - Emission
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ESG REPORTING GUIDE INDEX

(BE HEREREEE) Rl

General Disclosures (“GD”)/Key
Performance Indicators (“KPIs”)
—REE(-REE],/
BRENER ([MREEE])

KPI A1.4

MR IUEIEAT 4
KPI A1.5
BREMIEEA S
KPI A1.6

BRENIEIRALE

Aspect A2: Use of Resources

EEA2 ERER

General Disclosure

—REE

KPI A2.1

BRENERA2

KPI A2.2

BIRENIBIEA2.2

Description

i

Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate,
intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).
FESRSEENEE (SR (WER)BE (WU BES S

BEREAE)

Description of emission target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.
AT MBS B IR R AE DB L B IRATERI A 58 -

Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are handled, and
a description of reduction target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.
HLEBAERESERNNTE RERMTARERRRAES
ELEEARMA SR

Information on:

Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water and other
raw materials.

B

BREBER (BELR KREMEME) BN ER -

Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. electricity, gas or
oil) in total (KWh in "000s) and intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume,
per facility).
RENEANERER/SBZER (WE k) BFE UTETR
B E)REE (MABESEN BERETE) -

Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume,
per facility).
BRKERERE (MABESEN GERMTE) -
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ESG REPORTING GUIDE INDEX

(BE HEREREERE) Rl

General Disclosures (“GD”)/Key
Performance Indicators (“KPIs”)
—REE(-REE],/
HRENER ([MRENEE])
KPI A2.3

BRERIRIEA2S

KPI A2.4

s RAZ A

KPI A2.5

BRENEIRA2S

Description

i

Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve

them.
AT B R G A e B R A BiE e B IR TR AN 588 -

Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is fit for
purpose, water efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.
HACKEGE AR A A ERBERE - AR MR B ERRE
HELBBREME LR -

Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes) and, if
applicable, with reference to per unit produced.
HRmATABRMENER (A E) R (NER) BEEEGE-

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources

EHEA3  RERXARER

General Disclosure

—REE

KPI A3.1

BB EMIRIRASA

Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impacts on the environment
and natural resources.

BEZETAHBRRERAREREREAY EOHR -

Description of the significant impacts of activities on the environment and
natural resources and the actions taken to manage them.
HREREDHRERRRERNEAY ERERNERFHAL 2N
o

Relevant Chapter
or Remarks

HREHREE

Environmental - Use of Resource

S

RE-ERER

Environmental - Use of Resource

RE-ERER

Environmental - Use of Resource

RR-ERER

Environmental - The Environment
and Natural Resources
BE-BERAAER

Environmental — The Environment
and Natural Resources
RE-RERKAER
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ESG REPORTING GUIDE INDEX
(RS dHBRERRERS) RS

General Disclosures (“GD”)/Key
Performance Indicators (“KPIs”)
—REE(-REE],/
BRENER ([MREEE])

Aspect A4: Climate Change
EEA4: RIRZL

General Disclosure

—REE

KPI A4.1

B R EMIRIRA4

B. Social
Bitg

Employment and Labour Practices

EREREIER

Aspect B1: Employment
EmEB1 : EfE

General Disclosure

—REE

KPI B1.1

s B IEIRBI 1

Description

i

Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate-related issues
which have impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer.
BRI REHEL RS HRITAREFENEARRIEBSENEE -

Description of the significant climate-related issues which have impacted,
and those which may impact, the issuer, and the actions taken to manage
them.

BB R e HRTAELY ENERRKEMEE  REHTE-

Information on:

(@ the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to compensation and dismissal,
recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal
opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other benefits and
welfare.

BRGMRRE BERES TERE - BE TE#e 2l RE

R A R H A 5538 R g H 8 :

@ BER

b)) BETHETARERZEMBEREERBMNER.

Total workforce by gender, employment type (for example, full-or part-time),
age group and geographical region.

RIER ERED (W2RARE) FRAMNEIHINEBLE-
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ESG REPORTING GUIDE INDEX
(RE dHERERRERS) RS

General Disclosures (“GD”)/Key Description Relevant Chapter
Performance Indicators (“KPIs”) or Remarks
—REE(-REE],/ it HREGSEDT
HRENER ([MRENEE])

KPI B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical region. Social - Employment
BREBIRIERI2 BIR ERER R EE RS RALE He-ER

Aspect B2: Health and Safety
EmB2  #EHZ2

General Disclosure Information on: Social - Health and Safety
(@) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to providing a safe working
environment and protecting employees from occupational hazards
— MR ERRUZ2TERERREESBEBELREN: He-REERS
B HER
b BETHERTABEAYENEBEERADINEH -

KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of the past Social - Health and Safety
three years including the reporting year

BRBYIRIZB2.1 BEZF (BREREE)BERITHMASRILE . He-RREx:

KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. Social - Health and Safety

BiRERUEEB2.2 EIGBAXTIERS - HE-REEREZS

KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted, and how  Social - Health and Safety
they are implemented and monitored.

HRBEBIRIEB2.3 A RANRERRER2HE UEBRTREE R & He-RREZ:
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ESG REPORTING GUIDE INDEX

(BE HEREREEE) Rl

General Disclosures (“GD”)/Key
Performance Indicators (“KPIs”)
—REE(-REE],/
BRENER ([MREEE])

Aspect B3: Development and Training

EEB3 : & R

General Disclosure

—REE

KPI B3.1

B A MIRIEB3.

KPI B3.2

BRENREB32

Aspect B4: Labour Standards
[BEB4 : B TEE

General Disclosure

—RRE

KPI B4.1

BR R A MUIEIRBA

Description

i

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for discharging
duties at work. Description of training activities.

BRRTEERT IERENMBRERNBE A -

The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee category
(e.g. senior management, middle management).
RERREEER (MEREEE +RERE)ANNZIEET L -

The average training hours completed per employee by gender and
employee category.
BURIREERRIE S BAEETKEIINT RS-

Information on:
(@) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant

impact on the issuer relating to preventing child and forced labour.
BRAMILETHEHSTH:
@)  HE R
b  ETHETABEAYENEBEERAS

Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid child and
forced labour
i REEf MR B R ET KBS T
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ESG REPORTING GUIDE INDEX
(RE dHERERRERS) RS

General Disclosures (“GD”)/Key Description Relevant Chapter
Performance Indicators (“KPIs”) or Remarks
—REE(-REE],/ it HREGSEDT
HRENER ([MRENEE])

KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when discovered. Social - Labour Standards
R EYIRIEBRA2 HREERERBRRERE BB RIS 5- HE-STER

Operating Practices

EERA

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management
[BEB5 : fEEERE

General Disclosure Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply chain. Social - Supply Chain Management
—fREE ERHERNRE R eRRER- HE-fEREER
KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. Social - Supply Chain Management
B ERUEEBE. REEDOHRERSE - HE-fEREER
KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number of suppliers  Social - Supply Chain Management

where the practices are being implemented, and how they are implemented
and monitored.

R BEBIRIEBS.2 HREEEARERNEN MARTERENNRERSRE URE He-HfEEER
BRI RERT %

KPI B5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental and social risks Social - Supply Chain Management
along the supply chain, and how they are implemented and monitored.

R BEBIRIZBS.3 HREHESAEERGERTORERECEROES  ARBBRT HE-HERER
RERR .

KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote environmentally preferable Social - Supply Chain Management

products and services when selecting suppliers, and how they are
implemented and monitored

BRENIEEB54 HERERERRRERZARRERRBOEN UERHTRE He-HfEEER
EEF .
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ESG REPORTING GUIDE INDEX
(RS dHBRERRERS) RS

General Disclosures (“GD”)/Key Description Relevant Chapter
Performance Indicators (“KPIs”) or Remarks
—REE(-REE],/ it HREGSEDT

BRANER (BREXER])

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility
[EEB6 : EmER

General Disclosure Information on: Social - Product Responsibility
(@) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to health and safety, advertising,
labelling and privacy matters relating to products and services
provided and methods of redress.

—REE BBES: He-EnEf
BRAREEQRBENRRERS BE SHRRABEEURER
FER:
@ HE R

) BEBTHRTABEATENRBERRADINER-

KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for safety ~ Social - Product Responsibility
and health reasons.

RS RUE12B6.1 EEAEEREMAHTRL 2 REREAMERNKNES L - He-Emit

KPI B6.2 Number of products and service related complaints received and how they  Social - Product Responsibility
are dealt with.

B ERUEEB6.2 BREMRERRBBORFHEUREL LA - tE-EREL

KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and protecting intellectual Social - Product Responsibility
property rights.

BRERIEEB6.3 i EgERRENEEREBOED- te-EnEE

KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures. Social - Product Responsibility

MRENIEEB64 WG ERTBIERERLKER - He-Emaft

KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, and how they Social - Product Responsibility
are implemented and monitored.

BRERIEEB6.5 R EEERRERILEBEE ARBERITRERRZ- He-ERELE
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ESG REPORTING GUIDE INDEX

(BE HEREREERE) Rl

General Disclosures (“GD”)/Key
Performance Indicators (“KPIs”)
—REE(-REE],/
HRENER ([MRENEE])

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption
EmEB7 : RES

General Disclosure

—REE

KPI B7.1

BRENUERBTA

KPI B7.2

BREUEIERT .2

KPIBT7.3
BRIEAIEEBT.S

Description

i

Information on:
(@) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant

impact on the issuer relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money

laundering.
BEMLEEE DR BEFROAREN:
@ HER

) BTHRTABEATENRBALZRADINER-

Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought
against the issuer or its employees during the reporting period and the

outcomes of the cases.

RERBRHETARERERIICELNESH

DR

ARIHBE REF 1

Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing procedures, and

how they are implemented and monitored.

Rt B R R ARBERTREE -

Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and staff.

WlmESERE TRENRESHEI

Relevant Chapter
or Remarks

HREHREE

Social - Anti-corruption

HE-RES

Social - Anti-corruption

Social - Anti-corruption

Hte-RE"

Social - Anti-corruption
Hte-REAF
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ESG REPORTING GUIDE INDEX
(RS dHBRERRERS) RS

General Disclosures (“GD”)/Key
Performance Indicators (“KPIs”)
—REE(-REE],/
BRENER ([MREEE])

Community
HE

Aspect B8: Community Investment

EHEBS :#HERE

General Disclosure

Description Relevant Chapter
or Remarks
it HBRESR AT
Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the Social - Community Investment

communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its activities take into
consideration the communities” interests.

—RRE FRNHE2ERTREBMEMBERERBREEZBEDEZRAME HE-HERE
FRBEE -

KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental concerns, labour - Social - Community Investment
needs, health, culture, sport).

B ERUEEBs.1 EIERER (MHE RAFE SIFK R UL BF) - HeE-HERE

KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area. Social - Community Investment

R EYIRIZBEB.2 EEIERMBRER (WEEHKRE) He-HERE
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@L Partners

TO THE MEMBERS OF RMH HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements of RMH
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the “Group”) set out on pages 101 to 199, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2023,
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including material accounting policy
information and other explanatory information.

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements
of the Group. Because of the significance of the matter described in the
Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report, we have not been
able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for
an audit opinion on these consolidated financial statements. In all other
respects, in our opinion the consolidated financial statements have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BEFERERDARE
(REEHBAMATHHRA )
S

EEEEEZFIONE19B FTHE 2 BTk A
BAR([EARREWBAR (KBIESE
B ) zire %Rk 2iER2023F12A31H
IEAVBRRE URBEZALEFEZHRE
BakHEME2EREER GEERZHRLEA
RERERARBEERSHBERER LEM
SHEAE R 2 R A I IRER M o

EEU T BEREZGEARMBRRBERER -
HRMBESEZHRETERERZER MM
ZHE2BEN EERERSGENEEE 2EX
BRE/BEZZFEAVERREHREEER K
FBEEMSE BEER/EEVBHRRCRES
BRAGPIZHBEREZERE -
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OPINION

Scope Limitation Relating to Going Concern

We draw attention to Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements,
the Group incurred a net loss from continuing operations attributable
to owners of the Company of approximately S$6,749,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2023, and as at 31 December 2023, the Group had
net current liabilities and net liabilities of S$12,102,000 and S$12,519,000
respectively, which included financial guarantee liabilities provided for
certain deconsolidated subsidiaries in Singapore which were under
liquidation (“Singapore Liquidated Subsidiaries “) of S$4,076,000, while
the Group’s cash and cash equivalents balance was S$306,000. The
Group did not have sufficient cash and cash equivalents for immediate
settlement of financial guarantee liabilities as mentioned above.

These events and conditions indicate the existence of material
uncertainties which may cast significant doubt over the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern.

As detailed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, in view of
the above circumstances, the directors of the Company have prepared
a cash flow forecast of the Group which takes into account certain plans
and measures covering a period of not less than twelve months from
31 December 2023. The validity of the going concern assumption is
dependent on the successful and favourable outcomes of these plans
and measures, as mentioned in Note 2 to the consolidated financial
statements, being undertaken by the management of the Group.
The directors of the Company are in the opinion that, considering the
plans and measures described in Note 2 to the consolidated financial
statements which improve the liquidity and financial position of the Group,
the Group will have sufficient working capital to finance its operations and
to meet its financial obligations as and when they fall due within twelve
months from 31 December 2023 and would be able to continue as a
going concern. Accordingly, the directors of the Company prepare the
consolidated financial statements on a going concern basis.
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OPINION (Continued)

Scope Limitation Relating to Going Concern
(Continued)

The appropriateness of the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements on the going concern basis depends on whether the plans
and measures, as mentioned in Note 2 to the consolidated financial
statements, taken into account by the directors of the Company in
the going concern assessment are achievable. However, in respect of
the assumptions regarding the successful and favourable outcomes of
the plans and measures being undertaken by the management of the
Company as detailed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements,
we were unable to obtain sufficient and appropriate audit evidence
because of (i) the lack of sufficient supporting basis whether the Group
can successfully communicate with the Singapore Liquidators as well as
with the financial institutions that providing banking facilities to Singapore
Liquidated Subsidiaries to verify the obligations of the Company’s
related debt liabilities and guarantee obligations; (i) the lack of sufficient
supporting basis whether the Group can improve its operation through
streamlining its existing non-core business and assets and expansion
of new segment, so as to improve efficiency of assets utilisation and
reducing operating costs; and (i) whether the Group can successfully
pursuing alternative financing options, including plans to bring in new
investors, or to issue for debentures and notes of the Company, or to
issue for new shares of the Company, in order to settle existing debts and
for future operating and capital expenditure, in particular, the uncertainty
of outcome of those plans and measures and how variability in outcome
would affect the future cash flows of the Group.

There were no other satisfactory audit procedures that we could adopt to
conclude whether it is appropriate to use the going concern assumption
to prepare these consolidated financial statements.

Should the Group fail to achieve the plans and measures, as mentioned
in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, it might not be able to
continue to operate as a going concern, and adjustments would have to
be made to write down the carrying value of the Group’s assets to their
recoverable amounts, to provide for any further liabilities which might
arise, and to reclassify non-current assets and non-current liabilities as
current assets and current liabilities. The effect of these adjustments has
not been reflected in these consolidated financial statements.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND AUDIT
COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or
has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Audit committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the Group’s consolidated
financial statements in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and to issue an auditor’s report. We report
solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility forwards or accept liability to any other person for the
content of this report. However, because of the matters described in
the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report, we were not
able to form an audit opinion on the consolidated financial statements
due to the significant of the matters. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

CL PARTNERS CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Wong Cho Yi

Practising Certificate Number: PO7897
Hong Kong

9 April 2024
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

f 0 16 i B HL At 4 v WAL i

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # 22023412431 H1FF /&

2023
20234

S$’000
T # hn3 T

(.

2022
20224
S$'000

TR IR T

N

Continuing operations BEKSEER
Revenue e 6 3,180 4,241
Other operating income HaggA 9 361 318
Consumables and medical supplies used EREEREEREAR (1,637) (3,534)
Employee benefits expense EERAMAX (2,363) (3,221)
Amortisation of intangible assets e ER 17 (184) (184)
Depreciation of plant and equipment s MR EITE 16 (134) (128
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRHEEENS 18 (1,485) (2,033)
Other operating expenses Hibig & (1,869) (2,170)
Finance costs B 7 A AR 10 (55) (218)
Other gains and losses H e &g 1R 11 (338) (4,529)
Impairment loss on trade and other B REMEBGIEAR

receivables, and deposits, net of reversal TR EE R kR EE 20 (2,329) (1,674)
Loss before tax BRBLATE 1B 12 (6,853) (13,127)
Income tax expense SR X 13 - -
Loss for the year from continuing BERLEEBFERER

operations (6,853) (13,127)
Discontinued operations BRIEEEEK
Loss for the year from discontinued ERIEREERFRERE

operations 32 - (5,530)
Loss for the year FREE (6,853) (18,657)
Other comprehensive income: Hih 2wk
Item that may be reclassified HEWEHIEZREN

subsequently to profit or loss HAB
Exchange differences on translation on BMEGINERNEN 8

foreign operations 294 18
Other comprehensive income for the year HFRHEM2EWE 294 18
Total comprehensive expense for the year FRAZHEHAXARH (6,559) (18,639)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
fon B 1R i B LAt 2 i WAL 5 3%

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # 22023% 12431 H - F /&

2023 2022
2023F 20224F
Notes S$°000 S$’000
B &E F %7 hn 3 7o T3 a3 T
Loss for the year attributable to: ERERESE:
Owners of the Company RAREFA
— from continuing operations —RERFECEETR (6,749) (13,119
— from discontinued operations —REBRIEEEER - (5,530)
(6,749) (18,649)
Non-controlling interests FERER
— from continuing operations —REFELEE (104) @8)
(6,853) (18,657)
Total comprehensive expense for the year FE{EFERNEB XA
attributable to:
Owners of the company: AEAREBA:
— from continuing operations —REFELCEED (6,455) (13,101)
— from discontinued operations —REBRIEEEER - (5,530)
(6,455) (18,631)
Non-controlling interests FERER
— from continuing operations —REFELEER (104) @8)
(6,559) (18,639)
Basic and diluted loss per share EATEE AEMS
attributable to owners of the Company BREARBEESR
(Singapore cents) (¥ 5 ) 15
From continuing and discontinued operations REFELER
BRI E TS (0.51) (1.44)
From continuing operations REFERLEER (0.51) (1.01)
From discontinued operations REERIEREES - (0.43)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
G MBHIR &R

As at 31 December 2023 2023 12/431H

A

2023 2022
20234 20224
S$°000 S$’000
F %7 hn 3 7o T3 T
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERAE
Non-current assets FRBEE
Plant and equipment B ] 16 336 426
Intangible assets mEEE 17 420 608
Right-of-use assets REEE 18 252 2,586
Deposits b 20 - 404
Investment in a joint venture EENRIKRE 22 - -
1,008 4,024
Current assets REEE
Inventories FE 19 993 1,052
Trade and other receivables, deposits and B 5 Kk H fth FEUFRIE -
prepayment R RIARFIE 20 1,841 5,201
Financial assets at fair value through BAFER AR ([EAF
profit or loss (“FVTPL”) Bt \B&m])NeREE 23 - 1,607
Bank balances and cash RITEHR KRS 21 306 512
3,140 8,372
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade and other payables B 5 R E M e I 24 10,908 9,251
Contract liabilities aREE 25 - 12
Financial guarantee liabilities MIBEEREE 26 4,076 4,076
Lease liabilities HERE 27 258 1,616
Borrowings B 28 - 182
15,242 15,137
Net current liabilities REBEEFE (12,102 (6,765)
Total assets less current liabilities HEERRBER (11,094) 2,741)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

fon B A SR D e

As at 31 December 2023 2023 12/431H

2023 2022
20234 20224

S$’000 S$'000

T # hn3 T TR I T

Non-current liabilities FREBEE
Lease liabilities HEEE 27 - 1,062
Amount due to a related party JE 1 BB e 5 BIA 33 1,425 2,493
1,425 3,555

Net liabilities EEFH (12,519) (6,296)
EQUITY s
Capital and reserves BRI
Share capital [ 29 2,303 2,273
Reserves ] (14,710) (8,561)
Deficit attributable to owners RATEEAEGEM

of the Company (12,407) (6,288)
Non-controlling interests FERER (112) ®)
Total deficit B 4 (12,519) (6,296)

The consolidated financial statements on pages 101 to 199 were
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 9 April
2024 and are signed on its behalf by:

Mr. Poon Chun Yin
BREXE
Director

EFE

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

LIFS

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # 220231231 H I F/Z

Share

capital

B

S$'000

Share
premium

K aE

Foreign
currency
translation
reserve
HERE
1
S§'000

Reserves

Other
reserve
(Note)
Hib e
(BiraE)
S$'000

e

Share
option
reserve
BRE
it
S$'000
ko

Accumulated
losses  Sub-total
2|
S§'000
FHI%T

‘/‘{‘ﬂ N ¥

Non-
controlling
interests

FERER
S$'000

At1 January 2022 #2022 1818 1493 17,011 (18 2,165 - (16084 4,567 : 4567
Loss for the year FREER - - - - - (18,649) (18,649) ® (18,657)
Other comprehensive income for the year N 2 ERE - - 18 - - - 18 - 18
Total comprehensive income (expense) FREENE (Rx) 88

for the year - - 18 - - (18,649) (18,631) (] (18,639
Issue of shares under rights issues RE#RETRG 747 6,722 - - - - 7,469 - 7,469
Transaction costs attrioutable to issue of ~ E{TRHEIEE X BHA

shares - (217) - - - - (2 - [277)
Share-based payment recognised BRARH R - - - - 205 - 205 - 205
Cancellation of share options HiHERE - - - - (46) 46 - - -
Exercise of share options IEERE 33 393 - - (67) - 359 - 359
Effect on change of functional currency BUMsEENTE - - 14 - - (14) - - -
At 31 December 2022 and 120225128318 &

1 January 2023 20231 A18 2273 23,849 14 2,165 12 (34,701) (6,288) @ (6,296)
Loss for the year FRER - - - - - (6,749) (6,749 (104) (6,853)
Other comprehensive income for the year R E 1 2 ERE - - 204 - - - 204 - 294
Total comprehensive income (expense) FREERE (FR)

for the year ek - - 204 - - (6,749) (6,455) (104) (6,559
Exercise of share options d: e 30 372 - - 66) - 336 - 336
At 31 December 2023 202351231 B 2303 24,991 308 2165 ® @40 (12407 (12 (12519
Note: Other reserve represents the proceeds from issue of shares of Unified Front  Bff5F : E th 7% #5 Unified Front Limitedf% {5 847 7 & X

Limited to a pre-IPO investor and the difference between the share capital of
the Company issued pursuant to the reorganisation and the share capital of
Unified Front Limited acquired by the Company.

NAEEREENMT

SRIE URBEER

T 7]

M EETTHY AR A BIRE AN B 7K 2 ) U & Unified Front
Limitedfx 78 2 [ 9 Z= 8

20234F JEHi i o PRI A PR A T
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
HGolemE®R

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # 2202312431 H 1 F/&

2023 2022
2023 20224
S$°000 S$°000
T & 03K 7T TN T
Operating activities BETEE
Loss before tax from continuing and REFELERBRILE
discontinued operations B ETEHIBR T A S 18 (6,853) (18,649)
Adjustments for: B
Finance costs B 75 A AR 55 218
Depreciation of plant and equipment WE R E 134 572
Amortisation of intangible assets mIEEME 184 196
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEERE 1,485 2,990
Impairment loss on trade and other receivables, & 5 K EH {th & Ug 5178 N 4% & R (E
and deposits, net of reversal B8 Mk EE 2,329 1,674
Write off of plant and equipment 5 K % e - 1,033
Write off of inventories MigFE - 120
Write off of other receivables and deposits 8 E A FE YR IB R iR - 1,258
Gain on disposal of plant and equipment HERE & EE W (43) -
(Gain) loss on disposal of right-of-use assets RERIEELEFRAEEE
upon early termination (Yez) E518 (58) 1,569
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries through PEMBAR (BREKRIEEE
discontinued operations (Note 32) 7% k518 (Mi3E32) - 1,067
Fair value changes on financial assets at FVTPL & A F{EFF ABRNSREEN
N EEE 63 864
Financial guarantee provided for disposal MEEMBRIRENTBER
subsidiaries - 4,076
Reversal of provision of renovation upon early REKRIEAETHE RO SCERE
termination of lease arrangement - (93)
Share-based payment PARR 10 32 °F 58 - 225
Operating cash flows before working BECHPANCERERE
capital changes (2,704) (2,880)
Movements in working capital: EEELEE:
Decrease/(Increase) in inventories FERLD,(35m) 109 ®11)
Decrease/(Increase) in trade and other B 5 R HAMEWKFIE 2 e Rk
receivables, deposits and prepayment B FIER L (3 n) 1,689 (9,181)
Increase in trade and other payables B 5 N H Ath FE AT FRIEIE AN 1,699 7,610
(Decrease)/Increase in contract liabilities AHEECRD) B (12) 168
Cash from (used in) operations "LERE (A MRS 781 (5,064)
Income tax paid =ERIZECY = (22)
Net cash generated from (used in) operating E& EZE 8 (FTA)REFE
activities 781 (5,086)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
ZaBlEeha®
For the year ended 31 December 2023 # 2202312431 H 1 F/E

2023
20234

S$’000
T %703 T TFHE N T

2022
20224
S$'000

Investing activities REEE
Purchase of plant and equipment BEWE k&E (397) (1,281)
Purchase of financial assets at FVTPL BEERATEFABENESREE - (1,729)
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets at HERQAFEFT ABRD
FVTPL TRVEEMSRIA 1,544 -
Net cash outflow on disposal of subsidiaries EROEIEEEEBIE
through discontinued operations WERRMRES R F5E - (251)
Purchase of intangible assets BEEEEE (16) (45)
Proceeds from disposal of plant and equipment £ & B 5 K & & P15 2008 391 28
Net cash generated from (used in) investing REEBFRE (FTA) REFHE
activities 1,522 (3,278)
Financing activities REEE
Interest paid BEARFE 2 (84)
Repayment of borrowings EEEX (180) (536)
Repayment of lease liabilities EEHEEE (1,550) (2,845)
Repayment of finance lease liabilities EEMEHEAE - 18
Repayment to a related party EET—R@sS (1,068) -
Advanced from a related party — AR - 2,493
Net drawndown from borrowings B & SRR E A F 58 - 56
Proceeds from issuance of shares by R EEITR D PR 15 5008
rights issues - 7,469
Proceeds from issuance of shares by TERERERITIRG TS R
exercise of share options 336 359
Payment of transaction costs attributable to TATEITIRD BB R B AR
issue of shares - (277)
Net cash (used in) generated from financing B&EEE (FTA) ISR EFHE
activities (2,464) 6,653
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents RekBeFEMRLFHE (161) (1,711)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of FUREMRESEEY
the year 512 2,138
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes EREHMTE (45) 85
Cash and cash equivalents at end of FRESRBEESEEY
the year 306 512
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
%50 A 1 e A B

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # 2202312431 H 1 F/&

108

GENERAL

RMH Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated in the
Cayman lIslands as an exempted company with limited liability.
Its registered office is at Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box
2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. The principal
place of business of the Company in Hong Kong is at Room
2501, 25/F., Harbourside HQ, 8 Lam Chak Street, Kowloon Bay,
Kowloon, Hong Kong. The head office and principal place of
business of the Company in Singapore is at #17-01/02 Paragon
(Office Tower), 290 Orchard Road, Singapore 238859. It is listed on
of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“HKEX”).

The Company is an investment holding company and the principal
activities of the subsidiaries are disclosed in Note 34 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Singapore
Dollar (“S$”), which is different from the functional currency of the
Company, i.e. Hong Kong Dollar (‘HK$”).

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2023 were authorised on 9 April 2024 for issue by the
board of directors of the Company (the “Board”).

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with the applicable International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (the “IASB”). For the purpose of preparation of
the consolidated financial statements, information is considered
material if such information is reasonably expected to influence
decisions made by primary users. In addition, the consolidated
financial statements include applicable disclosures required by the
GEM Listing Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on HKEX and
by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

RMH HOLDINGS LIMITED ¢ Annual Report 2023

—R=E1E

BHERERAR ([ARANDAE—RE
eSS TNERREBR AR K
A &) A R il 9% 22 BE tb fiE A Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand
Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands ° &< 2
AEBEBNEELEME AT B NENE
B G2 A785R AR E251E 2501 = « KA Al 4
B R T NI 2 B B A #17-01/02
Paragon (Office Tower), 290 Orchard Road,
Singapore * 8 #7238859 © AN A &) 1Y & 7 B
ERGBRAT ([EAFT]) Eme

ARBBEREZERAR MBRARAEEX
AR A B 15 MR MY R34 FE

8 B 5 MR A ST ST ([ M e))
23] BARFMDEEEET ([BL))
TR

HZE2023F12 A31H L FE ML A T IEHR
REMN2024F4F0REARARNRIESRS ([&E
Eg|)EERE-

ERGARERER R

FAMBRERDREEREHENEES
(TEERS T ERBEE S ] ) R ey E A B R
M REER (TBERMBREER]) R
o mBGAMBRRAME WEER
HENGYEIZRBEFRLZIRE A
RAREHAENBER UM GREMBR
REB NGB AERF EMRREER
RAEGRPIFTARENERREER -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
&5 o A 1 Hh R P

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # 2202312431 H 1 F/E

2

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

Liquidation and deconsolidation of certain
subsidiaries operated in Singapore (“Singapore
Liquidated Subsidiaries”)

As detailed in the announcements made by the Company on 13
November 2022, 27 November 2022 and 1 December 2022, in
November 2022, the Company and certain subsidiaries operated
in Singapore (“Singapore Liquidated Subsidiaries”) received
demand letters from the United Overseas Bank and DBS Bank
Ltd. in Singapore for repayment of the outstanding borrowings
with principals and accrued interests in aggregate of approximately
S%$4,076,000 (the “Defaulted Borrowings”) in regard of the breach
of the facilities.

On 28 November 2022, the Singapore Liquidated Subsidiaries were
unable to repay the Defaulted Borrowings when due and the joint
and several interim judicial managers (the “Singapore Liquidators”)
were appointed by the High Court of Singapore and by pursuant
to written resolutions of the Singapore Liquidated Subsidiaries. The
Singapore Liquidators are empowered and authorised to exercise
all powers and entitiements of the directors of Singapore Liquidated
Subsidiaries of which the Company holds an interest, and preserve
the assets of Singapore Liquidated Subsidiaries conferred by the
Insolvency, Restructuring and Dissolution Act 2018. Consequently,
the Group had deconsolidated Singapore Liquidated Subsidiaries
as the directors of the Company considered that the Group’s
control over Singapore Liquidated Subsidiaries had been lost
at the date when the Singapore Liquidators being authorised to
exercise all powers and entitlements of the Singapore Liquidated
Subsidiaries (the “Deconsolidation Date”). Therefore, the directors
of the Company have determined to exclude the financial position,
financial results and cash flows of the Singapore Liquidated
Subsidiaries from the Group’s consolidated financial statements
from the Deconsolidation Date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 # 2202312431 H 1 F/&

2

110

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

Liquidation and deconsolidation of certain
subsidiaries operated in Singapore (“Singapore
Liquidated Subsidiaries”) (Continued)

Since the Group provided a corporate guarantee in favour of the
banks in respect of the Defaulted Borrowings granted to Singapore
Liquidated Subsidiaries of approximately S$4,076,000 up to the
Deconsolidation Date, and the Singapore Liquidated Subsidiaries
did not have sufficient assets for settlement of the Defaulted
Borrowings, and therefore, the Group has the obligations to settle
the amount in full under the financial guarantee arrangement if
the guarantees were called upon in entirety. Full provision on the
outstanding principals and accrued interests of the Defaulted
Borrowings in aggregate of approximately S$4,076,000 has been
made upon the deconsolidation of the Singapore Liquidated
Subsidiaries and as at 31 December 2023 and 2022.

On 23 March 2023, the Company received four letters from the
Judicial Managers (the “Judicial Managers”) and the provisional
liquidators (the “Provisional Liquidators”) of the Singapore
Liquidated Subsidiaries, pursuant to which the Judicial Managers
and the Provisional Liquidators demanded the Company and
certain subsidiaries of the Company in Hong Kong, namely, RMH
(Hong Kong) Holdings Limited, RMH Imaging Limited and DS
Regenerative Medicine Limited, to pay an aggregate outstanding
amount of approximately S$6,600,000 to the creditors of
Singapore Liquidated Subsidiaries. The Group is under negotiation
on the amount outstanding for settlement. In October 2023, the
Company received a petition from Dermatology & Surgery Clinic
Pte Ltd (In Liguidation) filed with the High Court of The Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region (the “High Court”) that the Company
may be wound up by the High Court under the provisions of the
Companies (Winding Up and Miscellaneous Provision) Ordinance
(Chapter 32 of the Laws of Hong Kong) on the ground that the
Company is unable to pay its debts (detailed in the announcement
made by the Company on 17 October 2023). The hearing before
Companies Judge at the High Court was adjourned to 15 April
2024. The directors of the Company are of the opinion that the
liabilities for settlement amounted to approximately S$4,768,000
(which has netted off the amounts due from the Singapore
Liquidated Subsidiaries to the Group) and adequate provision has
been made and recorded in other payables as at 31 December
2023 and 2022.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
&5 o A 1 Hh R P

For the year ended 31 December 2023 &, 22023412531 H 1F F/Z

2

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

Going concern

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group has incurred
a net loss from continuing operations attributable to owners of
the Company of S$6,749,000; and as at 31 December 2023,
the Group’s current liabilities exceeded its current assets by
S$$12,102,000. The financial guarantee provided to the Singapore
Liquidated Subsidiaries amounted to approximately S$4,076,000
were recognised as current liabilities as at 31 December 2023. As
at 31 December 2023, the Group has cash and cash equivalents
of approximately of $$306,000, and it indicated that the Group did
not have sufficient cash and cash equivalents to settle the financial
guarantee when they call for immediate repayment.

These events and conditions indicate the existence of material
uncertainties which may cast significant doubt over the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern, and therefore, it may be
unable to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal
course of business.

In view of such circumstances, the directors of the Company have
given careful consideration to the future liquidity and performance
of the Group and its available sources of financing in assessing
whether the Group will have sufficient financial resources to
continue as a going concern. The directors of the Company has
prepared the cash flow forecast for 12 months after the end of the
reporting period and incorporated certain plans and measures as
stated below. Certain measures have been taken to mitigate the
liquidity pressure and to improve its financial position which include,
but are not limited to, the following:

° The Group will actively communicate with the Singapore
Liquidators as well as with the financial institutions that
providing banking facilities to Singapore Liquidated
Subsidiaries in order to further and thoroughly verify the
obligations of the Company’s related debt liabilities and
guarantee obligations;

° The Group will improve its operation through streamlining its
existing non-core business and assets and expansion of new
segment, so as to improve efficiency of assets utilisation and
reducing operating costs; and
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

Going concern (Continued)

° The Group is actively pursuing alternative financing options,
including plans to bring in new investors, or to issue for
debentures and notes of the Company, or to issue for new
shares of the Company, in order to settle existing debts and
for future operating and capital expenditure.

The directors of the Company taking into account the above-
mentioned plans and measures are of the opinion that the Group
will have sufficient working capital to finance its operations and to
meet its financial obligations as and when they fall due within the
next twelve months from the date of approval of these consolidated
financial statements. Accordingly, the directors of the Company are
satisfied that it is appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial
statements on a going concern basis.

Should the Group be unable to continue as going concern,
adjustments would have to be made to write down the carrying
value of the assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide for
any further liabilities which might arise and to classify non-current
assets and liabilities as current assets and liabilities respectively.
The effects of these potential adjustments have not been reflected
in these consolidated financial statements.
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ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

New and amendments to IFRSs that are
effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following new and
amendments to IFRSs issued by the IASB for the first time, which
are mandatorily effective for the Group’s annual period beginning
on 1 January 2023 for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements:

IFRS 17 (including the June Insurance Contracts
2020 and December 2021
Amendments to IFRS 17)

Amendments to IAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates

Amendments to IAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction

Amendments to IAS 12 International Tax Reform-
Pillar Two model Rules
Amendments to IAS 1 and Disclosure of Accounting Policies

IFRS Practice Statement 2

Except as described below, the application of the other new and
amendments to IFRSs in the current year has had no material
impact on the Group’s financial positions and performance for the
current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.
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ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (Continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to IAS
1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2 Disclosure of
Accounting Policies

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in
the current year. IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements is
amended to replace all instances of the term “significant accounting
policies” with “material accounting policy information”. Accounting
policy information is material if, when considered together with
other information included in an entity’s financial statements, it can
reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the primary
users of general purpose financial statements make on the basis of
those financial statements.

The amendments also clarify that accounting policy information
may be material because of the nature of the related transactions,
other events or conditions, even if the amounts are immaterial.
However, not all accounting policy information relating to material
transactions, other events or conditions is itself material. If an entity
chooses to disclose immaterial accounting policy information,
such information must not obscure material accounting policy
information.

IFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements (the
“Practice Statement”) is also amended to illustrate how an entity
applies the “four-step materiality process” to accounting policy
disclosures and to judge whether information about an accounting
policy is material to its financial statements. Guidance and
examples are added to the Practice Statement.

The application of the amendments has had no material impact on
the Group’s financial positions and performance but has affected
the disclosure of the Group’s accounting policies set out in Note
4 to the consolidated financial statements. In accordance with the
guidance set out in the amendments, accounting policy information
that is standardised information, or information that only duplicates
or summarises the requirements of the IFRSs, is considered
immaterial accounting policy information and is no longer disclosed
in the notes to the consolidated financial statements so as not to
obscure the material accounting policy information disclosed in the
notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to IFRSs in issue but not yet
effective

The Group has not early applied the following amendments to
IFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

Amendments to IFRS 10
and IAS 28

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture’

Amendments to IFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback?

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current?

Non-current Liabilities with

Amendments to IAS 1

Amendments to IAS 1

Covenants?
Amendments to IAS 7 and Supplier Finance Arrangements?
IFRS 7

Amendments to IAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability®

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be

determined.
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024.
s Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of
all amendments to IFRSs will have no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING INFORMATION

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments that
are measures at fair value at the end of each reporting period, as
explained in the material accounting information set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that
price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability,
the Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or
liability if market participants would take those characteristics into
account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement
date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in
these consolidated financial statements is determined on such a
basis, except for share-based payment transactions that are within
the scope of IFRS 2 Share-based Payments, leasing transactions
that are within the scope of IFRS 16 Leases, and measurements
that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such
as net realisable value in IAS 2 Inventories or value in use in IAS 36
Impairment of Assets.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value adjustments
are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which
the inputs to the fair value adjustments are observable and the
significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its
entirety which are described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can
access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included
within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly or indirectly; and

° Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING INFORMATION
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities (including structured
entities) controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is
achieved when the Company:

° has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power over the investee to affect its
returns.

The Company reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or
more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Company obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Company loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Company gains control
until the date when the Company ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a
deficit balance.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements
of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line with the
Group’s accounting policies.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group
are eliminated in full on consolidation.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING INFORMATION
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets and
liabilities of that subsidiary are derecognised. A gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as the difference
between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration
received and the fair value of any retained interest and (iij the
carrying amount of the assets, and liabilities of the subsidiary
attributable to the owners to the Company. All amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to that
subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another
category of equity as specified or permitted by applicable IFRSs).

Discontinued operations

A discontinued operation is a component of the Group’s business,
the operations and cash flows of which can be clearly distinguished
from the rest of the Group and which represents a separate major
line of business or geographical area of operations, or is part of
a single coordinated plan to dispose of a separate major line of
business or geographical area of operations, or is a subsidiary
acquired exclusively with a view to resale.

Classification as a discontinued operation occurs upon disposal or
when the operation meets the criteria to be classified as held for
sale, if earlier. It also occurs if the operation is abandoned.

Where an operation is classified as discontinued, a single amount is
presented on the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, which comprises:

- the post-tax profit or loss of the discontinued operation; and

= the post-tax gain or loss recognised on the measurement to
fair value less costs to sell, or on the disposal, of the assets
or disposal group(s) constituting the discontinued operation.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING INFORMATION
(Continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the Group’s
consolidated statement of financial position when the Group
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts with
customers which are initially measured in accordance with IFRS 15.
Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or
issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial
asset at FVTPL) are added to or deducted from the fair value of
the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition
of financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised
and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the time frame established by regulation or
convention in the market place.

All recognised financial assets are measured subsequently in their
entirety at either amortised cost or fair value, depending on the
classification of the financial assets.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING INFORMATION
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification of financial assets

Debt instruments that meet both of the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows; and

the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

And all other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group may make the following
irrevocable election/designation at initial recognition of a financial
asset:

the Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent
changes in fair value of an equity investment in other
comprehensive income if certain criteria are met; and

the Group may irrevocably designate a debt investment that
meets the amortised cost or FVTOCI criteria as measured
at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an
accounting mismatch.

All recognised financial assets that are within the scope of IFRS 9
(including trade and other receivables, deposits and cash and cash
equivalents) are subsequently measured at amortised costs.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING INFORMATION
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Amortised cost and effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating interest
income over the relevant period.

For financial instruments other than purchased or originated credit-
impaired financial assets, the effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all
fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the
effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or
discounts) excluding expected credit losses, through the expected
life of the debt instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter period,
to the gross carrying amount of the debt instrument on initial
recognition. For purchased or originated credit-impaired financial
assets, a credit-adjusted effective interest rate is calculated by
discounting the estimated future cash flows, including expected
credit losses, to the amortised cost of the debt instrument on initial
recognition.

The amortised cost of a financial asset is the amount at which
the financial asset is measured at initial recognition minus the
principal repayments, plus the cumulative amortisation using the
effective interest method of any difference between that initial
amount and the maturity amount, adjusted for any loss allowance.
On the other hand, the gross carrying amount of a financial asset
is the amortised cost of a financial asset before adjusting for any
allowance.

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method
for debt instruments measured subsequently at amortised cost.
For financial instruments other than purchased or originated credit-
impaired financial assets, interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial
asset, except for financial assets that have subsequently become
credit-impaired. For financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying
the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial
asset. If, in subsequent reporting periods, the credit risk on the
credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that the financial
asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of
the financial asset.

Interest income is recognised in profit or loss and is included in the
“Other operating income” line item.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING INFORMATION
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured at
amortised cost or FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end of
the reporting period, with any fair value gains or losses recognised
in profit or loss to the extent they are not part of a designated
hedging relationship. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or
loss includes any dividend or interest earned on the financial asset
and is included in the “Other operating expenses” line item.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses
(“ECLs”) on financial assets which are subject to impairment under
IFRS 9 (including trade and other receivables, deposits and cash
and cash equivalents). The amount of expected credit losses is
updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk
since initial recognition of the respective financial instrument.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables.
The expected credit losses on these financial assets are estimated
using a provision matrix based on the Group’s historical credit
loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment of both
the current as well as the forecast direction of conditions at the
reporting date, including time value of money where appropriate.

For all other financial assets measured at amortised cost, the
Group recognises lifetime ECL when there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition. If, on the other
hand, the credit risk on the financial instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group measures the loss
allowance for that financial instrument at an amount equal to
12-months ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should
be recognised is based on significant increases in the likelihood
or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition instead of on
evidence of a financial asset being credit-impaired at the reporting
date or an actual default occurring.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING INFORMATION
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Lifetime ECL represents the expected credit losses that will result
from all possible default events over the expected life of a financial
instrument. In contrast, 12-months ECL represents the portion
of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events on a
financial instrument that are possible within 12 months after the
reporting date.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has
increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In making this
assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort. Forward-looking information considered
includes the future prospects of the industries in which the Group’s
debtors operate as well as consideration of various external
sources of actual and forecast economic information that related to
the Group’s core operations.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when
assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition:

° existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or
economic conditions that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating performance or results of the debtor; and

° an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory or economic environment of the debtor that results
in a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING INFORMATION
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group
presumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual payments
are generally more than 30 days past due, unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information that demonstrates
otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk
on a financial instrument has not increased significantly since
initial recognition if the financial instrument is determined to have
low credit risk at the reporting date. A financial instrument is
determined to have low credit risk if i) the financial instrument has a
low risk of default, i) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term and iii) adverse
changes in economic and business conditions in the longer term
may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to
fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used
to identify whether there has been a significant increase in credit
risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are
capable of identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event of
default for internal credit risk management purposes as historical
experience indicates that receivables that meet either of the
following criteria are generally not recoverable.

o information developed internally or obtained from external
sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its
creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into
account any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that default
has occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days past
due based on factors considered such as past payment history,
ongoing business dealings, settlement arrangements and financial
status of the debtor, being reasonable and supportable information
to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is more
appropriate.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING INFORMATION
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that
have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of
that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset
is credit-impaired includes observable data about the following
events:

a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower; or
b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event; or

C) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual
reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, having
granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s)
would not otherwise consider; or

d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

€) the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset
because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial difficulty and
there is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the counterparty
has been placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings and there is no realistic prospect of recovery. Financial
assets written off may still be subject to enforcement activities
under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account legal
advice where appropriate. Any recoveries made are recognised in
profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of expected credit losses

The measurement of expected credit losses is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of
the loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given default is
based on historical data adjusted by forward-looking information
as described above. As for the exposure at default, for financial
assets, this is represented by the assets’ gross carrying amount at
the reporting date.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING INFORMATION
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of expected credit losses
(Continued)

For financial assets, the expected credit loss is estimated as the
difference between all contractual cash flows that are due to the
Group in accordance with the contract or invoice and all the cash
flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the original
effective interest rate.

For a financial guarantee, the Group is required to make payments
only in the event of a default by the debtor in accordance with the
terms of the instrument that is guaranteed. Accordingly, the ECL
is the present value of the expected payments to reimburse the
holder for a credit loss that incur less any amounts that the Group
expects to receive from the holder, the debtor, or any other party.

Where lifetime ECL is measured on a collective basis to cater for
cases where evidence of significant increases in credit risk at the
individual instrument level may not yet be available, the financial
instruments are grouped on the following basis:

° Nature of financial instruments (i.e. the Group’s trade
receivables are each assessed as a separate group or
individual basis.);

° Past-due status;
° Nature or industry of debtors; and
. External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is reviewed periodically by management to ensure
the constituents of each group continue to share similar credit risk
characteristics.

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a financial
instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL in the previous
reporting period, but determines at the current reporting date
that the conditions for lifetime ECL are no longer met, the Group
measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to 12-months
ECL at the current reporting date.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING INFORMATION
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of expected credit losses
(Continued)

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss
for all financial instruments with a corresponding adjustment to their
carrying amount through a loss allowance account.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. If the
Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred
asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in the asset and
an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group
retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a
transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the
financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for
the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost,
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of
the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or
loss.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are classified
as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities.
Equity instruments issued by a group entity are recognised at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING INFORMATION
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables, amount due
to a related party and borrowings are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer
to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it
incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payments when
due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. Financial
guarantee liabilities are measured initially at their fair values. It is
subsequently measured at the higher of:

- the amount of the loss allowance determined in accordance
with IFRS 9; and

- the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate,
cumulative amortisation recognised over the guarantee
period.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
(including all fees paid or received that form an integral part of
the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums
or discounts) through the expected life of the financial liability, or,
where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on
initial recognition.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or they expire.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised
in profit or loss.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING INFORMATION
(Continued)

Plant and equipment

Plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of the asset and the estimated cost of asset retirement.
The cost of replacing part of an item of plant and equipment is
recognised in the carrying amount of the item if it is probable that
the future economic benefits embodies within the part will flow to
the Group and its cost can be measured reliably. The costs of the
repair and maintenance of plant and equipment are recognised as
expense in the profit or loss as incurred.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of items of
plant and equipment, less their residual values over their estimated
useful lives, using the straight line method. The estimated useful
lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the
end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or
when no future economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal
or retirement of an item of plant and equipment is determined as
the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount
of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost comprises direct labour costs and those overheads that have
been incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location
and condition. Cost of inventories are determined on a weighted
average basis. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling
price for inventories in the ordinary course of business less all
estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to make the
sale.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and
less any impairment loss. Cost includes professional fees and other
directly attributable costs of developing the software for its intended
use. Intangible assets with finite useful lives are amortised on a
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The estimated
useful life and amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being
accounted for on a prospective basis.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING INFORMATION
(Continued)

Impairment of plant and equipment, right-of-
use assets and intangible assets with finite
useful lives

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets with finite useful lives to determine whether there
is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment
loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of
the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the
impairment loss (if any). When it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (‘CGU") to
which the asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent basis
of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated
to individual cash-generating units (“CGUS”) or otherwise they are
allocated to the smallest group of CGUs for which a reasonable
and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-
tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the
time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which
the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or CGU) is estimated to be
less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or
CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

For corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which cannot
be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis to a CGU,
the Group compares the carrying amount of a group of CGUs,
including the carrying amounts of the corporate assets or portion
of corporate assets allocated to that group of CGUs, with the
recoverable amount of the group of CGUs. In allocating the
impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated to the assets on
a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the
unit or the group of CGUs. The carrying amount of an asset is not
reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal (if
measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount
of the impairment loss that would otherwise have been allocated to
the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit or the
group of CGUs. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in
profit or loss.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING INFORMATION
(Continued)

Impairment of plant and equipment, right-of-
use assets and intangible assets with finite
useful lives (Continued)

When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a CGU) is increased to the revised estimate
of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the
asset (or CGU) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation
(legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that
the Group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the
consideration required to settle the present obligation at the end of
the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation. When a provision is measured using the
cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying
amount is the present value of those cash flows (when the effect of
the time value of money is material).

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle
a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, a
receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that
reimbursement will be received and the amount of the receivable
can be measured reliably.

Investment in a joint venture

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have
joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of the
joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing
of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions
about the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the
parties sharing control.

The results and assets and liabilities of joint ventures are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using the
equity method of accounting.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING INFORMATION
(Continued)

Investment in a joint venture (Continued)

Under the equity method, an investment in a joint venture is
recognised initially in the consolidated statement of financial
position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s
share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the
joint venture. When the Group’s share of losses of a joint venture
exceeds the Group’s interest in that joint venture (which includes
any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s
net investment in the joint venture), the Group discontinues
recognising its share of further losses. Additional losses are
recognised only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or
constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the joint
venture.

An investment in a joint venture is accounted for in the consolidated
financial statements using the equity method from the date on
which the investee becomes a joint venture.

The requirements of IAS 36 are applied to determine whether it
is necessary to recognise any impairment loss with respect to
the Group’s investment in a joint venture. When necessary, the
entire carrying amount of the investment is tested for impairment
in accordance with IAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its
recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value less
costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any impairment loss
recognised is not allocated to any asset that forms part of the
carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment
loss is recognised in accordance with IAS 36 to the extent that the
recoverable amount of the investment subsequently increases.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING INFORMATION
(Continued)

Investment in a joint venture (Continued)

The Group discontinues the use of the equity method from the
date when the investment ceases to be a joint venture. When
the Group retains an interest in the former joint venture and the
retained interest is a financial asset, the Group measures the
retained interest at fair value at that date and the fair value is
regarded as its fair value on initial recognition in accordance with
IFRS 9. The difference between the carrying amount of the joint
venture at the date the equity method was discontinued, and the
fair value of any retained interest and any proceeds from disposing
of a part interest in the joint venture is included in the determination
of the gain or loss on disposal of the joint venture. In addition, the
Group accounts for all amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to that joint venture on the
same basis as would be required if that joint venture had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or
loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income by that
joint venture would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal
of the related assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or
loss from equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification adjustment)
when the joint venture is disposed of.

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in a joint venture
but the Group continues to use the equity method, the Group
reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion of the gain or loss that
had previously been recognised in other comprehensive income
relating to that reduction in ownership interest if that gain or loss
would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related
assets or liabilities.

When a Group entity transacts with a joint venture of the Group,
profits and losses resulting from the transactions with the joint
venture are recognised in the Group’s consolidated financial
statements only to the extent of interests in the joint venture that
are not related to the Group.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING INFORMATION
(Continued)

Leases
Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right
to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in
exchange for consideration.

The Group as lessee

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease, at
inception of the contract based on the definition under IFRS 16.
The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a corresponding
lease liability with respect to all lease arrangements in which it is the
lessee, except for short-term leases (defined as leases with a lease
term of 12 months or less from the commencement date of lease
arrangement and do not contain a purchase option). For short-term
leases, the Group recognises the lease payments as an operating
expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease unless
another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern
in which economic benefits from the leased assets are consumed.

Lease Liabilities

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the
lease payments that are not paid at the commencement date,
discounted by using the rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot
be readily determined, the lessee uses its incremental borrowing
rate at the lease commencement date.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability
comprise:

° Fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

o The amount expected to be payable by the lessee under
residual value guarantees; and

° Payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease
term reflects the exercise of an option to terminate the lease.

The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the consolidated
statement of financial position.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING INFORMATION
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as lessee (Continued)

The lease liability is subsequently measured at amortised cost
using effective interest method by increasing the carrying amount
to reflect interest on the lease liability and netting off with lease
payments made.

The Group remeasures the lease liability (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use asset)
whenever:

° The lease term has changed or there is a significant event
or change in circumstances resulting in a change in the
assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which case
the related lease liability is remeasured by discounting the
revised lease payments using a revised discount rate at the
date of reassessment.

° The lease payments change due to changes in an index or
rate or a change in expected payment under a guaranteed
residual value, in which cases the related lease liability is
remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using
an initial discount rate (unless the lease payments change is
due to a change in a floating interest rate, in which case a
revised discount rate is used).

° When a lease contract is modified, and the lease modification
is not accounted for as a separate lease, in which case,
the related lease liability is remeasured based on the lease
term of the modified lease by discounting the revised lease
payments using a revised discount rate at the effective date
of the modification.

Right-of-use assets

The right-of-use assets comprise (i) the initial measurement of the
corresponding lease liability; (i) lease payments made at or before
the commencement day, less any lease incentives received; (i) and
any initial direct costs. They are subsequently measured at cost
less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING INFORMATION
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as lessee (Continued)

Whenever the Group incurs an obligation for costs to dismantle
and remove a leased asset, restore the site on which it is located
or restore the underlying asset to the condition required by the
terms and conditions of the lease, a provision is recognised and
measured under IAS 37. To the extent that the costs relate to a
right-of-use asset, the costs are included in the related right-of-use
asset.

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under IFRS 9 and
initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial
recognition are considered as additional lease payments and
included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter period of
lease term and useful life of the underlying asset on a straight-line
method at the commencement date of the lease.

The right-of-use assets are presented as a separate line in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group applies IAS 36 to determine whether a right-of-use
asset is impaired and accounts for any identified impairment loss
as described in the Impairment of plant and equipment, right-of-
use assets and intangible assets with finite useful lives policy.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING INFORMATION
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as lessor

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance
or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the underlying
assets to the lessee, the contract is classified as a finance lease. All
other leases are classified as operating leases.

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, it accounts for the head
lease and the sublease as two separate contracts. The sublease is
classified as a finance or operating lease by reference to the right-
of-use asset arising from the head lease, not with reference to the
underlying asset.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-
line basis over the term of the relevant lease in profit or loss. Initial
direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating
lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and
recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Foreign currency transactions and translation

The individual financial statements of each Group entity are
measured and presented in the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (its functional currency).

In preparing the financial statements of the individual group entities,
transactions in currencies other than the entity’s functional currency
(foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchange
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At the end of each
reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing that date. Non-monetary
items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are not retranslated. When a fair value gain or loss on a
non-monetary item is recognised in profit or loss, any exchange
component of that gain or loss is also recognised in profit or loss.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items,
and on retranslation of monetary items are included in profit or loss
for the period in which they arise.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING INFORMATION
(Continued)

Foreign currency transactions and translation
(Continued)

For the purpose of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of the
Group at exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting
period. Income and expense items are translated at the average
exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate
significantly during that period, in which case the exchange rates
at the dates of the transactions are used. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in a foreign currency translation reserve (attributed to
non-controlling interests as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, disposal of the
Group’s entire interest in a foreign operations, or a disposal
involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign
operation), all of the exchange differences accumulated in equity
in respect of that operation attributable to owners of the Company
are reclassified to profit or loss.

If the Group’s presentation currency is different from the
Company’s functional currency, exchange differences relating to the
retranslation of the Group’s net assets to the Group’s presentation
currency are recognised directly in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in foreign currency translation reserve are not
reclassified to profit or loss subsequently.

The change in functional currency of the Company was applied
prospectively from the date of change. All items were translated
into HK$ at the exchange rate on that date. The cumulative
currency translation differences which had arisen from the
translation of foreign operations up to the date of the change in
functional currency were not reclassified from equity to profit or loss
until the disposal of the relevant operations.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING INFORMATION
(Continued)

Borrowings costs

All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they are incurred.

Revenue recognition

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when control of a promised goods or
service is transferred to a customer.

The Group recognises revenue from the following major sources:

Trading sales, sales of dental implant and oral healthcare-
related products

Revenue from trading sales, the sales of dental implant and oral
healthcare-related products (“Sales of Healthcare Products”) is
recognised at the point in time when the control of the goods
has transferred, being at the point the goods are delivered to the
customer. Delivery occurs when the goods have been shipped to
the customer’s specific location.

Rendering orthodontics and implantology services

Revenue from orthodontics and implantology services (“Dental
Services”) is recognised over time, using an output method to
measure progress towards complete satisfaction of the services.
The progress is measured based on the Group’s stage of each
services provided. Payment is received upfront from patient and
recognised as contract liabilities at consolidated statement of
financial position as at the date payment received.

Income from franchised oral and dental clinics

Revenue from franchisee is recognised over time, using an output
method to measure progress towards complete satisfaction of the
services. The progress is measured based on the franchisee’s stage
of each services provided. The Group receives the entire sales
proceeds from ultimate customers on behalf of the franchisee and
reimburse the sales proceeds back to franchisee after deducting
certain percentage of sales proceeds.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING INFORMATION
(Continued)

Contract assets and contract liabilities

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to consideration in
exchange for goods or services that the Group has transferred to a
customer that is not yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment
in accordance with IFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable represents the
Group’s unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only the passage
of time is required before payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration from the customer.

For a single contract with the customer, either a net contract
asset or a net contract liability is presented. For multiple contracts,
contract assets and contract liabilities of unrelated contracts are
not presented on a net basis.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic
basis over the periods in which the Group recognises as expenses
the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate.

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching
to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no future related
costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
become receivable.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING INFORMATION
(Continued)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit/(loss) differs from ‘profit/(loss) before tax’ as
reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income because of items of income or expense
that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are
never taxable or deductible. The Group’s current tax liability is
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted in countries where the Company and subsidiaries operate
by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax
assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will
be available against which those deductible temporary differences
can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor
the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised on taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and investment
in a joint venture, except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments are only recognised to the extent
that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against
which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they
are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING INFORMATION
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are attributable
to the lease liabilities, the Group applies IAS 12 /ncome Taxes
requirements to the leasing transaction as a whole. Temporary
differences relating to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are
assessed on a net basis. Excess of depreciation on right-of-use
assets over the lease payments for the principal portion of lease
liabilities resulting in net deductible temporary differences.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled
or the asset is realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the
Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or
settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss.

Retirement benefits costs

Payments to defined contribution plan are recognised as an
expense when employees have rendered service entiting them to
the contributions.

Short-term benefits

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees in
respect of wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave in the
period that related services is rendered at the undiscounted amount
of the benefits expected to be paid in exchange for that service.
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4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING INFORMATION
(Continued)

Share-based payments
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
Share options granted to employees

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others
providing similar services are measured at the fair value of the
equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments
determined at the grant date without taking into consideration
all non-market vesting conditions is expensed on a straight-line
basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of
equity instruments that will eventually vest, with a corresponding
increase in equity (share option reserve). At the end of each
reporting period, the Group revises its estimation of the number of
equity instruments expected to vest based on assessment of all
relevant non-market vesting conditions. The impact of the revision
of the original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such
that the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with a
corresponding adjustment to the share option reserve. For share
options that vest immediately at the date of grant, the fair value of
the shares options granted is expensed immediately to profit or
loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount preciously
recognised in share option reserve will be transferred to share
premium account. When the share options are forfeited after the
vesting date or still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount
previously recognised in the share option reserve will be transferred
to accumulated losses.

When shares granted are vested, amount previously recognised in
share option reserve will be transferred to share premium account.

Cash and Cash Equivalents in the Consolidated
Statement of Cash Flows

Cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated statement of
cash flows comprise cash on hand and at bank that are readily
convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s material accounting information,
which are described in Note 4, management is required to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions
are based on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if
the revision affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying the group’s
accounting policies

Management is of the opinion that any instances of application of
judgements are not expected to have a significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements (apart
from those involving estimates, which are dealt with below).

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following is the key assumptions concerning the future, and
other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of each
reporting period that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets within the next twelve
months.
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5

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

i)

i)

Impairment of trade and other receivables, and deposits

The Group records any ECLs on its trade and other
receivables based on the likelihood of default. During the
year, the Group carried out a review of the recoverability
of trade and other receivables, and deposits taking into
consideration the profile of debtors, period that the amounts
were past due, as well as results of any collection efforts to
determine if any credit loss allowance is required. This led to
the recognition of provision of expected credit loss of trade
and other receivables, and deposits for continuing operations
of $$2,329,000 (2022: S$1,674,000) in profit or loss.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade and other
receivables, and deposits at the end of the reporting period
are disclosed in Note 20.

Impairment of carrying amount of plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets

Given that continuing losses incurred for the years ended
31 December 2023 and 2022 respectively, the Group
considered the impairment indicator exists for Hong Kong
business. The Group performed the impairment assessment
of the cash generating units (“CGUs”) where the plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets belong
to by assessing the recoverable amount of the CGUs which
is the higher of the value-in-use (“VIU”) and fair value less
cost of disposal. The Group estimated the VIU by making an
estimate of the expected future cash flows from CGUs and
also applying a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the
present value of those cash flows. There is no recognition
impairment loss for continuing operations on plant and
equipment for the years ended 31 December 2023 and
2022.
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6 REVENUE 6

Revenue analysis

Revenue represents the net amounts received and receivable for
goods sold arising from trading of healthcare and medical products,
dental services rendered by the Group and sales of dental implant
and oral healthcare-related products in normal course of business
to outside customers and income from franchised oral and dental
clinics. The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue from its
major business activities:

Continuing operations
A disaggregation of the Group’s revenue is as follows:

Uy

Wy 2 2 #

WA ARER —REFBERINEE
FHERERBEREM RETHRSE -
HERAE T R O R AR R E @A R RF
e B2 5F B4 22 P W i P E A B B U K% B MK
EnHEFR- ATRAKREREETE
EE Il e e ki

FRRERB
AEBWRSFWT

2023
2023F

2022
20224
S$'000

T3 a3 T

S$’000
T # b0 T

Types of services and goods: B 7% K s an B A -
Dental services FRIRTE 1,632 216
Sales of dental implant and oral SHEBE T RO BRRE
healthcare-related products MHRAE M@ 246 91
Income from franchised oral and dental clinics & O 2 & 7F &2 Al 25 161 608
Trading sales B H5HE 1,141 3,326
Total HBEt 3,180 4,241
Timing of revenue recognition: TR U H B R
At a point in time F 3 Iy P 2 1,387 3,417
Over time R — B 1,793 824
Total “Et 3,180 4,241

Discontinued operations

2023 2022
2023%F 20224
S$°000 S$’000
T 57 N3 T FH: N T
Types of services: PR 75 X5 5 -

Healthcare services B RTS - 9,004
Trading sales B S5HE - 30
Total #Et - 9,034

Timing of revenue recognition: T RR M A A B ] -
At a point in time A SR ] 2 - 30
Over time Y — ER R ] - 9,004
Total HBET - 9,034
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7

OPERATING SEGMENTS FOR CONTINUING
OPERATIONS

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business
units based on their services, and has two reportable segments for
continuing operations as follows:

Dental business; and
i, Trading sales.

Dental business relates to revenue from orthodontics and
implantology services, sales of related products and income from
franchised oral and dental clinics.

Trading sales relates to supplies of health supplement products and
medical products including hand sanitiser, disposal medical mask
and other medical products.

Management monitors the operating results of the business
segments separately for the purposes of making decisions
about resources to be allocated and of assessing performance.
Information is reported to the executive directors of the Company,
being the chief operating decision maker (“CODM”) of the
Group, for the purposes of resource allocation and performance
assessment. The CODM reviews the segment performance based
on operating profit or loss which is similar to the accounting profit
or loss.

Segment results include items directly attributable to a segment
as well as those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis.
Unallocated expense and income comprise of expense and
other sources of income which are not directly attributable to the
identified segments.

Intersegment sales and transfers are on terms’ agreement in
a manner similar to transactions with third parties at the then
prevailing market prices. Segment revenue, expenses and results
include transfers between business segments. These transfers are
eliminated on consolidation.
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7

OPERATING SEGMENTS FOR CONTINUING
OPERATIONS (Continued)

Segment results

Continuing operations

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by
reportable segments:

For the year ended 31 December 2023

FECEXBNEED T (8

o ERELE

BESERY
UTABIEA 2Ry B RSB W LA
TER B 4T

B F2023F 1231 HIFFE

Dental Trading
business sales Total

LR E S BEHHE Mgt
$$°000 $$°000 $$°000

FHMFT TFTHMKT FHMET

Revenue I &=

External customers INRE 2,039 1,141 3,180
Segment revenue 2B = 2,039 1,141 3,180
Consumables and medical supplies used B FJE 5 & 5 E A Hm (824) (813) (1,637)
Segment profit 53 &#B i A 1,215 328 1,543
For the year ended 31 December 2022 B 22020F12H31H 1F F /&

Dental Trading
business sales

FRER HHHE
$$'000 S$'000

THBOT  TEIKRITT TEIET

Revenue Wz

External customers IR 915 3,326 4,241

Segment revenue 7 BUk = 915 3,326 4,241

Consumables and medical supplies used  © FAH #E 50 M 58 & 5 (808) (2,726) (3,534)
Segment profit 7 =B A 107 600 707

The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same
as the Group’s accounting policies. Segment profit represents
the profit earned by each segment without allocation of central
administration costs and employee benefits expense, other
operating income, other gains or losses, depreciation and
amortisation, impairment loss and finance costs. This is the
measure reported to the CODM for the purposes of resource
allocation and assessment of segment performance.
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7 OPERATING SEGMENTS FOR CONTINUING
OPERATIONS (Continued)

Segment assets and liabilities

No analysis of segment assets and liabilities is presented as the
CODM does not regularly review such information for the purpose
of resource allocation and performance assessment.

Geographical information

The Group’s revenue from external customers was mainly derived
from its operation in Hong Kong and the People’s Republic of
China (“PRC”), and the non-current assets of the Group were
located in Hong Kong and the PRC as at 31 December 2023 and
2022.

Continuing operations

7

FECEXBNEED B (8

THEERER
MAREBELERREVERERAERE
RN EMAMAR  Fl & 25
DEHEERBEHM -

i 3 & R
AEERBINREPHKEEEREER
EAERPEARLME ([FEH])HEE"
M H20234F K% 2022F 12 A31H * NEEH
IERBEEMNN BB RFE -

FREERE

2023 2022
20234 20224

S$’000 S$'000
T & 03K T TR IR TT

Revenue from external customers: REIREFHRE:

Hong Kong aBE 1,141 3,326

The PRC i 2,039 915
3,180 4,241

The revenue information above is based on the locations of the

A LW ERAT P ERKE -

customers.

Non current assets* FREBEE

Hong Kong BE 645 3,620

The PRC 2] 363 _
1,008 3,620

* Non-current assets exclude financial instruments. * FRBEETREEMIT A
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7 OPERATING SEGMENTS FOR CONTINUING 7 BFREREEBNEEIH (@
OPERATIONS (Continued)
Information about major customers EREZEEFEFHNER
Continuing operations BESEER
Revenue from external customers of the corresponding years HETEERBEAEBREFELEE
contributing over 10% of the total turnover of the Group from TEH AL ETE10%MINEE P s #5110
continuing operations is as follows: T

2023 2022
20234 20224

$$°000 S$'000
T 3 b3 T TR T

Customer A — trading sales segment BEPA-ESHEEDEL 936 1,293
Customer B — trading sales segment EFB—EZHED Note 1 fffzF1 507
Customer C — trading sales segment BEFC-EBSHEDE Note 1 fffzF1 503
Note 1: The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of the M1 : HERZTESBASEER KR
total revenue of the Group. ZE10% °
.i{:s 150 RMH HOLDINGS LIMITED ¢ Annual Report 2023
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8 DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ 8 EEKEEME
EMOLUMENTS
Directors’ and Chief Executive’s emoluments EERFETRAEME
The emoluments paid or payable to the directors of the Company AEEETEBENXNEFEARTESER
and chief executive of the Company (including emoluments for KRB EZTBRAENIE (BERKA
services as directors of the entities comprising the Group prior to AAREBEZAEAREBETERBESH
becoming the directors of the Company) by the entities comprising REM<E)mT:

the Group are as follows:

Contributions
Salaries and to retirement
allowances benefit scheme Total
RNER
He FeREl AR @t
$$'000 $$'000 $$'000 $$'000
TFHmE T TFH M T T Mg THmE
For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZ22023F12R31ALFE
Executive Directors (Note d) HTES (Md)
Dr. Loh Teck Hiong (ceased on 11 May 2023) (note g)  Loh Teck Hiong 4 (782023654118
#Hem) (Mitg) 448 - - 448
Mr. Yang Zhangxin (re-designated from an HEELLE (R2023F1A31H

independent non-executive director on WBIERTEEAAL

31 January 2023 and resigned on 202452 A28 BHE) (IMfFEf)

28 February 2024) (note f) 96 - 3 99
Mr. Lee Chung Shun (appointed on 7 September 2022) FRFSLE (R2022F9A7REZ ) 119 - 3 122
Mr. He Weiging (appointed on 10 January 2022 and (&5 %64 (R202F1F10REZ TR

resigned on 21 February 2023) (Note ¢) M2023F2 A21 AEHAE) (FizEc) 93 - 2 95
Mr. Cui Han (appointed on 21 February 2023) (Note ) 15 %5 4 (7202362 821 BEZ ()

(Hizte) 83 - - 88

Independent Non-Executive Directors (Note h) BUFHTEE (f15h)
Mr. Loke Wai Ming (Disqualify on 9 November 2023)  FE{E83 % A4 (182023511 398

(Note a) BAUEEMR) (Mita) 18 - - 18
Mr. Luo Honghui (appointed on 7 September 2022 and 4TS &4 (R2022F9A7THEZ T

resigned on 9 October 2023) 2023510 A9R BHE) 16 - - 16
Ms. Li Yin Fai (appointed on 16 September 2022 and ~ Z# B 7+ (R2022F9 8 16EEZ T

resigned on 17 November 2023) 72023511 A1THEHE) 18 - - 18
Mr. Liu Fei (appointed on 31 January 2023 and BIRE A (R2023F1ASIARZ AR

resigned on 4 December 2023) 202312 A4REHT) 17 - - 17

913 - 8 921
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8 DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ 8 EEKEEME @)
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

Directors’ and Chief Executive’s emoluments

EERTETHAENE (@)

i
) o

152

(Continued)
Contributions
Salaries and to retirement Share-based
Fee allowances benefit scheme payment Total
RIER DY 3
ne HeREH SRR XRE @st
S$'000 S$'000 S$'000 S$'000 $$'000
MK FH MK T T TFHME T TR T
For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZ202F12AALEE
Executive Directors (Note d) HTES (Mitd)
Dr. Loh Teck Hiong Loh Teck Hiong# 4 1,270 - - - 1,270
M. Yang Zhangxin (re-Oesignated from an independent 53 2 %4 (7202361 A31B#
non-executive director on 31 January 2023) BUFNTEZRA) 21 - - 23 44
Mr. Lee Chung Shun (appointed on FRRERE (R2022F
7 September 2022) 9RTHEZAE) 36 33 2 23 9%
Mr. Liu Yang (ceased on 25 5% & (K202
10 January 2022) (Note b) 1A10BH&R) (Mitb) 6 - - - 6
Dr. Seow Swee How (resigned on BIRRELT (Ro02F
10 January 2022) (Note b) 1A10BHE) (M) 6 - - - 6
Mr. He Weiging (appointed on AEERE (R2022F
10 January 2022 and resigned on 1A10BBZE RM2023F
21 February 2023) (Note ¢) 2A21AEE) (Mikc) 124 1 3 23 151
Independent Non-Executive Directors (Note h) BUEHTES (Mih)
Ms. Wu Xiao Xia (appointed on REEXL (K201 5
27 September 2021 and 9R2TREZAR
resigned on 26 September 2022) 120229 A26B BHT) 16 - - - 16
Mr. Loke Wai Ming (appointed on BRI A (R2021F
11 May 2021) 5A11REZH) 21 - - - 21
Mr. Luo Honghui (appointed on BT @ %4 (20025
7 September 2022) 9RTREZMA) 7 - - 23 30
Ms. Li Yin Fai (appointed on FRELL (20226
16 September 2022) 9R16EEZ ) 6 - - - 6
1,513 34 5 92 1,644
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8

DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

Directors’ and Chief Executive’s emoluments
(Continued)

Notes:

a)

On 9 November 2023, the Group passed a board resolution to
disqualify Mr. Loke Wai Ming as an independent non-executive
director of the Company with effect from 9 November 2023 due to
the absence of Mr. Loke Wai Ming from the board meetings for six
consecutive months, i.e. since 16 February 2023, without special
leave of absence from the board.

Dr. Seow Swee How resigned as executive director of the Company
and Mr. Liu Yang was vacated by resolution of the Board and ceased
to be an executive director of the Company with the effect from 10
January 2022. Thereafter, they did not hold any directorship nor key
management position except Dr. Seow Swee How continued to be
the chief executive officer of the Company.

Mr. He Weiqing was appointed as an executive director of the
Company on 10 January 2022 and resigned on 21 February 2023.

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their
services in connection with the management of the affairs of the
Company.

Mr. Cui Han was appointed as an executive director of the Company
on 21 February 2023.

Mr. Yang Zhangxin was re-designated from an independent non-
executive director of the Company to an executive director of the
Company on 31 January 2023 and resigned on 28 February 2024.

Dr. Loh Teck Hiong was vacated by resolutions of the Annual General
Meeting and ceased to be an executive director of the Company with
the effect from 11 May 2023.

The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments were for their
services as directors of the Company.

None of the directors of the Company waived or agreed to waive
any emoluments during both reporting periods. No emolument
were paid by the Group to the directors as an inducement to join
or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office.

EEREEME (&)

BEERFETHAEMES (@)

GEE

a)

M2023F 11 AoR AEERBEES
RERCBCHEEBREENARRE
Y IEMITE FEEE - 52023F 11 A9H
B4 R A 2 FEE BA % & §20234F2
Bi6REEENEAREEEe S
BRmEESHERIE-

BB RIARANTES M
RSEEWETENRABRELMA
BETCARQRRNITES  H2022F1 A
10BBER - BB BBEmRIBTHE
BIARRTRAEAR B #S1E
EITMEEXNTEZETEABRM-

A& L EMR2022F1 B10B ELZ T A
RN FHIHITE S RHA20235F2 A21H
BT -

EXRRMATEEME DRHEEE
BARREFRERBM A

BB R2023F2 A21 HEZ T AR
NEINITES -

15 E LA M202351 A3TA R AR
BN IENTEEATAARRRNIT
EW 202452 A28 B BT ©

-
B

Loh Teck HiongB& A IRIERFBAF A S
Y R 5% ZR A IR - I B2023F5A11H
ETABETARRRITES:

BIFATESHE IR ESESA
NEEFRREHRRB A -

R ESRE AR RERNRREERER
RAERETAME AEEREREES
NME (EAMAREEXR IMAKXEH
BRF £ 75 DX Sl BB AR 1 o
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 # 2202312431 H 1 F/&

8 DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

Employees’ emoluments

The five highest paid individuals included the three (2022: two)
executive directors of the Company whose emoluments are
included in the disclosures above. The emoluments of the two
(2022: three) individuals were as follows:

EEREEME (&)

BEEME
AAEETFATBIERAR =4 (2022F
ML) TES HMS Ot A LuiiEeE-
WM& (2022 : = &) AL® B & 5 Bl a0
—F:

2023 2022

20234 20224

S$°000 S$’000

T %7 in 3% 7T T3 N T

Salaries, bonuses and other benefits o T REMEF 225 593
Contributions to retirement benefits scheme RORE TR IR 6 7
231 600
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 # 2202312431 H 1 F/E

8

DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ 8 EEkEEME @)
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
Employees’ emoluments (Continued) EEME (@)
The five highest paid individuals including the directors of the FEZEmH AT (BERARARIESR )N
Company whose remuneration were within the following bands: Bl LA T 4R A -
2022
20224
Nil to S$174,000 (equivalent to Nil to T 7= 174,000%7 N3 T
HK$1,000,000) (F8& M= ZE1,000,000%87T) 2
S$174,001 to S$261,000 (equivalent to 174,001 i3 7T =261,0005 A3 T
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000) (& 71,000,001 T E
1,500,000/ 7T ) 1
S$261,001 to S$348,000 (equivalent to 261,001 A3 7T 348,000 hl3K 7T
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000) (& FM,500,001 8T E
2,000,000% 7T) 1
S$348,001 to S$435,000 (equivalent to 348,001 F 3% 7T Z=435,000% hli 7T
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000) (1% 12,000,001 L E
2,500,0005 7T ) -
S$435,001 to $$522,000 (equivalent to 435,001 %7 A3 7T 522,000 Hn i 7T
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000) (& 712,500,001 T E
3,000,0007 7T ) -
S$522,001 to S$609,000 (equivalent to 522,001 A% 7T Z=609,000%T Il 7T
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000) (¥8E $3,000,00178 7T
3,500,00078 7T ) -
S$609,001 to S$696,000 (equivalent to 609,001 N3 Tt Z=696,000% A3 7T
HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000) (¥EE 73,500,001 T E
4,000,000/ 7T ) -
Over to $$696,001 (equivalent to Over  #818696,001 % 1N 7T
HK$4,000,000) (1% 7 8 84,000,000 7T) 1
5
No emoluments were paid by the Group to the five highest paid REE I P H AT (BEAR

individuals, including directors of the Company, as an inducement
to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of

office.

20234F JEHi i o PRI A PR A T

RIES)XMERBMEERIMAKRSE B
DA 68 (81 5 ) o5 DR sl BB 1 o
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 # 2202312431 H 1 F/&

9 OTHER OPERATING INCOME 9 HiKEWA
Continuing operations BEREER

2023 2022
2023%F 20224

Note $$°000 $$'000
B ax T3 M0 T TR T

Interest income on bank deposits RITHERF BWA - 1
Government grant BT B (@) - 29
Other rental income H e WA 203 169
Others Hit 158 119

361 318

Note: B 5 -

(@ It represented the financial support from HKSAR government under @  EENEZE2022F128 AIAILFE
Employment Support Scheme under the Anti-epidemic Fund for MUK ER B9 & 7B 45 B 1T I BUR 7 4%
payments of wages and salaries of employees for June to August HEETETHRMEEFSIREME B
2022 received during the year ended 31 December 2022. AR X 2022668 £8AMEE

TERF®-
10 FINANCE COSTS 10 M A
Continuing operations BEREEK

2023 2022
2023%F 20224

S$'000 S$'000
T # 03K 5T T I T

Interest expense on borrowings B F B 2 44
Interest expense on lease liabilities HEABNEHX 53 174
55 218
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 # 2202312431 H 1 F/E

11

12

OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES

11 Ht s R EE

(N

N

Continuing operations BEREER
2023 2022
2023%F 20224F
S$°000 S$'000
TR0 T TN T
Net exchange losses (gains) P 5 51 () F 58 376 (102)
Reversal of provision of renovation upon early 1224 |F R E L HE14 & [ ik
termination of lease arrangement bedic - (93)
Write off of other receivables and deposits SR L Ath FE U GRIE R iR &
(Note 20) (MF5E20) - 1,258
(Gain)/Loss on disposal of right-of-use assets ~ IRR KR IFTAELZHRHE
upon early termination of lease arrangement FERAEEE (W), BiE
(Note 18) (KizE18) (58) 1,569
Gain on disposal of plant and equipment HERE & W (43) -
Write off of plant and equipment (Note 16) HEE R B s (EE16) - 1,033
Fair value changes on financial assets at FVTPL & A FET ABHNESRHEE
WA EZES 63 864
338 4,529

LOSS BEFORE TAX

Loss before tax has been arrived at after charging:

Continuing operations

Audit fees

Employee benefits expense:

Directors’ remunerations (Note 8)

Other staff costs

— salaries, bonus and other benefits

— contributions to retirement benefit scheme

— share-based payment

Write off of inventories (included as
consumables and medical supplies used)

12 BREAER

2023
20234
S$$°000
F %7 hng T
EZER 228
EERAMMXL:
EEHM (H5E8) 921
Hih B THRA
— e fEAL R EMEF 1,420
—RINEFIFT B3 22
— AR A 5KTE -
MiEFE
(FIEBERERER R
BEAMD) -

BERATEREMBRA TSR

2022
20224

S$'000
T AN T

244

1,644

1,419

25
133

120
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 # 2202312431 H 1 F/&

13

14

158

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Continuing operations

No provision of income tax arising in Hong Kong and the PRC for
continuing operations in the current and prior years.

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% (2022: 16.5%) of the
estimated assessable profits for the year.

The PRC Enterprise Income Tax is calculated at the applicable rates
in accordance with the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC.
Under the Law of the People’s Republic of China on Enterprise
Income Tax (the “EIT Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the
EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25%.

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the loss
before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income as follows:

13

FreBimAx

REFEFBEFELRRFELE BT
RREENRPEELNASHER-

F BTN BT T DA F E 51 R 2R 5% A 3%
16.5% (20224F : 16.5% ) T K&t & o

FREISEMBRINRETRERERER
BWERBEFE - REBE (P EARKNE
EEMEIE) ([REMBRE]) REE
FRSBURE M GD - B B A R MR
#325% ©

RER IEHRAX A EgEAEE REM
2EKERATORTATEBERNAT

2023 2022

2023F 20224F

S$°000 S$’'000

F %7 hn 3 7o T3 a3 T

Loss before tax bR AT BT 1R (6,853) (13,127)
Tax at applicable tax rate HEARENTIE (1,119) (2,186)
Expenses not deductible under tax AT R A 32 651 1,477
Income not subject to tax BARBUA (69) (52)
Effect of unutilised tax losses not recognised RERARBARB BB FE 537 753
Others EAh - 8
Income tax expense FTiSHiRA X - -

Subject to the agreement by the tax authority at the end of
the reporting period, the Group has unutilised tax losses of
approximately S$6,207,000 (2022: S$3,052,000) available for offset
against future profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised
due to the unpredictability of future profit streams.

DIVIDENDS

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil).

RMH HOLDINGS LIMITED ¢ Annual Report 2023
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 # 2202312431 H 1 F/E

15 BASIC AND DILUTED LOSS PER SHARE 15 XAREEAERGEBRERKE
ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE BEE
COMPANY
2023 2022
20234 20224

Continuing and discontinued operations: FEEEROKRIEEEEKE:
Loss attributable to owners of the Company NARVHEE ANEREE

(S$°000) (F#rn ) (6,749) (18,649)
Weighted average number of ordinary shares B 217 % 38 I INHE F 15 81

in issue ('000) (Fi0) 1,331,359 1,299,857
Basic and diluted loss per share EREAREEEE

(Singapore cents) (Frans o) (0.51) (1.44)
Continuing operations: HEREER:
Loss attributable to owners of the Company NAREE ANEREE

(S$'000) (FF M) (6,749) (13,119)
Weighted average number of ordinary shares B 277 & B IR It F 15 &

in issue ('000) (F1) 1,331,359 1,299,857
Basic and diluted loss per share EREARAREEEE

(Singapore cents) (Frans ) (0.51) (1.01)
Discontinued operations: DRIEREEER:
Loss attributable to owners of the Company KARHEE AEGLEE

(S$'000) (FHrnsET) - (5,530)
Weighted average number of ordinary shares B 2173 38 I IN#E F 15 £x

in issue ('000) (F1) - 1,299,857
Basic and diluted loss per share EREAREEEE

(Singapore cents) (B o) - (0.43)

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company raised
approximately S$7,469,000 (2023: Nil) before transaction costs of
issuing 432,000,000 rights issues, on the basis of 1 rights share for
every 2 existing shares held by the shareholders of the Company.

The calculation of the basic loss per share was based on the
loss for the year attributable to owners of the Company and the
weighted average number of ordinary shares of 1,299,857,000 in
issue during the year as adjusted to reflect the rights issues and
exercise of share options for the year ended 31 December 2022.

For the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, the
computation of diluted loss per share does not assume the
exercise of the Company’s share options since their assumed
exercise would result in a decrease in loss per share.

REE2022F12A318 ILFE - AR A&
ARRIRE S HRRIRE BRD - IR
% % 17 9 B % 2 17432,000,0000% 4 B A%
19 #1538 % 497,469,000 hnsg T (F B
RGKAR]) (20234 : #&) -

BREAREBBIDIRERNARHEE ARIGF
M8 R AN S B 817 % @A R hn i 715
#01,299,857,000/% 5+ & - I 4% 58 & LA [ Bt
H ZE2022%F 12 A31 A |- F/E A A% % BB A
REREATIE

H Z=2023%F K2022%12 A31H IFF € - 5
EERBEERRTEBRIADRNBER
BETE REABRZITEZSEBRER
BYZREERD -

20234 BEH o PRITHE A PR 2 W] 159



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
&r e W s E R i R

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # 2202312431 H 1 F/&

16 MERRHE

Computer and

16 PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Medical office Leasehold
equipment equipment  improvements
RE
BERE MEEE
S$'000 S$'000 S$'000 S$'000
FHMET FHMR T TR T FET ST
Cost: A
At 1 January 2022 202261 518 1,929 315 2,253 4,497
Additions NE 134 58 1,089 1,281
Disposal of subsidiaries through discontinued BRCKRILEEEBLENBAR
operations (Note 32) A (F15E32) (770) (294) (1,829) (2,893)
Write off sy - (17) (1,198) (1,215)
Disposals HE 6) (41) (10) (57)
Exchange alignments R 5 2 5 12
At 31 December 2022 #2022 12318 1,292 23 310 1,625
Additions NE 390 7 - 397
Disposals HeE (387) 4 - (391)
Exchange alignments BE 5B (20) ) @) (25)
At 31 December 2023 #2023F12A318 1,275 25 306 1,606
Accumulated depreciation and impairment: R ITERFEE:
At 1 January 2022 202251 A1H 1,523 135 912 2,570
Provided for the year FREE 157 55 360 572
Disposal of subsidiaries through discontinued FRORITEEEBHENB
operations (Note 32) A7 (Mi532) (516) (162) (1,059) (1,737)
Eliminated on disposals 8 @) (23) (4) (29)
Write off HisH - ©) (176) (182)
Exchange alignments ERRE 3 1 1 5
At 31 December 2022 H2022F12A318 1,165 - 34 1,199
Provided for the year FREE 67 18 49 134
Eliminated on disposals HE R (42) (1) - (43)
Exchange alignments E R AR (18) (1) (1) (20)
At 31 December 2023 H2023F12A318 1,172 16 82 1,270
Carrying value: IREE:
At 31 December 2023 R2023F12A31H 103 9 224 336
At 31 December 2022 H2022F12A318 127 23 276 426
r 160 RMH HOLDINGS LIMITED ¢ Annual Report 2023
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 # 2202312431 H 1 F/E

16 PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued) 16 HWENRME (@)

The above items of plant and equipment are depreciated on a
straight-line basis after taking into account of their residual values
at the following rates per annum:

20% to 33%

20% to 33%
Shorter of 5 years or
over the lease term

Medical equipment
Computer and office equipment
Leasehold improvements

During the year ended 31 December 2022, in regard of early
termination of a lease arrangement, certain office equipment and
leasehold improvements in total of S$1,033,000 (2023: Nil) have
been fully written off.

LR E K& IR B R REFBREERR
BATFELRUBEREENE:

B 20%Z%E33%
EX PSS NS T 20%Z%E33%
HEmELE 527 T4 ok i 2P

HZE2022F12A31HEFE - BHREFER
LF—EHERE BETHAZRHBREE
¥ ¥ 3 & A $£1,033,000%7 10 3% T (2023
o) B AEMEY -
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 # 2202312431 H 1 F/&

17

162

INTANGIBLE ASSETS 17 BREE
Software
2R
S$°000
TN T
Cost: 2%
At 1 January 2022 202291 A1H 958
Additions NE 45
Disposal of subsidiaries through discontinued operations & B2 4& IFHE L ¥ B HEN B AT
(Note 32) (K$7E32) (50)
Exchange alignments bE X B 3
At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 2022912 A31H K&2023F1A1H 956
Additions NE 16
Exchange alignments DE 5, F8 B (14)
At 31 December 2023 #2023F 12831 H 958
Accumulated amortisation: Rty :
At 1 January 2022 202291 A1H 169
Provided for the year FRNEE 196
Disposal of subsidiaries through discontinued operations #E B 4R A& &2 HEHB A A
(Note 32) (BIE32) (18)
Exchange alignments ME 5, 58 B8 1
At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 R2022F 124318 &2023%1 A1H 348
Provided for the year FAEME 184
Exchange alignments P H A 6
At 31 December 2022 2022912 A31H 538
Carrying value: MREME
At 31 December 2023 R2023F12H31H 420
At 31 December 2022 720224124318 608
The intangible assets represents software purchased from vendors ZERFEERBEFEENRMG A5
with an estimated useful lives of 5 years. A AF R REEF -
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 # 2202312431 H 1 F/E

18 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 18 EAEEE
The movements of right-of-use assets during the year are as FREAEEEZHNOT
follows:

Leased Plant and
properties equipment Total

HEMEX HERRHE At
S$'000 S$'000 S$'000
THIBOT O TEIRIT O TETAEOT

Net book value at 1 January 2022 R2022F1 A1H Z BREE(E 5,568 289 5,857
Additions NE 3,781 - 3,781
Disposals (Note a) & (fsra) (1,569) - (1,569)
Depreciation for the year FRFTE (2,990) - (2,990)
Disposal of subsidiaries through BRERIEEEBLE

discontinued operations (Note 32) M8 AR (MH3E32) (2,195) (289) (2,484)
Exchange alignments b ©) - ©)

Net book value at 31 December 2022 722022412 A31H &

and 1 January 2023 2023F1 A1H 2 REFE 2,586 - 2,586
Disposals (Note a) & (Hizta) (825) - (825)
Depreciation for the year FRITE (1,485) - (1,485)
Exchange alignments TE 5 & (24) - 24)
Net book value at 31 December 2023 74202312 431 H 7 lREFE 252 - 252
Note: M3 -

(@  During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group has early (a) E E2023F12A31H ILFE KEE
terminated lease arrangement, and therefore, the carrying amounts ERFERIEMAERY B EERK
of respective right-of-use assets of $$825,000 (2022: S$1,569,000) A EA A i A E A AR E {E825,000
and lease liability of $$883,000 (2022: nil) are derecognised resulting N3 o (20224 ¢ 1,569,000%T A1
in a gain in early terminating of a lease of S$58,000 (2022: loss in 70) R A% 1 RE SR T & A& {5883,000%T M
early terminated of a lease of S$1,569,000). T E A TR T 4% IE T & 2 i %:58,000

T (2022F IR PR ILHE 2B
181,569,000%71 M1 7T ) ©

The Group leases several leasehold properties for office and clinics AEBIZETHSHAESIEHEYEUE
purpose at fixed rentals. The average lease term is 2 to 5 years WA RZTAS - FHM A R2ESSF (2022
(2022: 2 10 5 years). F 2555 ) o

The depreciation charges in respect of leased properties for HZE2023F12A31B I FE  BEERIFTE
continuing operations for the year ended 31 December 2023 K EBHEMENITEE R41,485,000
are approximately S$1,485,000 (2022: S$2,033,000) and for 1 hn3 7T (20224 1 2,033,000%7 103k 7T ) K
discontinued operations for the year ended 31 December 2023 are HZE2023F12AG 1AL FEFR DR IELEE
approximately Nil (2022: $$957,000). ¥B 7 IEERBLT (20224 1 957,000

FrongEoT)

The total cash outflows for leases are approximately S$1,550,000 H £2023F12A31H IFFE - AEMNEIR
(2022: S$2,845,000) for the year ended 31 December 2023. %7 A 491,550,000% h 3 JT (20224F ¢

2,845,000F fN3 7T ) °
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 # 2202312431 H 1 F/&

19 INVENTORIES 19 =F&
2023 2022
2023F 20224
S$°000 S$’000
F 57 i 7T TN T
Consumables and medical supplies SHIER R BB A M 993 645
Goods in transit B E M - 407
993 1,052

During the year ended 31 December 2022, certain inventories have
been expired and therefore, S$120,000 (2023: nil) of inventories are
write off and include as cost of consumables.

20 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS 20
AND PREPAYMENT

HZE2022F12A31IHEFE - BETHED
EI 87 - Bt - A £0120,000%7 03 7T (2023
FE)NGFEEWMBE Y ERERERK
AR

EZRHEMEWRRE RERE
ESE

2023 2022
20234F 20224
S$’000 S$’000
F %7 hn3% 7T T3 N T
Trade receivables =Y ¢ e 2,338 3,123
Less: Loss allowance on trade receivables B B GRIE R R (2,018) (1,654)
320 1,469
Deposits (Note (a)) Ze (Kiska) 2,522 3,003
Prepayment SEENE /S 627 553
Other receivables (Note (b)) H b EWFRIE (MI5E (b)) 1,050 1,246
Other tax receivables H b AR IE - 96
Less: Loss allowance on other receivables B B E U R IE IR S Y
and deposits BEEE (2,678) (762)
Amount due from a joint venture — non-current  FEUL A & A B E —IER 1,730 1,757
Less: Loss allowance on amount due W EWE & R RIRIER
from a joint venture E e (1,730) (1,757)
1,841 5,605
Less: non-current deposits B JERN iR - (404)
1,841 5,201

i1y
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 # 2202312431 H 1 F/E

20 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS 20 EZEZRHMEWRFE REETE

AND PREPAYMENT (Continued) S5 (&)
Notes: B 5 -
(@  Included in deposits are mainly for deposits for purchase of @ HeXZERRBAFERBERE®

inventories in previous years of approximately S$1,946,000 (2022:
$$2,175,000) and in view of long outstanding, such amount has
considered as credit-impaired and full provision of loss allowance has
provided as at 31 December 2023.

(b) Included in other receivables are mainly refunded for deposits for
purchase of medical equipment and inventories in previous years of
approximately S$712,000 (2022: S$743,000), and in view of long
outstanding and financial difficulty of counterparty, such amount has
been fully impaired as at 31 December 2023 and 2022.

The following is an aging analysis of trade receivables of the Group
presented based on invoice dates, net of expected credit loss
allowance for the trade receivables from the customers at the end
of each reporting period:

% % #91,946,000%F 10 3 7T (20224 :
2,175,0008T i3 T) - MERN KHKRE
B ZRBEEHEACEERELE R
2023F12 A31 B B HEE ERE -

by HMBEBWFREFEHECREBE
FEBERELBELREEMNERESY
712,000%1 I3 7T (20224 : 743,000%7
mig) - EREFH RBHEA LR
B R [R £ - 3% € B8 B 7R 20234F 2022
F12A31HEBEURE -

UTREREHRIEZRETFNE SR
FIBEZAM2FAEEE Z KR (4
BRIBEHIE BB ERRE) MR DT

2023 2022

20234 20224

S$°000 S$°000

T %703 T FH: N T

0-30 days 0%Z30H 320 1,220
31-60 days 31%E60H - 249
320 1,469

Loss allowance for trade receivables has been measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECL. The ECL on trade receivables are
estimated using a provision matrix by reference to past default
experience of the debtor and an analysis of the debtor’s current
financial position, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, general economic conditions of the industry in which the
debtors operate.

The Group granted credit terms ranging from 30 days to 90 days
(2022: 30 days to 90 days) to customers after the delivery of
goods.

85 R FENERBEE N RASN2H
BHEEBERNSBTE -E 5B KA
MIEHERERERREEEEGR
S2EBBANBEEOCELHEE AN
ERMBIHRRER DT ARBEBR AR
EMRE EEEMETRNBREER
SUEH TR -

AEERRNERERRTEFPHNERY

IR FH30H E90H (20224 : 30H £90
A) o
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20 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS 20 ESKH ﬂﬂﬂgqﬁl

AND PREPAYMENT (Continued)

There has been no change in the estimation techniques or
significant assumptions made during the current reporting period.

A trade receivable is written off when there is information indicating
that the debtor is in severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery.

As at 31 December 2023, amounting of S$1,951,000 (2022:
S$1,584,000) trade receivables are past due of over 90 days, and
by considering the repayment history and change of operations in
the current year, the balances are considered as default for the year
of 2023 and full expected credit loss allowance has recognised.

The Group recognised lifetime ECL for trade receivables that are
neither individually significant nor credit-impaired by collective basis
based on past due status of customers of trading sales and dental
business respectively as follows.

Trading sales
As at 31 December 2023:

REEERE
IR (|
F$ﬁ¢%ﬁ%%ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁiﬁﬁ&l
mEy-

EEENBRER AMGREVBEER
JEHESK O IR e E S ER
FRIE

M2023F12A831H B Z EIWHNIE
1,951,000 A1 3 7T (20224F - 1 584,000¥ﬁ
I oT) B E BB Bo0K KL E BIEE
S RAFEEENEE 2R I20235F
WRAEN WEHRTHEEBERE-

ZIK‘E@"ﬂ'ﬁﬁ%ﬁ%?’ﬁ%ﬁﬁ’%&b—fﬂﬁi‘%
DEEFMBHM IR B EERE
EUFENEHEREEER E%i;éf%
FEMSRIRBEIE BRI EXR - AR HIREER
Ho

ESHE
202312 H31H -

Weighted
average Gross
expected Carrying Life time
loss rate Amount ECLs
InfEF 15 2 HIEH
FEHEIE R HARMEE FEEIE
S$°000 S$°000
TFEMK T TFHIE T
Current (not past due) BUAR (R H) 1.5% 1 (1)
Less than 1 month past due D PA11E A 180 B 17.4% 386 (66)
More than 3 months past due % 7A31E A w1 5 100% 1,951 (1,951)
2,338 (2,018)
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20 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS

AND PREPAYMENT (Continued)

Trading sales (Continued)
As at 31 December 2022:

TR (@)

EZHEE @
R2022412531H :

S

20 ESREMBERNIE REKA

Weighted

average Gross
expected Carrying Life time
loss rate Amount ECLs
¥ Z Hi7E A
TEEAB B X AR E EEEE
S$°000 S$°000
T TR
Current (not past due) BNER (R#1HER) 1.5% 549 ®)
Less than 1 month past due A A1{E A 8 Hf 17.3% 301 (52)
More than 3 months past due % pA31E A 8 5 100% 1,584 (1,584)
2,434 (1,644)
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20 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS 20 ZEZRHMEWFE - € KHE

AND PREPAYMENT (Continued) 1+ KIE (#)
Dental business FRIEK
As at 31 December 2022: R2022F 12 H31H -

Weighted
average Gross

expected Carrying Life time
loss rate Amount ECLs

RS 2HEH
FAHEBER 4 IR {8 FEEE
S$°000 S$’000

T FEFME T

Current (not past due) BNER (R#E1HR) 1.5% 689 (10)
689 (10)
There are no trade receivables arisen from dental business as at R2028F12A31H  FRIEBR T EELE
31 December 2023. S IEWRIE -
In respect of other receivables and deposits at 31 December 2023 20234 K 2022912 A31 B #) H th JiE U 3K
and 2022, the Group estimated the loss allowance on an individual BRIEST S  ANEBIZERNSE G
basis. During the year ended 31 December 2023, an amount of B - H E2023F12A31B LFE R
approximately S$nil (2022: S$1,258,000) is written off on individual AR REARERE  BEATHINE T (2022
basis due to the long outstanding and the loss allowance for the F 1 1,258,000%T M3 7T ) &) & 78 T 1% & 7
remaining balances is measured at an amount equal to 12-month &5 T LA 88 - T 7A2023F12A318
ECL of approximately $$2,678,000 at 31 December 2023 (2022: BRTHEANBEREBUREREEROR
S$762,000), taking into account the probability of default and loss 2,678,000 M1 3 7T (20224F : 762,000%7 1l
given default of respective balances. )M+ —EABBEEEEHE I
EEERAEEHRNELDR LN RELIBX
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 # 2202312431 H 1 F/E

20 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS

21

AND PREPAYMENT (Continued)

Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of trade and
other receivables are as follow:

20 ESREMBERNIE REKA

R IE (&)
B 5 REMBKFIEN BB ERZE 0
T

Other receivables and Amount due from

Trade receivables deposits

a joint venture Total

B EURA HtERRERESE ER-BaEARRE -

2023 2022 2023
2023 20226 PUPRES
$$'000 S$'000 $$'000

2022 2023 2022 2023 2022

2022 20235 20226 20235 20224
$$'000 $$'000 $$'000 $$'000 $$'000

THORT THIORT FHRMRT THIOET FTHRMRT THORT FHMET THMET

As at 1 January M1A1E 1,654 779 762 35 1,757 1,898 4,173 2,712
Impairment losses recognised ~ FRHERAFIE

during the year 53| 383 931 1,946 743 - - 2,329 1,674
Released upon disposal of BRERILEE

subsidiaries through EBHMENRS

discontinued operations AREER

(Note 32) (M332) - (53) - (18) - (149) - (220)
Exchange alignments RS (19) (3) (30) 2 @7 8 (76) 7
s at 31 December RM2A318 2018 1654 2678 2 1780 1757 642 4173

BANK BALANCES AND CASH

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, bank balances and cash
comprise cash on hand and at banks which are not restricted as
to use. Cash at banks earn interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates.

Included in bank balances and cash are amounted to S$211,000
(2022: S$68,000) which are denominated in RMB and subject to
foreign exchange control regulations or not freely transferable.

The credit risk on cash and cash equivalent is limited because
the counterparties are banks with high credit ratings assigned by
international credit-rating agencies. As such, no loss allowance is
recognised at 31 December 2023 and 2022.

21

RITEHREE

20235 K 2022F12 431 H - iR1T & 87 Ik
BB TRIEANFERS RRITR
& RITRSRIEE ARTERF KT
BT R BRI 8.«

RITHEH LIRS B 1E211,000%7 103 T
(20224F : 68,000%7 I3 JT) » 5% 5 7K IB LA
AR SHE N 5 51 E S H 5] 89 R H 3k
BEEE:E: 1K

ReRB2EEYNEERRABR T
HREFHAERBRERIARER TS
EERFARMIRTT o E It - 720234 22022
FI2A3 1AM EREREERE-
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 # 2202312431 H 1 F/&

22

INVESTMENT IN A JOINT VENTURE

REKAR
FE15 B 18

Cost of investment

Share of loss

Less: Loss allowance on investment
in a joint venture

B RERRIREBBRRE

22 FERTRE

2022

20224

S$’000 S$'000

F 57 03 T TN T

2,651 2,651
(1,093) (1,093)
(1,558) (1,558)

A review of the recoverable amount of the joint venture led to the
recognition of an impairment loss allowance of S$1,558,000 for the
year ended 31 December 2020. No reversal of investment in a joint
venture is considered necessary for the years ended 31 December
2023 and 2022.

Details of joint venture:

Name of joint venture Principal activity

ETEEH

BEARER

Queen’s Road Medical
Company Limited
(“QR Medical”)

ECBEBRLA

(r2C-s8%l)

Operating aesthetic medical beauty
clinic and trading medicine.

BEXR BEXRE

REBEZY -

¥

Ffr

The above investment is accounted as a joint venture as the
shareholders exercise joint control pursuant to the shareholders
agreement.

The above joint venture is accounted for using the equity method
in these consolidated financial statements as set out in the Group’s

material accounting information in Note 4.

The joint venture is not material to the Group.
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HZE2020F12A31H L FE - HAEE R A
A E S RN RS S BERRERBRE
1,558,000 3 7T » B 20234 22022
FI2AGIBIEFE BEAEARIRER
REBWENE -

BB AT

Place of
incorporation and
principal place

of business

o B 3L 3t BE R
FTEEEME

Proportion of
ownership interest
and voting rights held
by the Group
rEBEFREEERE
mRIREREL G

Hong Kong, Central 51%

F8 IR

B O AR SRR PR R W e 17 {2 SL R P 4
W MR EIEREERBIAK.

b ERARZELEA M@K P A%
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 # 2202312431 H 1 F/E

23 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS

mE

Current
Equity securities listed in Hong Kong

MNEE EMHERE S =

A
23 BATEIABRBENEBAE

2023
20234

2022
20224
S$'000

T3 T

S$’000
T & 03K 5T

1,607

The fair value of equity securities listed in Hong Kong are
determined based on quoted market price in an active market and
categorised as level 1 in the fair value hierarchy.

24 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

REBLTHEEFEFNAFEDRER
BTSSR DBERE - RATFEERNT
BREETE

24 BESRHEHMEMNFIE

2023 2022

2023%F 20224

S$°000 S$’000

T 57 ¥ 7T T3 T

Trade payables B 5 E A 39 115
Accrued expenses PRI 781 889
Accrued directors’ remuneration JE 52 =5 N 1,700 685
Other payables (Notes (a) and (b)) H e 5RE (FisE(e) R (b)) 8,388 7,562
10,908 9,251

Notes:

(a) As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, other payables mainly included
amounts due to Singapore Liquidated Subsidiaries, which the Group
is under negotiation on the amount outstanding for settlement. The
directors of the Company are of the opinion that the liabilities for
settlement amounted to approximately S$4,768,000 of which has
netted off amounts due from the Group and adequate provision has
been made at 31 December 2023 and 2022.

(b) During the year ended 31 December 2022, upon termination of
a lease arrangement, the Group was obligated to settle the lease
payment for the remaining lease term. Therefore, amounting of
S$$1,433,000 (2023: S$1,410,000) arisen from transferring from
respective lease liabilities netting off with rental deposits paid of
S$161,000 (2023: S$158,000) were included as other payables.

(@ 20234 2022512 A31H  H &
NRIEE 20 5EE A NS BB
ARMFRB AEBLEERKBER
ERTHERE - ARRERERE FEE
& 75 # /4,768,000%7 i1 3 7T (2 0Bk
FEWAREBIE) - I E R2023F &
2022F 12 A31HEH T R B -

(b) HE2022F12A31HIEFERN  EL
HHRERHE NEBEEBKESH
HAHMBAENK Bt BEEHRE
B (Eh#E 9 1,433,000% 13 7T (2023
F :1,410,000%7 14 7T ) BB AR € 12
£161,000%7 113 7T (20234 : 158,000
g oT) ABIKE P A E b FEA RIS
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24

25

26

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued)

The average credit period on purchase of goods is 30 days (2022:
30 days). The following is an aging analysis of trade payables of
the Group presented based on the invoice date at the end of each
reporting period:

24

E5 KHEMENSFIE (#®)
BEERNTHEEEA30H (2022F :

30R) AT RAKREREREWRLE
ZHHZENNNE 5 BN RIBARER D

2023 2022
2023%F 20224
S$’000 S$'000
F F7 hn3g T T3 N3 T
0-30 days 0Z30H 39 115
39 115
CONTRACT LIABILITIES 25 SHEE

Contract liabilities represents upfront receipt from customers.

The Group applies the practical expedient of not disclosing the
transaction price allocated to remaining performance obligations
that is part of a contract that has original expected duration of one
year or less.

FINANCIAL GUARANTEE LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Company provided
corporate guarantee in favor of banks in respect of banking
facilities granted to Singapore Liquidated Subsidiaries of an
aggregate amounts of S$6,000,000 of which $$4,076,000 has
been utilised. In regard of liquidation of those subsidiaries, they
were unable to settle the outstanding amount, and therefore, under
the financial guarantee contracts, the Company would be liable to
pay the banks and full provision on the outstanding principal and
accrued interest under Defaulted Borrowings net of cash and cash
equivalents of Singapore Liquidated Subsidiaries has been made.

The respective borrowings carried interest at a fixed rate of 3% to
4.5% per annum.

RMH HOLDINGS LIMITED ¢ Annual Report 2023
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BHEEEELE TP IR FHIA-

AEBEBATRENE TREARE
BRTROEE(EREN B D BE—
FRON—FOHRBEHSOI)INRZS
i

AMEERERE

20234 K 2022912 A31H » AR Al IR
FENBEELRMEBARMRITR AR
BITASEm ANTEER RITHELSE
&% % /36,000,000 113 7t + £ #4,076,000
Mg TE SR -REMBRAIMNEE
EEME BEREEENKRERRE"
Hit A AR BETREBEVEEREOM
BITEHNMA R WEREZEOER T HARE
BASRESTFS (BRI INEEENE
RAMBEESRESEEY) (EL 28 1E-

B R & IR E E F 3% E4.5%: B
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A 23 A .
£5 1 WA 5 e 2 Fft 5 i
For the year ended 31 December 2023 # 220231231 H I F/Z

LEASE LIABILITIES 27 HEEE
2023 2022
20234 20224
S$°000 S$’000
F $7 i 7T F 3T
Maturity analysis: EIHAD AT 265 1,670
Within 1 year —FR - 962
1-2 years 1226 - 114
265 2,746
Less: Unearned interest L R BRI B (7 68)
258 2,678
Analysed as: R
Current Bl EH 258 1,616
Non-current JEENHER - 1,062
258 2,678
BORROWINGS 28 &

28

2023
20234

S$’000
T # hn3 T

Other borrowings HEMER -

2022
20224
S$'000

T3 T

182

The Group’s borrowings are scheduled to repay as follows.

AEBNERRIETHIHEREE-

2023 2022
2023F 20224
S$°000 S$'000
F %7 hn 3 7T T3 T
Current: RNER
Within 1 year or on demand —FAARIRENK = 182
At 31 December 2022, borrowings represent borrowings for trading 202212 A31A ERIEAREEESH
securities purpose and carried interest of variable margin rate on B IR RFEEE -
daily basis.
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29 SHARE CAPITAL 29 A
Details of the share capital are disclosed as follows: RAFERENT
Number
of shares Par value Share capital
f&tn & B [EEE) A& 7R
HK$’'000
T
Authorised share capital AR AIHYETE RS
of the Company:
At 1 January 2022, R2022F1A18 »
31 December 2022, 2022 12R31H »
1 January 2023 and 202341 A1H K&20234F
31 December 2023 12H31H 10,000,000,000 0.01 100,000
Movement of the Company’s share capital is as follows: KRB R A E BN T -

Par value  Share capital

[EIE=S &N

HK$'000
AT TR

At 1 January 2022 202251 18 864,000,000 1,493
Rights issues on 18 March 2022 (Note (i) 7202293 A 18 A A% (B 7E()) 432,000,000 747
Share options exercised on R20224511 B4B 17 BRI AE

4 November 2022 (Note (ii)) (HREEG)) 18,000,000 33
At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 2022812 A31H K%2023%1 A1H 1,314,000,000 2,273

Share options exercised on 12 January 2023 M2023F1 128 B 171E 2 B i 4E

(Note (ii)) (P REG) 18,000,000 30
At 31 December 2023 M2023F12A31H 1,332,000,000 2,303
; r 174 RMH HOLDINGS LIMITED ¢ Annual Report 2023
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 &, 22023412531 H 1F F/Z

29 SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

Notes:

0

A rights issue of 1 rights share for every two existing shares held
by members on the register of member on 18 February 2022 was
made, at an issue price of HK$0.1 per rights share with a par value
of HK$0.1 each, resulting in the issue of 432,000,000 shares. The
theoretical ex-rights price calculated based on the closing price of
HK$0.142 per share as quoted on HKEX on the last trading day,
i.e. 19 January 2022, was approximately HK$0.128 per share. The
total consideration amounted to HK$43,200,000 (equivalent to
$%$7,469,000), of which HK$4,320,000 (equivalent to S$747,000) was
credited to share capital and remaining amounted to HK$38,880,000
(equivalent to S$6,722,000) included in share premium amount.
Transaction costs of HK$1,600,000 (equivalent to S$277,000) are
deducted from share premium account. The net price per right share
was approximately HK$0.095.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, share options in regard
of the share options granted on 29 September 2022 (see Note 31)
were exercised to subscribe for 18,000,000 ordinary shares (2022:
18,000,000) of the Company at a consideration of HK$1,962,000
(equivalent to S$336,000) (2022: HK$1,962,000 (equivalent to
$$359,000)), of which HK$180,000 (equivalent to S$30,000) (2022:
HK$180,000 (equivalent to $$33,000)) was credited to share capital,
and the balances of HK$1,782,000 (equivalent to S$306,000)
(2022: HK$1,782,000 (equivalent to S$326,000)) was included in
the share premium account. As a result of the exercise of share
options, amounting of HK$382,000 (equivalent to S$66,000) (2022:
HK$382,000 (equivalent to S$67,000)) has been released from the
share option reserve to the share premium account.

30 RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

The Group participates in both Central Provident Fund (“CPF”)
in Singapore and a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the

“MPF

Scheme”) in Hong Kong. From 1 January 2017 onwards,

the Group’s contribution rates of the eligible employees’ salaries
remain the same, with each employee’s qualifying salary capped at
$%$6,000 and HK$1,500 per month. No forfeited contributions have
been used by the Group to reduce its exiting level of contributions
for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 respectively.

29

30

R (40
i :

() 202252 F18H £ 7l I 3R 42 i &9 i%
RIEGH AR AR M ET1RER
R HETHR  BITE AT RERR
B01E T BREECIB T EHEH
77 A% 19432,000,0008% 17 © 32 3% B HE (B
(BEROR&ER S A (BN120224F1
F198 ) 7E B 22 B B R U T {B0.1427%
TLETE) AT R0.128B L AR E
£43,200,0007% 7T (18 & 77,469,000
N3 or) - & 54,320,000 7T (HHE
747,000%1 M4 7T ) 5T ARR A » 8458
38,880,000/ 7T (48 & #°6,722,000%7
M) ARG IEBE - X B KA
1,600,000%7 11 # 7T (48 & 7277,000%T
i T) B R 5 (B IR A0, - T AR AR
& 7 (B 1% /588 /& #70.0957% 7T ©

i) REE2023F12A31BILFEE B
1T{E BRI R2022F9 A29H ¥ i1 2 B2
PEAE (R M FE31) 2 B R (E
1,962,000/% 7T (18 & 7336,000%f i 4
JT) (20224 : 1,962,000/ 7T (#E %
359,000%7 hi 3% 7t ) ) # 18,000,000
A% AN A 7] 8 % (20224 : 18,000,000
f%) - H #180,000/% st (48 & 730,000
Frhnskor) (20224 : 180,000/ 7t (48
& FA33,000%7 hn ¥ or) ) 5T AR A &
81,782,000/ 7T (8 & #°306,000%f 1N
I 7T (20224 : 1,782,000 7t (FHE R
326,000%1 N 7T ) ) 5t AR = B ER
HRTEERE SHBERERES
# H1382,0007% 7T (18 & 766,000/ 7T.)
(20224 : 382,000 7t (48 & $ 67,000
o) ) BRI R ER-

EBRERGE

AEBZEMNEFRABES ([PER
B ) RESBHEAEEHE (8
£5t&) - B2017F1A1EE KEES
ENXEEFeHREERTITE BAE
BEMAERT S LR AT A6,000%
7T K%1,500/8 JT ° & 220234 K% 20224F 12 A
31 IEFE - 7 5 E &6 A2 Yt FOR
RIEBHFKF -
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30

31

176

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME (Continued)

The employees of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries are members
of the state-managed retirement benefits schemes operated by
the PRC government. The subsidiaries are required to contribute
a certain percentage of their payroll to the retirement benefits
schemes to fund the benefits. The only obligations of the Group
with respect to the retirement benefits schemes is to make the
required contributions under the schemes.

The total cost of S$30,000 for the year ended 31 December
2023 (2022: S$30,000) from continuing operations charged to the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income represents contributions paid or payable for retirement
benefit scheme by the Group.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company’s share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”),
was adopted by a resolution of all the Shareholders of the
Company passed on 22 September 2017 for the primary purpose
of attract and retain the best available personnel and to promote
the success of the business of the Group, and will expire in 10
years from the date of grant.

The total number of shares in respect of which options may be
granted under the Share Option Scheme is not permitted to
exceed 10% of the shares of the Company in issue at any point in
time, without prior approval from the Company’s shareholders.

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of options granted to each eligible participant (including both
exercised and outstanding options) under the Share Option
Scheme of the Company, in any 12-month period up to the date of
grant shall not exceed 1% of the shares in issue. Any further grant
of options in excess of such limit must be separately approved by
Shareholders in general meeting with such grantee and his close
associates abstaining from voting.

The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a period of ten
year commencing on the date on which the Share Option Scheme
was adopted and shall expire at the close of business on the
business day immediately preceding the tenth anniversary thereof
unless terminated earlier by Shareholders in general meeting.
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AR LBERENRNDABRTEEBAR
BRI R BT H910% °

REMBEERL BHIEM12E A HEA
ARBEAARBEEAERTEREER
2EENERE (BREETERBRITE
MBI AT B BT RS BT
MBI EEEE HITRINHI1% - BIMNR
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31

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

On 29 September 2022, the board of directors announces a
total of 60,000,000 share options were granted to certain eligible
participants (“Eligible Participants”) to subscribe for shares of
HK$0.1 each of the Company, representing 4.63% of the total
1,296,000,000 shares issue under the Share Option Scheme of the
Company adopted on 22 September 2017. On 7 December 2022,
The Company announces that, with the mutual agreement between
the Company and the two independent non-executive Directors of
the Company and as approved by the Board, 12,000,000 share
options have been cancelled with effect from 7 December 2022
in accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme of the
Company.

A summary of the movements of the number of share options
under the Scheme for the year is as follows:

31

=3 jﬁ: -
‘*‘v |

N

B RESTE (@)

MR2022F9A20R  EE@EMAE T A
ERSHEE ([FEK2EE])ERELAGH
60,000,00017 & A% 7 LA R BE A A R B A
BB TTH R D - (h N2 RIR201749A
2R AN RERRAEETBIIE T E BT’ 4R
#1,296,000,0000% #74.63% ° A2022412
A78  ARBEMERRARIHEARBME
B ERITES AR EWLETSRME -
12,000,00017 B B # 2 1R & AN A 7] BE AR 4
ETEIMIESRFESY - B2022F 12 A7TH B £
B

FR-FEETEREHE 2B
LI

Balance at Balance at
1 January 31 December
2022 and Granted  Exercised  Cancelled 2022and  Exercised  Balance at
31 December during during during 1 January during 31 December  Exercise  Exercisable
Date of grant 2021 the year the year the year 2023 the year 2023 price  period
120225 20225
1A1B R 12318 &
2021% 2023 20235
124318 1A1A 12A31A
e ] ]
Granted to directors 142022 - 24,000,000 - (12,000,000 12,000,000 - 12000000 HK$0.109  29.09.2022 to
on 29 September 9A29H 0.109% 7T 28.09.2032
2022 BTEZS 022F9A290%
2032%9F28H
Granted to employess 120226 - 35,000,000 (18,000,000) - 18,000,000  (18,000,000) - HK$0.109  29.09.2022 to
on 29 September 9A29A 0.109% 7T 28.09.2032
2022 ETEE 02259A208%
203249 728H
Total o - 60,000,000 (18,000,000) (12,000,000 30,000,000 (18,000,000 12,000,000

20234F JB #t 35 o BE U7 ¥ A R 23 W) 177



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

fa  0 5 e B

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # 2202312431 H 1 F/&

31

178

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

In respect of share options exercised for the year ended 31
December 2022, the weighted average share price granted to
directors and employees at the dates of exercise is HK$0.0251
and HK$0.027. During the year ended 31 December 2022, options
were granted on 29 September 2022. The estimated fair values of
the options granted on that date were $$225,000.

The Group recognised the total expense of $$225,000 (2023: Nil)
for the year ended 31 December 2022 in relation to share options
granted by the Company.

These fair values were calculated based on the income approach
technique by using common option pricing models, including but
not limited to Black-Scholes Option Pricing Model, Binomial Option
Pricing model, Trinomial Option Pricing Model or Monte Carlo
Simulation etc. The inputs into the model were as follows:

31

B RESE (|

A E2022F12A31B L FETHFERNER
EmME RITEEBHRRTEERESNN
B8 (B £0.02517 7T }20.02778 7t » &
F2022F 12431 A LEF 5 - B iR # 722022
FOABR T - Nz AR H A EREN
A F{E 52250008 113 T ©

REBREE2022612A31B IEFEE A
N AR A B AR R R 4 R S 225,000%7
HN% 7T (20234 < 4 ©

ZERNFEDBRBR AR M ERS LG
HREERENAE  BIEETRAENR
AARETHErEEN ZBEABEEERE
B —EAPECTERARTERSER
Lo RAMBABERNT

2022
20224

Weighted average share price IEFERE
Exercise price 1TfEE
Expected volatility T8 HA K &
Expected life TEHIFR

Risk-free rate 4 3 g | R
Expected dividend yield TEEfR B %

The expected life used in the model has been adjusted, based on
management’s best estimate, for the effects of non-transferability,
exercise restrictions and behavioural considerations.
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32 DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

Healthcare services segment

In November 2022, administrator was appointed for the Group’s
major subsidiaries in Singapore which were engaged in healthcare
service in Singapore. The directors of the Company considered
that the control over four 100% owned subsidiaries (“Singapore
Liquidated Subsidiaries”) as at 28 November 2022 had been lost.
Since then, the directors of the Company neither had control
over the operating and financial activities, nor any access to the
underlying accounting books and records of the Singapore Group.
Due to the lack of control and unavailability of these financial
records of the Singapore Group, the directors of the Company
considered to deconsolidate the results, assets, liabilities and cash
flows of the Singapore Liquidated Subsidiaries.

Net assets of the Singapore Liquidated Subsidiaries at the date of

32

A IEREEK

BER®E DS

20225611 A B ARE BRI INE & =
THBAR (RFNFEREEERE)E
FEBA-KRAEEFERE R2022F 11
FA28ABREZHMUNREZEWB AR ([
EERNB AR ) TR gt 2%
ANBIEEBRL T B hl 48 e M 7558 -
EZERMMEEENEESRER
FO 8% o FRRN BT N3 SR B R 2 R ) I AR
BZEVBLE AARESEREIEE
HIMPEEMNBRARINEE LE B
BERBEERE-

MBOERIME AR RBUEA 6 B &

deconsolidation were as follows:

ERENT

S$'000
TR TT

Property, plant and equipment (Note 17) ME - BB kR (HFE17) 1,156
Intangible assets (Note 18) fmR A E (FE18) 32
Right-of-use assets (Note 19) EAEEE (K5E19) 2,484
Inventories 7& 735
Trade and other receivables 2 5 K H ith FE U FRIE 2,312
Amounts due from former fellow subsidiaries FEUS AR R M8 A B 30IE 4,768
Bank balances and cash RITEH LR 251
Trade and other payables 2 5 Rk E M ERRIE (3,191)
Contract liabilities aEHaE (499)
Lease liabilities HEBE (2,525)
Bank borrowings IRITER (4,456)
Net assets at deconsolidation BUBE R & EFE 1,067
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HEKB AR ERE (1,067)
Loss for the period from discontinued operations BRIFEEEBHHRNER (387)
Financial guarantee provided for disposal subsidiaries B B R AR LA B IS PR AR

(Note 26) (FffzE26) (4,076)
Loss on deconsolidation BUB& R BB (5,530)

20234F JEHi i o PRI A PR A T
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32 DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (Continued) 32 BRIEKEEE @)
Healthcare services segment (Continued) EBERKD I (&)
Analysis of the results of the discontinued operations is set out BRI EXEG 2 EEDTEHINAT
below:
From
1 January
2022 to
28 November
2022
(Deconsolidation
Date)
120224
1A1EZE
20224F
11 A28H
(RIEEOFRED)
S$°000
F# AT
Revenue (Note 6) ez (P EE6) 9,034
Other operating income Hpth 48 & A 622
Consumables and medical supplies used EREELRERER® (1,671)
Other direct costs HEMEZEAAR (287)
Employee benefits expenses EEBRAFEZ (3,9895)
Amortisation of intangible assets e EEH (12)
Depreciation of plant and equipment e REETE (449)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREESENE (957)
Other operating expenses H gz (2,503)
Finance costs B 7% A AR (179)
Loss before tax BRELRIEE (387)
Income tax expense sl -
Loss for the period HnWEE (387)
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33 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 33 BEHARS
The remuneration of executive directors of the Company and other ARRMITESREMETEZETEABRA
members of key management personnel during the year was as FEMFHHMAOT
follows:
Compensation of key management personnel FEEEABFHM

2023
2023F

S$°000
T 57 N3 T T3 T

2022
20224
S$'000

Salaries, performance bonus and other benefits % & + RIREAL & E 42 F 913 1,610
Contributions to retirement benefits scheme ERTR A ET B K 8 12
Share-based payment PARRAD 2 1~ 3008 = 225

921 1,847
The Group has the following balances with related party: AEBEAE T @S &6

2023
20234

Name of related party Relationship  Nature of business S$’000
S R RES EBME F 3 03K 7T TFE# AN T

ERAHEAEEEEBR AT Arelated party Amount due to a related party

2022
20224
S$'000

(Note a) 1,425 2,493
BRAHRNBREZERA R B JFEA B E 5 OB (MisEa)
Note: B 5
a.  The amount due to a related party is unsecured, interest-free and a. BENEBAIREREEMR 2ERAE

repayable on 9 March 2025. The related party is under the common
control of a director of the Company. KRBl —REELRIE

20234F JEHi i o PRI A PR A T
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34 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 34 ARPTBEFEMMEBLATFHE
OF THE COMPANY

Attributable equity
Place of incorporation/ interests of the Group and Issued and fully paid
operation and date of  the respective voting right held share capital as at date
Name of Company incorporation by the Group as at of this report Principal activities

B EEBHER FEERGRERARE  RABSAMNEROR

AREER AL 3L B 5 FHBRERE HBERRE TEEK
31 December 31 December
2023 2022
2023 2022
12 A31H 12 A31H

Directly held
EERE
Unified Front Limited BVI/Singapore 100% 100%  Ordinary shares of US$1,542,506 Investment holding.
8 December 2016 (equivalent to approximately
$$2,164,000)
Unified Front Limited RERLES /MM 1,542,506% 7t (18 R4 REER-
2016612 A8H 2,164,000%T I1% 7T ) 4 @R
RMH (Hong Kong) Hong Kong/Hong Kong 100% 100%  Ordinary shares of HK$10,000,000 Provision of medical aesthetic
Holdings Limited 2 October 2018 (equivalent to approximately services and sale of skin
$$1,752,000) care products and was
remained dormant during
the year.
EH (BB BRERRT  BE/BE 10,000,000 7T (1€ 74 REBBERRBREE
2018%F10A2A 1,762,000%7 M3 T ) 8 38R EEERANFALE
RRES-
Desimei Medical (Hangzhou) ~ Hangzhou/China 100% 100% - Inactive
Co., Ltd (Note a) 9 December 2021
EHEZBEMM)ABRRE MM,/ PE W EES
GEY 2021%12A9A
Indiirectly held
BEEFE
Dermatology & Surgery Singapore/Singapore 100% 100%  Ordinary shares of S$900 Provision of all-round
Clinic Pte Ltd 5 September 2013 dermatology treatment
solutions, specialised in
skin cancer, skin diseases
and aesthetic procedures.
Dermatology & Surgery N/ Q00T N3 LAY LB MR RE2HUEERNAERA
Clinic Pte Ltd 2013F9A58 FE EIRKER
SR R ERF -
Dermatology & Surgery Singapore/Singapore 100% 100%  Ordinary shares of S$300 Provision of all-round
Clinic (Orchard) Pte Ltd 20 January 2014 dermatology treatment
solutions, specialised in
skin cancer, skin diseases
and aesthetic procedures.
Dermatology & Surgery N/ A 30057 IS T ) @R RERHUEERNAERA
Clinic (Orchard) Pte Ltd 2014%1A20R FE EIRKER
BB R R ERF -
_i.;{»:s 182 RMH HOLDINGS LIMITED ¢ Annual Report 2023
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 # 2202312431 H 1 F/E

OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

Name of Company

DREE

Indiirectly held
(Continued)

BEEE (8)

Dermatology & Surgery
Clinic (Shenton) Pte Ltd

Dermatology & Surgery
Clinic (Shenton) Pte Ltd

RMH Family Clinic
Pte Ltd

RMH Family Clinic
Pte Ltd

DS Skin & Aesthetics
Clinic Pte Ltd

DS Skin & Aesthetics
Clinic Pte Ltd

RMH Imaging Limited

RMH Imaging Limited

Place of incorporation/
operation and date of
incorporati

SRR EE AR

AL 5

Singapore/Singapore
6 February 2014

S/ s
201442 fi6H

Singapore/Singapore
6 March 2018

OO0/ F0%
2018F3A6H

Singapore/Singapore
16 July 2020

HE/H MR
2020%7 A16F

Hong Kong/Hong Kong
5 August 2020

BR/ BB
2020787358

Attributable equity
interests of the Group and
the respective voting right held
by the Group as at
AEEEEREREEE
FisHRREE
31 December

2023

20234
12 A318

100%

100%

100%

100%

34 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

31 December

2022

20224
12 A31A

100%

100%

100%

100%

A

34 ALXTAEEWE QA (&

Issued and fully paid
share capital as at date
of this report
REREAHNERTR
HMERA

Ordinary shares of S$300

300%T MK T Y B MR

Ordinary shares of S$300

300% NS TT Y & B

Ordinary shares of S$300

300%T MK TR Bk

Ordinary shares of HK$1,000

(equivalent to approximately S$180)

Principal activities

TEEH

Provision of all-round
dermatology treatment
solutions, specialised in
skin cancer, skin diseases
and aesthetic procedures.

REZFAURERDAERR
R EIRREE:
KERREDSFie

Provision of community
dermatology services
for less complicated
dermatological conditions
and non-invasive medical
aesthetic treatments.

RBEE K BRI
HERERERERIES

Specialised Medical Services
(Including Day Surgical
Centers).

ERBERY (2EERA
FlifL) -

Provision of diagnostic &
screening service offered
through imaging machines,
including but not limited to
Computed Tomography
Scanner (CT), Magnetic
Resonance Imaging (MRI),
Ultrasounds (US) and
Mammography (MG)

1,00087C (RERBOMMETTI B BBPERRADHLEH

Epils

R% - BEEREAER
HIEHH(CT) BN IR
(MR)) BB (U)X 3=
#EF(MG)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 # 2202312431 H 1 F/&

34 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

Attributable equity
interests of the Group and
the respective voting right held

Place of incorporation/
operation and date of

Name of Company incorporation by the Group as at
EMEY EERER AEEEEREREAER
ARER AL L A 5 FsHRREE
31 December 31 December
2023 2022
2023 20224
12 A31H 12 318
Indirectly held
(Continued)
BERE (&)
DS Regenerative Hong Kong/Hong Kong 100% 100%
Medicine Limited 8 June 2020
BHEEBREERRT BE/EBE
202056 A8H
DES (Shenzhen) Enterprise Shenzhen/China 100% 100%
Development Co., Ltd 22 QOctober 2020
(Note a)
B ORI b EER Y|/ E
BRAT (Mita) 2020610822R
Zhongshan Des Enterprise Zhongshan/China 70% 70%
Management Co., Ltd 3 December 2021
(Note b)
RILTERCEER R/ RE
BRAF (M) 2021 12A3A
ENRYERRAR Hong Kong/Hong Kong 70% 70%
30 December 2021
EHRLEERAR BB/ ER
2021412 H308
Zhongshan Des Oral Zhongshan/China 70% 70%
Clinic Ltd. 20 May 2022
LB ORI 2 Fi/ R E
AR 202265820A
r 184 RMH HOLDINGS LIMITED ¢ Annual Report 2023
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34 ALQTREEWERAFE (&

Issued and fully paid
share capital as at date
of this report
REREABHNERTR
HMERA

Ordinary shares of HK$1,000
(equivalent to approximately S$175)

1,000 7 (F8ERH1755 % T)
ML ER

Ordinary shares of HK$10
(equivalent to approximately $$2)

1078 7T (I R #9237 T )
HOE B AR

Principal activities

TEEH

Trading of health supplement
and skin care products

RERT SN EERER
25

Trading of health supplement
and skin care products

RERRERERE S

Inactive

WEEE

Inactive

TEED

Dental Clinic

AErM2
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34 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
OF THE COMPANY (Continued)
Unified Front Limited, RMH (Hong Kong) Holdings Limited and
Desimei Medical (Hangzhou) Co., Ltd are directly held by the
Company. All other subsidiaries are indirectly held by the Company.
All entities comprising the Group are limited liability companies and
have adopted 31 December as their financial year end date.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the end
of the year.

The non-controlling interests of the Group is not material to the
Group.

Notes:

() The company was incorporated as limited liability company (Hong
Kong and Macau legal person sole proprietorship) in the PRC.

(b) The company was incorporated as limited liability company (wholly
owned foreign enterprise) in the PRC.

34

RAREEMBRAFE (8

Unified Front Limited 857 (&8 ) =M A
AR REHEEZ (MM BRABMH
ARAREEFB -EEMMNEB AR AR
AREERE - AEEETHAERAEE

BEEATROCHEMI2AIE BAHBRE
#8-

U
=
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™
el
&
=)
54
1
H
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1
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EZQETECEP AR AEREER
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35 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 35 ZA BB BAR R R # A AR &
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY
Information about the statement of financial position of the BEARTRRERRTBERIEROER
Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows: R
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
S$’000 S$'000
F 303K T TFET AN T
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
Non-current assets REBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RETBRENRE 3,353 3,353
Plant and equipment 7 & 2% 1 1
3,354 3,354
Current assets REBEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries JiE U BT B8 A R FOB 3,869 6,895
Other receivables H fth e U 3R B - 42
Financial assets at FVTPL BRAFEFABEHNESREE - 1,607
Bank balances and cash RITHEBNIE S 23 350
3,892 8,894
Current liabilities REEE
Other payables and accruals E b e & BT HUR 2,102 5,712
Borrowings BN - 182
Financial guarantee liabilities BB EREE 4,076 4,076
6,178 9,970
Net current liabilities RBEEFERE (2,286) (1,076)
Net assets BEE 1,068 2,278
EQUITY e
Capital and reserves ERR#HE
Share capital il 2,303 2,273
Reserves 1 (1,235) 5
Equity attributable to owners EATEE AEGRER
of the Company 1,068 2,278

186
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35

36

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

The movement of the Company’s capital and reserves is as follows:

35

FON

R0 BB B AR It 4 R R
(%)
ARTARRAEEEBOT -

Foreign
Share currency
Share Share option Other  translation Accumulated
capital [E] reserve reserve reserve losses Total
BRE HERE
BE  RHEE fifs  Hfthf fife @t
S$ 000 S$'000 S$'000 S$'000 S$'000 S$'000
FHmgr FHmgr FHAMET TSR FHMET
At 1 January 2022 #20225181A 1,493 17,011 - 3,353 - (19,384) 2,473
Loss and total comprehensive expense FRERRZERTLE
for the year - - - - - (7,971) (7.971)
Issuing of shares by placing BRRERTRM 747 6,722 - - - - 7,469
Transaction costs attributable to issue BRRERTROL
of shares by placing EERABMA - ) - - - - @17
Share-based payment recognised Eﬁ@ AR TR - - 225 - - - 25
Exercise of share options e iE 33 393 (67) - - - 359
Cancellation of share options HiEmRE - - 46) - - 46 -
Effect of change of functional currency NEEREEYE - - - - 15 (15) -
At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 420225123310 &
202351A1A 2,213 23,849 112 3,353 15 (27,324) 2,278
Loss for the year FRER - - - - - (1541) (1,541)
Other comprehensive expense for the year ~ FREMZER X - - - - () - ()
Total comprehensive expense for the year FREEFZLE - - - - () (1,541) (1546)
Exercise of share options TRERE 30 372 (66) - - - 336
At 31 December 2023 R2023E12831H 2,303 24,221 46 3,353 10 (28,865) 1,068
CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 36 EXEKRER
The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group AEEERHERUBRAEEEEEH
will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the B ?E wE - FARNERE(CERRERSER
return to owners of the Company through the optimisation of the Al BEIE KN B A A B [B13R - 722023
debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains $&2022$ AREBERBEREERTE
unchanged in 2023 and 2022.
The capital structure of the Group represents borrowings, amount AEENEAGEERENR BN — 2@
due to a related party and equity attributable to owners of the FRERANAREEAELER BIER
Company, comprising issued share capital and reserves. BITRA K-

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on a
regular basis. As part of this review, the directors of the Company
consider the cost of capital and the risks associated with each
class of capital. Based on recommendations of the directors of
the Company, the Group will balance its overall capital structure
through issue of shares, payment of dividends and return of capital
to shareholders.

ARBEEFEHRRITELARB - ERAE

BN D ARFEEDEREARKAE

A Ko B % 48 8 AR BE O Bl gz AR IR AR X )

EFEmEF AKEREBEITRND K

MEERARREEERNETAFHEE
BEAZE-
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37

188

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Categories of financial instruments

37 €®T A

tMIEDE

2023 2022
20234 20224
S$°000 S$’000
T 57 hn3% 7T T3 hns T
Financial assets EREE
Financial assets at amortised cost BEERAARENSREE 1,490 5,468
Financial assets at fair value FVTPL EAVFEFABENESREE - 1,607
Financial liabilities cEAasE
Financial liabilities at amortised cost RESER A AN SREE 10,890 11,037
Financial guarantee liabilities HBEREE 4,076 4,076
Lease liabilities HEB®RE 258 2,678
Financial risk management objectives and TREAREEEERBE

policies

Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in respective
notes. The risks associated with these financial instruments include
market risk (interest rate risk, other price risk and currency risk),
credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these
risks are set out below. The management of the Group manages
and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Market risk
Interest rate risk

The Group does not have any exposure to cash flow interest
rate risk. As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the management
considers the Group’s exposure to cash-flow interest rate risk
arising from variable rate borrowings as minimal.

The Group currently does not have any interest rate hedging policy.
However, management of the Group closely monitors its exposure
to interest rate risk as a result of change on market interest rate
and will consider hedging changes in market interest rates should
the need arise.

RMH HOLDINGS LIMITED ¢ Annual Report 2023
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37 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 37 TRIT A @)
Financial risk management objectives and SREAREEEZERBUER (&)
policies (Continued)
Market risk (Continued) TiEE (&)
Other price risk HE it EEELE

The Group is exposed to equity price risk through its investments
in listed equity securities for the year ended 31 December 2022.
The management manages the exposure to equity price risk
of investments in listed equity securities by closely monitoring
fluctuation of these investments.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on
the exposure to equity price risks relating to equity instruments
investments included as financial assets at FVTPL at the reporting
date.

If the price of the respective equity instruments had been 5%
higher/lower, the Group’s loss for the year ended 31 December
2022 would decrease/increase by S$80,000 as a result of the
changes.

Currency risk

The Group undertakes certain transactions denominated in foreign
currencies, which expose the Group to foreign currency risk. The
Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy,
but the management will consider hedging significant foreign
currency exposure as necessary. The Group manages the foreign
currency risk by closely monitoring the movement of the foreign
currency exchange rates.

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, except for the followings,
the Group does not have significant financial assets or financial
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies other than the functional
currencies of the respective group companies. The carrying
amounts of the Group’s foreign currency denominated monetary
assets at the end of each reporting period are as follows.

B E20220F 12 AG1B L F & AE B KT
MBRERKBKEINE FTTRAE S B8
EERTUERZERENED B
B EMRAES A RERR -

BRED
THOBREDRIBR S B BT A 8
AR BERAFEAABREZEHEEN
R T BEIR B AR Z I E R M

MEE °

i & e TAMER LA T 5% ZKEE
BE#H E2022F 12 AR I FE Vv EES
BRIE BN HN180,000% A3 7T ©

BXERE

AEERITETUINESFENRHSARE
E#AXEBRR- - ANEB B AL NG &

SRR A E B B A % B E E

EK&I\%H%’$E§%@@%%E§%¥M\M
PE R B E) B IRINE B o

20234 202212 A31H - R N &R T
N AEERENSEB QBRI E
EEAIINEFRETECEREREEN
ERAEBE- REWESHR NEEIAINE
HEMEREEZREENT -
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37 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 37 e®IA @
Financial risk management objectives and SREREEEZERBER (#)
policies (Continued)
Market risk (Continued) AR (&)
Currency risk (Continued) Exmps (&)

Liabilities
&fE
2023 2022

2023%F 20224
S$’000 S$°000
F F7 hn3g T T E N3 T

S$ T (3,915) (8,839)

The Group is mainly exposed to the foreign currency risk of S$ A5 B E A TN T (20224 « #0
(2022: S$) against the functional currencies of each group entity. W) RBESEERENINEE ZINE

[ B o

The following table indicates the approximate change in the TR ERPAEEREF NG T (20224F : 51
Group’s loss for the year in response to 5% (2022: 5%) increase or MET) R EEEREE 2T B M
decrease in S$ (2022: S$) against the functional currencies of each R 5% (20224 1 5% ) (A HRE HE R
group entity to which the Group has significant exposure at the AEEBEKEXNRR) MBHEANEED
end of reporting period. A sensitivity rate of 5% (2022: 5%) on S$ IR BB 49 & o BLET I3 JT (20224F < F 0
(2022: S9$) represents management’s assessment of the reasonably WIT)M S * 5% (20224F : 5% ) #) BB K
possible change in S$ (2022: S$) exchange rate. BB I E E T N T (20224F < ¥ AN oT)

Bk 2 & R A B R A RR
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 # 2202312431 H 1 F/E

37 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

Currency risk (Continued)

Increase in foreign exchange rate HNEE BB 2R3 0
Decrease in foreign exchange rate HNEE B R )

37

€I A (#)
tREMREREEZERBER (&)

mEEE (&)
BEHEkE ()

2023 2022

20234 20224

Increase/ Increase/

(decrease) (decrease)

in loss in loss

BEREMm, BEREm,

O 2) (R 4>)

S$°000 S$’000

T Fr b0 T TN T

196 442

(196) (442)

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative
of the inherent foreign exchange risk as the year end exposure at
the end of the reporting period does not reflect the exposure during
the year.

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its
contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the Group. At
the end of reporting period, the Group’s maximum exposure to
credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group due to
failure to discharge an obligation by the counterparties arises from
the carrying amount of the respective recognised financial assets
as stated in the consolidated statement of financial position.

In order to minimise credit risk, the Group has delegated its finance
team to develop and maintain the Group’s credit risk grading to
categorise exposures according to their degree of risk of default.
The finance team uses publicly available financial information and
the Group’s own historical repayment records to rate its major
customers and debtors. The Group’s exposure and the credit
ratings of its counterparties are continuously monitored and the
aggregate value of transactions concluded is spread amongst
approved counterparties.

ERERR BRBSHRNFEREARE
ERRENRRE ZERESTEERR
&8 SN E RS

FERRE
EERRESFHEREBITEENEE
MERAREEBRZ Y E RN R W
SR AEERYF HRERTEEN
RERMMBEEEMAENEREERR
RERTBEENRA MBIREFTHER
B BRTEI (B ©

AREEEREBREREK AEEBEKE
FHEKHIE MELALEENEES &
LARR IR HERZ QR iR E E R RETH
o B E R A AT AR EG B B 5 E R
FAEEEFNATERGCHHEFER
PREBANEITR AEEE T EHER
HEHRBREREFANEESR M2
TERRGNBEBENZBEZENEFH
2@
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37

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 37 £BT R (&)
Financial risk management objectives and SREREEEZEREBER (#)
policies (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued) EERK (&)
The Group’s current credit risk grading framework comprises the AEEREKRNEERRTRERBEUT
following categories: SE:
Category Description Basis for recognising ECL
Yl Bt BREHCEBFENEE
Performing The counterparty has a low risk of default and does not 12-month ECL
have any past-due amounts.
B4 HFEIWENRRE BVEAHRESE- T_EAEREEEE
Doubtful Amount is >30 days past due or there has been a significant Lifetime ECL — not credit impaired
increase in credit risk since initial recognition.
] &R SHEEBHS30R HEERBEFTARRBURERE LA SaBHREREEEE-
EELEREE
In default Amount is >90 days past due or there is evidence Lifetime ECL — credit impaired
indicating the asset is credit-impaired.
EH SEOBHS0H HEFEBEBRREECEREERE: B EREEERE -
EEERE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in severe Amount is written off

financial difficulty and the Group has no realistic
prospect of recovery.

3 BRBEBRTEBARRBREVMBAE BEAEEER kAt 6
A A U KA -

RMH HOLDINGS LIMITED ¢ Annual Report 2023



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statement_s

fa 0 0 s e e B

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # 2202312431 H 1 F/E

37 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 37 €I A #)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)

tREAREEBERBEK (#)

Credit risk (Continued) EERE (&)
The table below details the credit quality of the Group’s financial TERFNAEFESHREENEELEZUR
assets as well as maximum exposure to credit risk by credit risk BEERBRIFB s NESEERE:

rating grades:

Internal credit Gross carrying Loss  Net carrying
rating 12-month or lifetime ECL amount allowance amount
ABEEFE t-EAR4LHBEHRASEERR HBEEE EERE HREFE
$'000 $'000 $'000
FEIE T TR TR
2023
20235
Trade receivables 20 0 Lifetime ECL (simplified approach) 387 (67) 320
B SRR AnBERREREEEE (HERE)
Trade receivables 20 0 Lifetime ECL (in default) 1,951 (1,951) -
B SRR EnBEHEREEES (EH)
Other receivables 20 @ 12-month ECL 338 (20) 318
Hth IR TZEAEREERE
Other receivables 20 @ 12-month ECL (in default) 712 (712) -
Hth YR TZEAEREEEE (EH)
Amount due from a joint venture 20 @ Lifetime ECL (in default) 1,730 (1,730) -
—HaERRERNE ERBEHERERES (EH)
Deposits 20 12-month ECL 576 - 576
Re TZEAEHREERE
Deposts 20 12-month ECL (in default) 1,996 (1,996) -
"e TZEAEREEER (EH)
Bank balances 21 12-month ECL 276 - 276
RITHEH TZEAEHREERE
2022
2022
Trade receivables 20 0 Lifetime ECL (simplified approach) 1,539 (70) 1,469
BHENHRE EnBEHEREEER (HERE)
Trade receivables 20 0 Lifetime ECL (in default) 1,584 (1,584) -
BHRNHRE ERBRRREERE (EH)
Other receivables 20 @ 12-month ECL 599 (19) 580
HivEIGRE TZEAEHEEEE
Other receivables 20 @ 12-month ECL (in default) 743 (743) -
HivEIUGRE TZEAESEEER (EH)
Amount due from a joint venture 20 @ Lifetime ECL (in default) 1,757 (1,757) -
—BAZARERTE EnBEHEREEER (EH)
Deposits 20 @ 12-month ECL 3,003 - 3,003
Be ToEAEHEEFE
Bank balances 21 12-month ECL 416 - 416
RITHEHR ToEABHEEFE
U The Group determines the expected credit losses on trade M REBFREHBERETE 5 EHR
receivables by using a provision matrix, estimated based on historical EHHTEHEEEIE  HREEWEIE
credit loss experience based on the past due status of the debtors, o3 HA R LA A (5 BB 1B A B 1T
adjusted as appropriate to reflect current conditions and estimates of hEt WEH B E AR RBRIFEHN
future economic conditions. 1B R AGET B AR A AR
@ The Group determines that these receivables are not past due and @ AEERAE BREFTEEERKE
have low risk of default, apart from those receivables which credit risk IRHESR LA R B K8 - & MR IE S
is assessed to have increased significantly since initial recognition. NEERFZE EWFRIE R I K 8 Hf
BEAORBTRK-
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37

194

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

The Group has adopted procedures in extending credit terms to
customers and in monitoring its credit risk. The Group only grants
credit to creditworthy counterparties. Cash is held with creditworthy
institutions.

Top 3 corporate customers of the Group accounts for
approximately 72% of the trade receivables for the year ended
31 December 2023 (2022: 58%). Management assesses and
monitors credit risk and debt collection efforts on a regular basis.
Allowance for potential credit losses is adjusted when necessary.

Liquidity risk

The Group’s approach in managing liquidity is to ensure, as far
as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its
liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions,
without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the
Group’s reputation. The Group monitors its liquidity risk and
maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate
by management of the Group to finance the Group’s operations
and to mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. Typically,
the Group ensures that it has sufficient cash on hand to meet
expected operational expenses; this excludes the potential impact
of extreme circumstances that cannot reasonably be predicted,
such as natural disaster.

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities based on the
contractual repayment dates. The table has been drawn up based
on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the
earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay.

The table includes both interest and principal cash flows. To the
extent that interest flows are floating rate, the undiscounted amount
is derived from interest rate at the end of each reporting period.

RMH HOLDINGS LIMITED ¢ Annual Report 2023
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£ TR (#
tREREEEEREEK (&)

FERE (8)

AEECEMEFEREFPEREARESR
FERR AEEEREERINIZYH
FREEE -REFHNERRIFHHEE -

AEEN=KABIEFEHE2023F 124
1A IEFERE 5 EWFIELT72% (2022
F:58%) BB T T EMREREER
S REKEER T BEEZEBEREER

BEB{EH AR

REE SRR

AEEEERBESNNEZZRN —REE
MBERTHEREREBRARDESEN
AHEE MASEEBERENBLRRE
BEAKEREB - AEEERARPES
R WBAEEEEERRE AEN
AEELENRERSRENDFENSR
ERREEBWKF-—RME A%KH
HMREFERSRABNEREEF
HERBRERLFEEES BN ERER
ZEBETE-

TRALAEEFRITESHBBERANE
KEHOHBTEOIHER - ZRIDBE
AEEAXNNZEREZ ANEREERE
IR ME M HIE

ARBENERALRETRE-WAER
BATHAE BIRKEEERERED
REOFIE G H -
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A

37 €I A (&)

37 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

tREREEEEREE (&)

Liquidity tables REBESR
Carrying
Weighted amount at
average Total the end of
effective Within 2to5 undiscounted the reporting
interest rate 1 year years cash flows date
¥ ABEBRBEE REE5EH
BRAE 15 R 2Z55F REAE SRNEEE
S$'000 S$'000 S$'000 S$'000 S$'000
FHKT  FEMET  TENET FEmMET  FEMET
At 31 December 2023 K2023%12A31H
Non-derivative financial FTESRER
liabilities
Trade and other payables ZHREAMBENTIE  NATHER 9,465 - 9,465 9,465
Lease liabilities (Note 27) HEEE (M) 2.66-3.00 265 - 265 258
Amount due to a related party ~ JE{ — &R 5 A
(Note 33) (PH3E33) N/AT i - 1,425 1,425 1,425
Financial guarantee liabilities HBERARE
(Note 26) (ffzt2e) 3.00-4.50 4,076 - - 4,076
Total @t 13,806 1,425 11,155 15,224
At 31 December 2022 R2022512A31H
Non-derivative financial FTESRER
liabilities
Trade and other payables E5REMENFTIE  NATER 8,362 - 8,362 8,362
Lease liabilities (Note 27) HEaE (M) 2.66-3.00 1,670 1,076 2,746 2,678
Borrowings (Note 28) EESGEZO) 12.38-19.00 182 - - 182
Amount due to a related party  JEf — & BB 5 FUB
(Note 33) (F#5E33) N/AT i - 2,493 2,493 2,493
Financial guarantee liabilities UBERERE
(Note 26) (HzE26) 3.00-4.50 4,076 - - 4,076
Total it 14,290 3,569 13,601 17,791
Fair value ~¥E{E

AEBEEEBARR REBHRAIENE
BEERERBBEZRAERE X TEN

approximate their fair values. &

Management of the Group considers that the carrying amounts of
financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost
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38 NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS
OF CASH FLOWS

196

(a)

(b)

Major non-cash transactions

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the major non-
cash transactions are related to new leases for the use of
rented properties by the Group. Details are set out in Note
18.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, in regard of early
termination of lease arrangement, amounting of S$883,000
arisen from respective lease liability have been waived and
netting off with respective right-of-use assets of $825,000
with net gain of S$58,000 recognised in profit or loss.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, amounting of
S$$1,916,000 of which S$1,433,000 representing lease
liabilities over the remaining lease terms upon termination of
the lease arrangement and S$483,000 representing overdue
lease payments of the respective lease arrangement have
transferred from lease liabilities to other payables.

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from
financing activities

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities
arising from financing activities, including both cash and non-
cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are
those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will
be, classified in the consolidated statement of cash flows as
cash flows from financing activities.

RMH HOLDINGS LIMITED ¢ Annual Report 2023
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RERTRERMTE

(a)

(b)

FEFRAERS
HE2022F12A31IBLFE £ 2
RERXFGEAEEAREARE
RN RFAEERE - FBHNM T
18 °

H ZE2023F12A31H It FE 512
FRIEAEREmME  AEBEAE
/EE 4E883,0005T i T B R % (40
4 48 FE {F 3 & & E825,000% I
JL) 1 UK %5 7% 5858,000%T o B2

HZE2022F12A31BItEE
1,916,000%7 h0 3 7T (H #11,433,000
Mg T ARE R R IERFISE
HIA R T E & & - 483,000%7 1N T
ARAEEZHNGBEENROBE
mAEaEEALMENKIE

BMERHELENRENYHE

TRFINAKEERELTDMES
MBENES SRASRIFRSE
HoMETHELINRBERERER
EFARKRRERELEXBENE
EREMEXRTOARMETYR
EREMARE-
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38 NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS 38
OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from

FEREREBRMEE (8

b) REEFDHELENEB/NHEIR

financing activities (Continued) (%)
Amount
Lease due toa
Borrowings liabilities related party Total
EBf—%
EE HEEE BB ARE @t
S$'000 S$'000 S$'000 S$'000
FE MK T T T T M T FE MK T
Balance at 1 January 2023 R2023F1 A1 &8 182 2,678 2,493 5,353
Changes from financing cash flows: RERLRELE:
- Interest paid —ERME @ - - @
~ Repayment to a related party —BART-RBHS - - (1,068) (1,068)
— Repayment of borrowings —ERER (180) - = (180)
— Repayment of lease liabilities —-EBHRERE - (1,550) - (1,550)
Total changes from financing cash fows ~ BIER & REREEE (182) (1,550) (1,068) (2,800)
Non-cash changes: IR EH:
- Interest expense (Note 10) —FEFRX (f5E10) 2 53 - 55
- Release upon early termination of —REEILEERED
lease (Note 18) (Kizx18) - (883) = (883)
- Exchange alignments —ERHE @ (40) = (42
- (870) - 870)
Balance at 31 December 2023 R2023F 12 A31 B &4 - 258 1,425 1,683

20234F JEHi i o PRI A PR A T
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 # 2202312431 H 1 F/&

38 NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS 38
OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

MEBRESREXRMEE @)

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from
financing activities (Continued)

(%)

(b) BMEFBHELENEENYEE

Amount
Lease duetoa
Borrowings liabilities related party Total
ER—%
&5 HERRE () bR @t
S$'000 S$'000 S$'000 S$'000
FE M T T T T Mg T FE M T
Balance at 1 January 2022 202251 A1 A% 4,992 6,067 - 11,059
Changes from financing cash flows: RERLRELE:
- Interest paid —ERFE (44) (40) - (84)
- Advance from a related party ——ZEB AR - - 2,493 2,493
— Drawndown from borrowings —RIER 56 - - 56
- Repayment of lease liabilities —-EBMERE - (2,845) - (2,845)
- Repayment of borrowings —ERER (536) - - (536)
Total changes from financing cash flows ~ EY&H & RELE AR (524) (2,885) 2,493 (916)
Non-cash changes: IR EH:
- New lease liabilities —HERERE - 3,781 - 3,781
- Interest expense (Note 10) —-MERx (fiz10) 44 174 - 218
- Disposal of subsidiaries through —BERERIEEER
discontinued operation (Note 32) HEHB AR
(P32) (4,456) (2,525) - (6,981)
- Purchase of financial assets at FVTPL ~ —BERAFEA
BafeREE 126 - - 126
~ Reversal of provision of renovation —REEILAER#E
upon early termination BEMERE
of lease agreement - (93) - (93)
- Transfer to other payables —EAH M EAFE - (1,916) - (1,916)
~ Exchange alignments —ERAE - 75 - 75
(4,286) (504) - (4,790)
Balance at 31 December 2022 R2022F 12 A31 B &5k 182 2,678 2,493 5,353
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39

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On 21 March 2024, the Company issued a business update
announcement that RMH Hong Kong and Ms. Tse Yi Kit Gigi,
being the existing shareholders of Queen’s Road Medical Company
Limited (“QR Medical”) and QR Medical entered into a shareholders’
agreement (the “Shareholders’ Agreement”). Following the change
in management of the Company in February and March 2024, by
leveraging the Company’s in depth knowledge and experience in
management and operation of the healthcare service business in
Singapore, the Board has resolved to adopt a new business plan
and strategies to continue and revitalise the healthcare service
business segment of the Group and to focus on the development
of the healthcare service business segment of the Group as one of
its principal businesses, along with the Dental Business and Trading
Business of the Group. The entering into of the Shareholders’
Agreement is the first step to implement the new business plan and
strategies of the Group to continue and revitalise the healthcare
service business segment of the Group. Upon the entering into
of the Shareholder’s Agreement and the appointment of Mr. Poon
Chun Yin and Mr. Loke Wai Ming as directors of QR Medical, the
Group will have control over the board of directors of QR Medical
and QR Medical will be accounted for as a subsidiary of the Group
and the financial results, assets and liabilities of QR Medical will
be consolidated into the financial statements of the Group. Going
forward, the Group will focus on the promotion and development of
the healthcare service business in Hong Kong through QR Medical.

39

#®iESEE

R2024F3H218 AR R EM B BEH
EARECEEGRAT([2CEBE])
BIR AR R Tse Vi Kit Gigix+ & 21 B&E
R EHH ((REBENEBEF
NE AN FE R EN2024F28 3R
BEEEE  OREANDBRI N EER
BERGSEFEBEREEFENFRENZM
KE BEEYRTRBINWESE RE
B+ DAE B T I B 7K £ [ Y B AR R AR 7S
EBoE WA BEEREREESH P
AEBEBNTREBREZER —REAR
SENEEEB 2 — S URRBHZEAN
EEEmNEBTERREONE - U
EERIRAREBNBEREREERL D
FoRET LR IBEREEEEELER
EEPALAEAECERE SR AEEE
BERCEREFZNTHE M2
BEREAAEENHBARAR MELC
BEENVBEE EERBERBEAEFTA
AEENTBERERN - AR AEEBSE
RRECEBENEAHEREREBER
FERRTS S -
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Financial Summary

A 5 1BE 22

For the year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLLEE

2020 2021 2022 2023

20204 20214 20224 20234

S$'000 S$’000 S$°000 S$’000

TR AN T F 3N T T3 T F 03 T

(from

continuing

operations)

(REHE

RESULTS E45

Revenue Iz 7,809 10,289 4,241 3,180
Loss before taxation BRI RIEE 9,197 8,871) (13,127) (6,853)
Income tax (credit)/expense s (%), Mx (75) 86 - =
Loss for the year FEEE (9,272) (8,785) (13,127) (6,853)

2020

20204
S$'000

As at 31 December
M12831H
2021 2022 2023
20214 20224 20234
S$'000 S$'000 S$°000

THTNSTT

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEEREE

THNBOT  TEHNBOT  FTEHMOET

Total assets BEE 20,490 18,907 12,396 4,148
Total liabilities BweE 14,959 14,340 18,692 16,667
Total equity (deficit) wiEz (B 5,531 4,567 (6,296) (12,519)
200 RMH HOLDINGS LIMITED ¢ Annual Report 2023
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